
High Peak Borough Council

THE EXECUTIVE AGENDA

Date: Thursday, 8 October 2020

Time: 6.00 pm

Venue: Virtual Meeting

You can view the 
agenda online by using 
a smart phone camera 
and scanning the code 
below:

30 September 2020

PART 1
1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
ii) Other Interests

3. To approve the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6)

4. First Quarter Performance, Procurement and Financial Review 2020/21 (Pages 7 - 
56)

5. Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2023/24 - Update (Pages 57 - 84)

6. Revised Performance Framework 2020/21 due to the impact of COVID-19 (Pages 
85 - 94)

7. Air Quality Management Update on the AQAP Woodhead Road (A628) Tintwistle 
(Pages 95 - 146)

8. Buxton Neighbourhood Plan (Pages 147 - 164)

9. Recent changes to the Planning System and  the Planning White Paper 2020 
(Pages 165 - 188)

10. HIF programme Fairfield Roundabout: Project and Costs Review (Pages 189 - 208)

PART 2
11. To resolve that the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 

items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

12. To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 209 - 210)

Public Document Pack



(Paragraph 3, 5 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could 
be maintained in legal proceedings. )

13. HIF Programme Fairfield Roundabout: Project and Costs Review - Appendix 2 
(Pages 211 - 212)
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) )

14. Disposal of Land at Hogshaw, Buxton (Pages 213 - 278)
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) )

MARK TRILLO
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER

Membership of The Executive
Councillor A McKeown (Chair) Councillor D Greenhalgh (Vice-Chair)
Councillor A Barrow Councillor F Sloman
Councillor J Todd



THE EXECUTIVE

Meeting: Thursday, 6 August 2020 at 6.00 pm in Virtual Meeting

Present: Councillor A McKeown (Chair) 

Councillors A Barrow, D Greenhalgh and J Todd

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors F Sloman

In Attendance Councillors T Ashton, J Collins and E Thrane

20/64 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
(Agenda Item 2)

There were no declarations of interest.

20/65 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 3)

RESOLVED: 

That the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 18 June 2019 be 
approved as a correct record.

20/66 FOURTH QUARTER FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW
(Agenda Item 4)

The purpose of the report was to inform members of the Council’s overall 
performance and financial position for the period ended 31st March (“Fourth 
Quarter 2019/20”).  The effect of the Covid-19 pandemic and collection rates 
were discussed.  The report was considered by the Corporate Select 
Committee on 13 July.  The position was summarised as follows:

Subject Headline
Finance The Finance headlines for the Fourth Quarter were:

Performance against Budget
 At the Quarter Four stage the General Fund provisional outturn for 

2019/20 was an underspend of £295,441.
Efficiency Programme

 The 2019/20 revised efficiency target of £714,000 (General Fund) 
had been exceeded with £867,000 of savings achieved to date.  

Housing Revenue Account
 The Housing Revenue Account was in surplus (against budget) by 

£2,114,450 at the Quarter Four (provisional outturn) stage.
Capital Programme

 The General Fund Capital Programme budget for 2019/20 as revised 
was £5.33 million.  The outturn was £4.7 million, representing an 
underspend of £0.62 million at year end.

 The HRA Programme for 2019/20 as revised was £2.7 million.  The 
outturn was £2.55 million which represents a £0.15 million 

High Peak Borough Council

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



The Executive
Thursday, 6 August 2020

underspend.
Treasury Management

 Cash investments held at 31st March 2020 totalled £20.5 million.
 Council borrowing at 31st March 2020 totalled £66.8 million.
 The Council’s net interest general fund budget was in surplus by 

£112,079 with a £25,112 surplus on the HRA
Revenue Collection

 98.41% of Council Tax was collected by 31st March 2020, compared 
to 98.43% for the same period last year.

 98.39% of Business Rates was collected by 31st March 2020 
compared with 99.09% for the same period last year.

 At the end of Quarter Four the value of sundry debt over 60 days old 
was £162,981 which compares to £184,465 at 31st March 2020

Procurement The Procurement headlines for the Fourth Quarter were:
 21 procurement activities were completed 
 The Procurement forward plan includes 67 procurement activities for 

completion/start in 2020/21 (either HPBC only or joint)
 At the 31st March 2020, 67% of procurement activity undertaken was 

on the forward plan and the Council paid 97% of its invoices within 
30 days

Performance The Performance headlines for the Fourth Quarter were:
 64% of the key performance indicators met target, with 49% better 

than target
 The Council received 120 complaints, 325 comments and 119 

compliments in the Fourth Quarter. Repeat complaints and response 
times both on track 

Options considered:

Detailed analysis was contained within the appendices.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Fourth Quarter 2019/20 financial, procurement and performance 
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of the 
covering report be noted.

2. That the surplus on the General Fund Revenue Account to reserves as 
explained in Appendix A (paragraph 2.10) of the report be approved.

3. That the proposal to carry forward unspent revenue budget as described in 
Appendix A (Paragraph 2.13) of the report be approved.

4. That the proposals to carry forward unspent capital budget as set out in 
Appendix A (Paragraph 6.5 and 7.4) of the report be approved.

20/67 FINANCIAL PLANNING PROCESS
(Agenda Item 5) Page 4



The Executive
Thursday, 6 August 2020

The Executive considered the proposed financial planning process in order 
to review the longer term impact of the Coronavirus pandemic on the 
financial position of the Authority. The report was considered by the 
Corporate Select Committee on 13 July.  

Options considered:

There were no options to consider at this stage.

RESOLVED: 

That the proposed process be noted.

20/68 REQUEST FOR MATCH FUNDING FROM THE OUTDOOR SPORTS AND 
RECREATION CAPITAL FUND TO SUPPORT FURNESS COGS 
PAVILION PROJECT
(Agenda Item 6)

The Executive considered the allocation of £20,000 from the Outdoor Sports 
and Recreation Capital Fund to provide match funding to Furness COGS 
(Community Organising Green Space) for the development of a Community 
Pavilion at Furness Vale Community Field.  

Options considered:

1. To provide funding of £20,000 from the Outdoor Sports and Recreation 
Capital Fund in support of this key project. This will be funded from the 
£100,000 capital pot assigned for outdoor sports facilities.  
(Recommended)

2. To do nothing – This will place the project in jeopardy of not progressing 
and will leave a large and possibly unachievable funding shortfall for 
COGS. (not recommended)

RESOLVED:

That the allocation of £20,000 from the Outdoor Sports and Recreation 
Capital Fund be approved as the Council’s contribution to support the 
development of a Community Pavilion at the Community Field in Furness 
Vale, on the basis that the full project costs are secured by COGS.

20/69 TO RESOLVE THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM 
THE MEETING FOR THE FOLLOWING ITEMS BECAUSE THERE MAY BE 
DISCLOSURE TO THEM OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN 
PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972.
(Agenda Item 7)

RESOLVED:

Page 5



The Executive
Thursday, 6 August 2020

That the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
item because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

20/70 TO APPROVE THE EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 8)

RESOLVED: 

That the exempt minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 18 June 
2019 be approved as a correct record.

20/71 REVIEW OF ICT MANAGED SERVICE CONTRACT ARRANGEMENTS
(Agenda Item 9)

The Executive approved a report on future options in relation to the 
Council’s ICT managed service contract with Northgate Public Service 
(NPS).

The meeting concluded at 6.27 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 6



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

8 October 2020

TITLE: First Quarter Performance, Procurement and 
Financial Review 2020/21

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Barrow - Executive Councillor for 
Corporate Services and Finance

CONTACT OFFICER: Keith Pointon – Interim Head of Finance  
Vanessa Higgins – Information Business 
Partner

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-specific

Appendices Attached
 Appendix A (2020/21 – First Quarter (Financial Report)
 Appendix B (2020/21 – First Quarter (Procurement Report) 
 Appendix C (2020/21 – First Quarter (Performance Report)

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s overall 
performance and financial position for the period ended 30th June (“First 
Quarter 2020/21”)

2. Recommendations

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive: 

 Note the First Quarter 2020/21 financial, procurement and performance 
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of this 
covering report; and

3. Executive Summary

3.1 This report summarises the Council’s performance and financial position after 
considering service activity up to the end of the First Quarter (i.e. 30th June 
2020). 

3.2 Detailed analysis is provided in Appendix A (Finance), Appendix B 
(Procurement) & Appendix C (Performance).

3.3 The position can be summarised as follows:

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



Subject Headline Reference
Finance The Finance headlines for the First Quarter are:

Performance against Budget
 At the First Quarter stage the General Fund projected outturn for 

2020/21 is an overspend of £459,580.  

Efficiency Programme
 At Quarter One no savings have been taken against the 2020/21 

revised efficiency target of £257,000 (General Fund).  

Housing Revenue Account
 The Housing Revenue Account is predicted to be in surplus 

(against budget) by £749,030 at the Quarter One stage.

Capital Programme
 The General Fund Capital Programme budget for 2020/21 as 

revised is £5.05 million.  The projected outturn is £3.19 million, 
representing an underspend of £1.86 million – mostly in respect of 
programme slippage due to Covid19

 The HRA Programme for 2020/21 as revised is £5.4 million.  The 
projected outturn is £4.6 million which represents a £0.8 million 
underspend - mostly in respect of programme slippage.

Treasury Management
 Cash investments held at 30 June 2020 totalled £27.4 million.
 Council borrowing at 30 June 2020 totalled £66.8 million.
 The Council’s net interest costs are forecast to be as budgeted for 

the HRA and £61,280 over for the general fund.

Revenue Collection
 28.47% of Council Tax was collected by 30 June 2020, compared 

to 29.64% for the same period last year.
 22.51% of Business Rates was collected by 30 June 2020 

compared with 30.01% for the same period last year.
 At the end of Quarter Oner the value of sundry debt over 60 days 

old was £270,240 which compares to £178,520 at 30 June 2020

Appendix A

Procurement The Procurement headlines for the First Quarter are:
 27 procurement activities were completed 
 The Procurement forward plan includes 66 procurement activities for 

completion/start in 2020/21 (either HPBC only or joint)
 At the 30 June 2020, 97% of procurement activity undertaken was on 

the forward plan and the Council paid 97% of its invoices within 30 
days

Appendix B 

Performance The Performance headlines for the First Quarter are:
 59% of the key performance indicators on track, with 49% better than 

target
 The Council received 8 complaints and 44 compliments in the First 

Quarter.
 15 projects on track, 18 not yet commenced, 1 completed.

Appendix C

Page 8



4.      How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the effective 
management of performance and financial resources, which is the subject of 
this report.

5.      Options and Analysis

5.1 Detailed Analysis is contained within the appendices

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2 Workforce
None

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality 
and Diversity policies.

6.4 Financial Considerations
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report.

6.5 Legal
None

6.6 Climate Change
None

6.7 Consultation
None

6.8      Risk Assessment
There are a number of risks to the financial position presented, which are 
identified and explained in the financial report attached at Appendix A.

CLAIRE HAZELDENE
Acting Executive Director (Finance and Customer Services)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Appendices A-C
Keith Pointon – Interim Head of Finance 
01538 395400 Ext. 4193
Vanessa Higgins – Information Business Prtner
01538 395400 Ext. 4195

6.4

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1

APPENDIX A

2020/21

First Quarter 
Financial
Review

Page 11



2

1. Background and Introduction 

1.1. In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and recommended 
good practice, a quarterly financial report is presented to members. This is the first 
such report for 2020/21.

1.2. The report summarises overall financial performance for 2020/21 with particular 
emphasis on the key sources of financial risk to the Council. Specific 
considerations are as follows:

 General Fund Revenue Account (Section 2) – considers budgetary 
performance on the General Account by looking at variations in income and 
expenditure and the funding received by the Council. 

 Alliance Environmental Services (Section 3) – highlights the performance of 
the Council’s Joint Venture Company providing Waste and Fleet services.

 Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (Section 4) – considers progress 
in achieving the efficiency and rationalisation savings forecast. 

 Housing Revenue Account (Section 5) – highlights the budgetary position in 
respect of the operation of the Council’s housing stock.

 General Fund Capital Programme (Section 6) – provides an update to 
Members on progress against the Council’s General Fund capital plans.

 HRA Capital Programme (Section 7) – provides an update to Members on 
progress against the Council’s HRA capital plans.

 Treasury Management (Section 8) – sets out the key statistics in terms of 
investments and borrowings.

 Revenue Collection (Section 9) – considers progress-to-date in collecting the 
Council Tax, Business Rates and Sundry Debts.

Page 12



3

2. General Fund Revenue Account

2.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the General Fund 
Revenue Account against budget by looking at variations in income and 
expenditure and funding received by the Council.

Service (with staff*) 2020/21 
Budget

Expected 
Outturn 
2020/21

Variance

Contributi
on to / 

(Use of) 
Earmarke

d 
Reserves

Net 
Variance

 £ £ £ £ £
Alliance Leadership Team 58,290 49,810 (8,480) - (8,480)
Audit 10,240 5,240 (5,000) - (5,000)
ICT 614,210 566,980 (47,230) - (47,230)
Human Resources 69,480 51,480 (18,000) - (18,000)
Member Services 195,220 159,220 (36,000) - (36,000)
Property Services 146,780 615,920 469,140 (5,000) 464,140
Benefits (178,470) (158,470) 20,000 (14,700) 5,300
Planning Applications (370,830) (349,360) 61,320 (800) 60,520
Building Control 38,270 17,570 (20,700) - (20,700)
Customer Services 144,390 96,350 (48,040) - (48,040)
Legal Services 30,510 30,510 - - -
Electoral Services 59,470 41,770 (17,700) - (17,700)
Licensing and Land Charges (317,480) (234,060) 83,420 - 83,420
Regeneration 209,630 346,180 96,700 (64,000) 32,700
Communities and Cultural 293,030 292,550 (480) - (480)
Housing Strategy** 67,930 44,930 (23,000) - (23,000)
Transformation 21,250 13,600 (7,650) - (7,650)
Community Safety and Enforcement 118,080 107,810 (10,270) - (10,270)
Finance Income & Procurement (174,130) 40,040 214,170 - 214,170
Corporate Finance* 5,345,490 5,682,490 337,000 - 337,000
Waste Collection 2,015,120 2,193,740 178,620 - 178,620
Street Scene 400,890 394,530 (6,360) (60) (6,420)
Leisure Services 146,770 808,500 661,730 500 662,230
Horticulture 333,100 320,300 (12,800) (780) (13,580)
Environmental Health (30,710) (35,030) (4,320) - (4,320)
  
Net Total of Services 9,246,530 11,102,600 1,856,070 - 1,771,230
  
Net Interest 1,679,940 1,741,220 61,280 61,280
 10,926,470 12,843,820 1,917,350 (84,840) 1,832,510
Funding:  
- external (10,951,820) (14,228,150) (3,276,330) 3,360,640 84,310
- reserves contribution to/(from)
     general contingency 138,290 138,290 - - -
     use of carry forward from 19/20 (24,000) (24,000) - - -
     earmarked (88,940) (84,840) 4,100 84,840 88,940
- covid 19 support (1,546,180) (1,546,180) (1,546,180)

Projected (Surplus)/Deficit - (2,901,060) (2,901,060) 3,360,640 459,580
    

* Staff budgets are currently budgeted within Corporate Finance (except for the staff budget of the Carelink service within 
Housing Strategy which for operational reasons are included within the Service).
  ** The Council’s Housing management costs are charged to the Housing Revenue Account

Page 13



4

2.2. A revenue budget of £10,902,470 was set for 2020/21.  In accordance with 
Financial Procedure Rules, the roll forward of £24,000 in unused budgets from 
2019/20 has been authorised.

Corporate Finance (£6,000): relating to completion of risk management work 
around the safeguarding of the Buxton Spring Water source. 

Assets (£18,000): in respect of works to Whaley Bridge War Memorial.

This brings the 2020/21 budget to £10,926,470.

2.3. The table above shows how this budget has been allocated to services.

2.4. The Q1 projected outturn on the General Fund Revenue Account for 2020/21 is 
£11,386,050.  This represents a projected deficit for the year of £459,580. 

2.5. No service areas with a projected significant underspend (>£50,000):

2.6. There are seven service areas with projected significant overspends (>£50,000).

 Property (£464,140 overspend); Covid-19 has impacted this service 
significantly in two areas.  Car parking where a £406,000 reduction in income is 
forecast (based on latest actual income received up to September and 
projecting forward) and Public Conveniences with additional cleaning costs 
resulting in a £19,000 overspend.  The protracted negotiation of a replacement 
contract for property maintenance is further adding to budgetary pressures.  

 Planning (£60,520 overspend); underspends across a number of budget 
heads are partially offsetting a predicted £90,000 shortfall in income from 
planning applications. 

 Licensing and Land Charges (£83,420 overspend); Covid-19 has reduced 
demand for both land searches and activity licensing adding a further £60,000 
to an underlying £20,000 shortfall in anticipated income based on historic 
demand.

 Finance Income and Procurement (£214,170 overspend); Covid-19 has 
significantly impacted the Recovery service with income generated from 
summons activity predicted to be some £165,000 below original expectations. 
Further budget pressure in the region of £60,000 is predicted in Revenues from 
the level of spending on external services to support billing processes.  This has 
been exacerbated to a degree by the heavy involvement of staff in administering 
the payment of Covid 19 business grants – which Government funding has 
contributed towards.

Page 14



5

 Corporate Finance (£327,000 overspend); Covid-19 has significantly 
impacted the level of savings achievable in the current year Efficiency 
Programme, especially those savings premised on growing fees and charges,  
and realising additional income streams. The assumption at this stage is that 
none of these savings will be achieved.  There is also heightened risk 
surrounding the savings taken in 2019/20 arising out of the council’s Leisure 
Management contract. The combined impact of these and other costs 
associated with delivering the Efficiency Programme is estimated to be in the 
region of £320,000. This situation will be kept under review over the coming 
months. An additional, if indirect, Covid-19 impact is a predicted £100,000 
shortfall in income from the Borough’s bottled water franchise. These extra costs 
have been partially offset by a £103,000 in-year credit resulting from an over 
accrual of costs against the Business Rates Pool in 2019/20. 

 Waste (£178,620 overspend); Covid 19 has had both negative and positive 
effects on service performance.  Lockdown actually increased the amount of 
recycling collected giving rise to a predicted £60,000 increase in income 
generated.  This however was more than offset by some £187,000 in additional 
staff and operating costs necessitated by requirements for social distancing and 
hygiene measures.  The income from trade waste contracts, reflecting the 
pandemic’s suppression of demand, is predicted to fall £44,000 short of budget.

 Leisure (£662,230 overspend); The pandemic has seen the closure and 
curtailment of leisure facilities and activities significantly impacting the councils 
leisure contractor. At present subject to the success of the recovery phase, the 
additional cost consequence to the Borough is initially anticipated in the region 
of £660,000.

2.7. The £61,280 overspend on net interest costs is detailed in section 8.

2.8. The level of funding anticipated for the year is currently forecast £4,818,410 above 
that budgeted due to the following:

Business Rates (£3,276,330):

 The Council expects to receive £3,360,640 in additional S31 grants in the 
year following the announcement and award of Extended Retail Relief of 
100% (33% was forecast in the budget based on the best knowledge at the 
time); and Nursery Discount (which was not anticipated in the budget). Both 
of these increases to relief were announced by the government in response 
to the Covid-19 situation. Accounting practice dictates that these grants are 
treated as general fund revenue in the year. However, the extended reliefs 
impact the Collection Fund by increasing the deficit in the year, which will 
need to be distributed in future years, therefore this additional funding needs 
to be earmarked to accommodate this and cannot be used to support other 
services.

Page 15



6

 This increase in Business Rates Funding is forecast to be offset in part by an 
increase in net levy payable on growth to the Derbyshire Business Rates 
Pool of £84,310 compared to the budgeted amount. After taking into account 
the additional reliefs awarded, the remaining Business Rates income 
forecast for the end of the year is improved compared to budget setting due 
to smaller than anticipated amount to be provided for future appeals against 
rateable values. This is calculated on a percentage basis of Business Rates 
income therefore the resulting provision required is smaller due to additional 
reliefs awarded during the year. As a result the growth calculation is 
improved and a greater is levy payable.

Use of Reserves £4,100:

At this time a £4,100 reduced net movement out of earmarked reserves is predicted.

 Covid 19 funding (£1,546,180)

In response to the financial strain placed on local authorities by the pandemic the 
Government is providing financial support in the form of grants towards exceptional 
costs and compensation for loss of income.  It is anticipated that this support will 
amount to £1,546,180.

Exceptional Costs Support: (£1,266,350)

 General Support (£1,086,350 funding):
The Council has received these monies to support its general activities 
as impacted by the pandemic. 

 Discretionary Grants Administration (£170,000 funding):
This additional grant relates to the costs incurred administering the 
allocation of discretionary grants to Covid impacted businesses in the 
District.

Compensation for loss of income: (£279,830)

 Loss of Income (£279,830 funding):
Councils have been promised the facility to claim for up to 75% of net 
losses against budget for income streams that satisfy set criteria.  There 
is debate as to how the criteria will be interpreted and to date no claims 
have been submitted.  The authority, based on a prudent interpretation of 
the guidance available, anticipates £281,740 could be received.

3. Alliance Environmental Services

Page 16



7

3.1. Alliance Environmental Services Ltd (AES) is a company created with a vision to 
deliver waste, street cleansing and grounds maintenance services in the High Peak 
and Staffordshire Moorlands areas. The company has three shareholders: High 
Peak Borough Council, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and Ansa, which 
is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire East Council. This section of the report 
considers the financial performance of the company and contribution to the 
Council’s Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2020/21.

3.2. Phase 1 of the transfer of services commenced on 7th August 2017 to deliver High 
Peak Borough Council Waste services. This followed the end of the previous 
contract with Veolia Environmental Services; Phase 2 began on 1st July 2018 to 
deliver waste services to Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and fleet 
management services to the Alliance as a whole; and Phase 3 began on 1st April 
2020 to deliver street cleansing and grounds maintenance services to the Alliance.

Alliance Environmental Service’s financial performance & Impact on the 
Council’s Budgets

3.3. The AES business plan for all services delivered to the Council during 2020/21 
includes an anticipated operating profit of £89,477 (£85,825 general fund, £3,652 
HRA). No variance to this is included in the first quarter forecast outturn, however 
additional costs are anticipated as a result of the Covid-19 outbreak of £201,579 
(£200,830 general fund, £749 HRA). 

3.4. This table shows in more detail the forecast outturn on the AES contract included 
in the General Fund Revenue Account and HRA:

2020-21 General 
Fund HRA Total

£ £ £
AES Contract budget 4,155,714 200,802 4,356,516

Management fee 4,357,159 209,374 4,566,533
Allocation of AES efficiency (115,620) (4,920) (120,540)
Covid-19 costs 200,830 749 201,579
Total management fee payable 4,442,369 205,203 4,647,572
Allocation of Joint Operation Profit (85,825) (3,652) (89,477)
Net total 4,356,544 201,551 4,558,095

Variance to budget 200,830 749 201,579

3.5. The Council’s share of the total AES revised efficiency target for 2020/21 is 
£120,540 (£115,620 general fund, £4,920 HRA). This is repayable to the Council 
and is allocated against the management fee costs.

3.6. Additional costs of £201,579 (£200,830 general fund, £749 HRA) are anticipated 

Page 17



8

by the company as a result of the Covid-19 outbreak. These are included in the 
forecast outturn and relate to provision of cleaning products, PPE and additional 
agency costs.

3.7. Under accounting standards, AES’s financial performance is incorporated in to the 
Councils’ single entity statements as a ‘Joint Operation’ as opposed to separate 
group accounts being reported.  The profit is therefore apportioned between the 
two Councils and the respective services in line with the input of original budgeted 
resources from each department. The Council’s share of the forecast profit at the 
end of quarter 1 is £89,477 (£85,825 general fund, £3,652HRA) and is offset 
against the management fee costs.

4.       Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme

4.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 
Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2020/21.

4.2. The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan (approved in February 2017) included 
the four-year (2017/18 – 2020/21) Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy targeting 
savings of £2.1 million.  .

4.3. The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy is premised on the need to both reduce 
expenditure and increase income. The need to grow income is now more of a 
priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing. The strategy has 
been developed with the underlying principles of protecting frontline service 
delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable the Council to ensure 
that its service spending is determined by the established priorities set out in 
Corporate Plan.

4.4. The 2020/21 budget was set in February 2020 with the assumption of £410,000 of 
savings in the year. This figure comprised £810,000 from the original strategy 
reduced by £305,000 in re-profiled savings and £95,000 income generation savings 
deferred into 2021/22.  A further £153,000 of savings were realised in quarter 4 of 
2019/20 (after the MTFP was presented), reducing the amount to be achieved in 
2020/21 to £257,000.  The major focus of the savings programme in 2020/21 being 
on growth and income generation.

4.5. At the end of Quarter One, no savings have been taken against the 20/21 efficiency 
target, largely as a result of the disruption to services caused by the Covid19 
outbreak.  

4.6. The current situation, regarding the on-going effect of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
places into doubt some of the savings taken out of the budget during 2019/20; 
particularly those relating to the Leisure Services contract. There is also a significant 
risk that the current year savings will not be achieved, particularly those relating to 
growing fees and charges and income generation. At this stage it is assumed that 
no savings will be achieved in these areas during the year. This will continue to be 
monitored over the next few months as the situation develops.

Page 18



9

4.7. The Authority carries a longstanding reserve earmarked to support the Efficiency 
Strategy which can be drawn on to offset one-off costs of delivering the efficiency 
programme, such as redundancy costs. The reserve currently stands at £200,000. 
It has not been necessary to draw on this reserve in previous years so it remains 
intact to underwrite performance against future savings targets in the Efficiency 
Programme.

5.       Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

5.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 
Housing Revenue Account and highlights the budgetary position in respect of the 
operation of the Council’s housing stock. 

5.2. The 2020/21 Housing Revenue Account budget was originally set to produce a 
deficit of £814,870 supported by reserves. The Chief Financial Officer has, in 
accordance with Financial Procedure Rules, authorised the roll forward of £120,000 
in unused budgets from 2019/20 to facilitate completion of capital component works 
(bathrooms; kitchens; electrical works and wet rooms) halted during the Covid 19 
pandemic lockdown period in March 20.This brought the 2020/21 budget to a deficit 
of £934,870.

5.3. Provisional outturn expenditure on the Housing Revenue Account at the first quarter 
stage is £15,279,997 with estimated income of £15,094,155. This represents a 
deficit for the year of £185,842 (i.e. £749,028 below budget – therefore less 
reserves are required to fund HRA activities in year).

Housing Revenue Account

2020-21 
Approved 

Budget
Q1 

Changes
2020-21 
Revised 
Budget

2020-21 
Expected 
Outturn

Variance

£ £ £ £ £
INCOME    
Dwellings Rents (14,370,910) - (14,370,910) (14,356,420) 14,490
Non - Dwelling Rents Etc (624,440) - (624,440) (737,740) (113,300)
Sub-total income (14,995,350) - (14,995,350) (15,094,160) (98,810)
 EXPENDITURE
Repairs & Maintenance 4,299,300 - 4,299,300 4,502,230 202,930
Supervision & Management 2,613,150 - 2,613,150 2,530,790 (82,360)
Rents, rates, taxes Etc. 113,030 - 113,030 113,030 -
Other Operating Expenditure 761,310 - 761,310 759,160 (2,150)
Depreciation & Impairment 2,099,030 - 2,099,030 2,099,030 -
Interest & Debt Management 2,746,340 - 2,746,340 2,742,850 (3,490)
Contribution to Capital 3,178,060 120,000 3,298,060 2,532,910 (765,150)
Sub-total expenditure 15,810,220 120,000 15,930,220 15,280,000 (650,220)
 Surplus(-)/Deficit 814,870 120,000 934,870 185,840 (749,030)
Use of Reserves (814,870) (120,000) (934,870) (185,840) 749,030
Balance - - - - -

Page 19



10

5.4. The Council has a duty, in accordance with Part VI (Section 74) of the Local   
Government and Housing Act 1989, to maintain a “Housing Revenue Account” 
(HRA).  By “ring -fencing’ the Housing Revenue Account, the Council ensures that 
the management and maintenance of the Council’s housing stock is funded from 
the income generated by rents and other related sources. The Council is required 
under Part VI (Section 76) to prevent a debit balance each year on the HRA by 
setting the appropriate budget and monitoring progress against that budget 
throughout the financial year. The deficit balance predicted by the Council at this 
first quarter stage will be funded by a transfer from reserves within the Housing 
Revenue Account.

5.5. There is just one significant (>£50,000) overspend on the HRA:
 Repairs and Maintenance (£202,930) – There are a number of variances 

contributing to this overspend; the first most significant relates to the use of 
sub-contractors and agency staff (£148,000); and the second relates to the 
increased costs associated with the provision of materials (£49,000).

5.6. There are three significant (>£50,000) underspends to be noted at this stage.

 Income - Non-Dwelling Rents (£113,300) – increased income from service 
charges has been responsible for the majority of this positive variance.

 Supervision and Management (£82,360) – there are numerous small 
underspends across a large number of budget areas contributing to this 
underspend however, a large proportion of this variance (£25,000) reflects 
savings in salary costs, transport costs and general employee related 
expenditure.

.
 Contribution to Capital (£765,150) – This underspend relates to delays in 

commencement and completion of a number of Capital Schemes and is 
reflective of the changes to the capital programme detailed in Section 7 below.

6.      General Fund Capital Programme

6.1. This section of the report provides an update to Members on the Council’s General 

Page 20



11

Fund Programme.

6.2. The table below shows a high level (service) summary of the General Fund Capital 
Programme position at 30th June 2020. Further detail on a scheme by scheme basis 
is contained in Annex A.

 
2020/21 

Approved 
Budget 

Q1 
Changes

2020/21 
Revised  
Budget

Expected 
Outturn 
2020/21

Expected 
Variance 
2020/21

 £ £ £ £ £
Housing     667,000             -        667,000     667,000              -   
Housing Standards     550,290             -        550,290     519,110     (31,180) 
Property Services  2,520,300      18,570   2,538,870   1,668,340    (870,530) 
ICT       87,050      48,160      135,210     118,160     (17,050) 
Fleet /CCTV 741,500     241,260 982,760 50,000    (932,760) 
Leisure Services       50,000      10,000       60,000 10,000 (50,000)
Regeneration       25,570 (12,320)       13,250       63,250       50,000 
Horticulture         9,040      90,000       99,040       90,000       (9,040) 
Total  4,650,750     395,670   5,046,420   3,185,860 (1,860,560) 
Funding:-      
External Contributions 550,290             -   550,290 519,110 (31,180)
Planning Obligations              -        43,000 43,000 43,000              -   
Capital Receipts(Land)     725,000             -   725,000              -      (725,000) 
Capital Receipts(one for one)     667,000             -   667,000 667,000              -   
Capital Receipts(vehicles)       32,500             -   32,500              -       (32,500) 
Capital Reserves              -       100,000 100,000 100,000              -   
Earmarked Reserves       50,000      14,450 64,450 64,450              -   
Borrowing  2,625,960     238,220 2,864,180 1,792,300 (1,071,880) 
Total 4,650,750 395,670 5,046,420 3,185,860 (1,860,560) 

6.3. The 2020/21 General Fund Capital Budget was approved by Members in February 
as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan £4,650,750.  An increase to the 
programme of £385,670 was then approved by Executive in July as part of the 
Provisional Outturn report and reflected the carry forward of budget from 2019/20.  
A new project budget of £10,000 has also been added during Quarter 1.   The overall 
approved budget now stands at £5,046,420.

6.4. The changes made to the capital programme since approval in February are as 
follows:- 

 (£385,670 increase) The carry forward of 2019/20 capital budget variances as 
a result of projects which were either behind schedule or had progressed 
quicker than expected in the year. 

 (£10,000 increase) Individual Executive Decision 27th June 2017 approved the 
use of Section 106 planning obligation funds towards a contribution to support 
the planned project to develop Cemetery Road Football Club and Community 
Hub in Glossop. 

6.5 The General fund capital programme is currently forecast to record an overall net 
underspend position of £1,860,560 made up of the following variances;-

Page 21



12

 (£1,910,560 underspend) - The Covid-19 out-break has contributed to delays 
in delivery of the Capital Programme. Slippage against a number of projects 
has been re-profiled in the latest Medium Term Financial Plan Review to 
reflect a more realistic timing of when capital expenditure will be incurred in 
the current circumstances. 

 (£50,000 overspend) - Buxton Crescent Hotel & Spa - Following the 
Government announcement made on Monday 23rd March 2020 that required 
people to stay at home, the Hotel was forced to put its opening programme 
on hold. Additional professional fees including project management costs are 
included in the anticipated overspend up until the revised opening date of 
October this year.

6.6 The significant change to the funding requirements are set out below;-
 Capital Receipts – £725,000  land sales originally forecast  are not now 

anticipated to be completed by the end of this financial year  
 Overall capital funding which will be applied to the 2020/21 Capital 

Programme is lower than forecast, reflecting the revised timing of capital 
spend, hence a reduced borrowing requirement of £1,071,880 against the 
revised budget.

7.      Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme

7.1. This section of the report provides an update to Members on the Council’s HRA 
capital spending.

7.2. The table below shows a high level summary of the HRA Capital Programme at 30th 
June 2020. Further detail on a scheme by scheme basis is contained in Annex B.

Scheme
2020-21 

Approved 
Budget

Q1 Changes
2020-21 
Revised 
Budget

2020-21 
Expected 
Outturn

2020-21 
Variance

 £ £ £ £ £
Asset Management Works 4,639,590 120,000 4,759,590 4,171,940 (587,650)
Repairs Team Capital Works 295,000 - 295,000 270,000 (25,000)
Commissioning Fees 100,000 - 100,000 100,000 -
Vehicle Purchasing 242,500 - 242,500 90,000 (152,500)
Total 5,277,090 120,000 5,397,090 4,631,940 (765,150)
Funding:
Major Repairs Reserve 2,099,030 - 2,099,030 2,099,030 -
HRA Contribution 3,178,060 120,000 3,298,060 2,532,910 (765,150)

5,277,090 120,000 5,397,090 4,631,940 (765,150)
 

7.3. The 2020/21 HRA Capital budget of £5,277,090 was approved by members in 
February 2020 as part of the MTFP.

Page 22



13

7.4. The Chief Financial Officer has, in accordance with Financial Procedure Rules, 
authorised the roll forward of £120,000 in unused budgets from 2019/20 to facilitate 
completion of capital component works (bathrooms; kitchens; electrical works and 
wet rooms) halted during the Covid 19 pandemic lockdown period in March 20. This 
brings the total HRA Capital Programme to £5,397,090.

7.5. During the first quarter, £165,033 has been incurred on HRA Capital Schemes 
principally on kitchen replacements and roofing works. This is much lower than 
expected and reflects the affect of lockdown due to the coronavirus.

  
7.6. Much of the HRA spend has been re-profiled to commence either in late autumn or 

delayed until 21/22 due to continued access issues to the majority of sites.  This 
has resulted in an anticipated underspend of £765,150 mainly in the following 
project areas:
 Boiler Replacement – Queens Court (£200,000) - Due to the inability to access 

all areas of this sheltered block during the early part of the year, this scheme 
has been put on hold until 21/22. 

 Radiator Replacements – Milton Court & Eccles Fold (£130,000) – The lack of 
access to individual flats during the early part of the year has resulted in this 
scheme also being put on hold until 21/22.

 Lift Replacement Scheme – (£180,000) – Problems with access have resulted 
in necessary engineer and survey reports being delayed, therefore some 
spend (approximately £20,000) is expected to take place towards the end of 
the financial year however the majority of spend will take place in 21/22.

 Component Replacements – Kitchens; Bathrooms; Windows and Doors – 
(£170,650) – Following lockdown and the inability to access properties, spend 
in these areas has been slow.  Although there may be some capacity to 
increase delivery of these in the coming months, it is expected that there will 
be some slippage into 21/22. 

 Vehicle Replacement programme – (£152,500) – Procurement for the 
replacement of existing repairs vehicles is due to commence in September, 
thereby delaying anticipated fleet costs of £242,500 until early 21/22. Offsetting 
this, there is anticipated spend to provide four additional new vehicles for an 
electrician and estate caretaker posts.

7.7. Following the results of recent Health and Safety Inspections, it has become 
necessary to enhance existing fire safety alarm systems within a number of 
sheltered accommodation blocks.  This project is to run across three financial years 
with the anticipated cost of each alarm system expected to be in the region of 
£35,000.  Year 1 will be in 20/21 with the replacement of three systems at an 
expected cost of £105,000.  This project has been added to the current HRA Capital 
Programme and will utilise some of the under spend noted above.

7.8. Capital funding expected to be applied during 2020/21 is lower than forecast due to 
the variances noted above.

8.      Treasury Management

8.1. This section of the report sets out the key Treasury Management statistics in 

Page 23



14

relation to the Council’s investments and borrowings. This report comprises a high 
level Treasury Management summary.  The Audit and Regulatory Committee 
receives detailed operational updates on Treasury Management.

Investments

8.2. Cash Investments held on the 30th June 2020 totalled £27.4million. The average 
level of funds available for investment up to the end of the quarter totalled 
£32.4million and £40,340 interest was earned.

8.3. The Council has budgeted to receive £160,000 in investment income in 2020/21. A 
shortfall of £61,280 is anticipated against this budget due to falling interest rates 
following the reduction of the Bank of England base rate to 0.10% in March 2020.

Borrowing

8.4. Outstanding borrowing at 30th June 2020 totalled £66.8 million. The Council’s 
general fund and HRA budgeted to incur £1,835,260 and £1,742,850 respectively 
in interest charges and other financing costs in 2020/21. This was based on existing 
external debt and new external debt to be taken during quarter 4 to fund the 
borrowing requirements arising from general fund capital programmes.

8.5. No ‘new’ borrowing or refinancing activity has occurred during quarter 1, therefore 
no variance to the budget is forecast at this stage.

9.       Revenue Collection

9.1. The collection rate outturn for Quarter 1 2020/21 was as follows:
 Council Tax – 28.47% of Council Tax was collected by 30th June 2020, 

compared to 29.64% for the same period last year.
o The effects of Covid-19 on collection rates are being monitored. The variance 

in the collection of Council Tax appears to be largely due to the delay in the 
commencement of recovery action and/ or inability to pay as opposed to 
deferred payment plans;

 Business Rates – 22.51% of Business Rates was collected by 30th June 2020, 
compared with 30.01% for the same period last year.
o An analysis of the 15 NNDR accounts with the highest Rateable Values 

indicates that deferred payment plans account for majority of the variance in 
collection rates and this will unwind over the year assuming businesses can 
maintain their deferred plans when they commence. 

 Sundry Debts - The value of sundry debts over 60 days old at the end of Quarter 
1 was £270,240 which compares with £178,520 at 30th June 2019.  The level of 
arrears has been impacted by a delay in recovery action following onset of the 
pandemic.

Annex A    

                   General Fund Capital Programme Update 30th June 2020

Page 24



15

Scheme
2020/21 

Approved 
Budget 

Q1 
Changes

2020/21 
Revised  
Budget

Expected 
Outturn 
2020/21

Expected 
Variance 
2020/21

 £ £ £ £ £

Housing & Housing Standards      
Affordable Housing Project 667,000             -   667,000 667,000              -   
Disabled Facilities Grants 489,110             -   489,110 489,110              -   
Landlord Accreditation 61,180             -   61,180 30,000      (31,180) 
 1,217,290             -   1,217,290 1,186,110      (31,180) 
Property Services      
Asset Management Programme 2,520,300 18,570 2,538,870 1,668,340    (870,530) 
  2,520,300       18,570  2,538,870  1,668,340    (870,530) 
ICT 87,050 48,160 135,210 118,160      (17,050) 
       87,050       48,160     135,210     118,160      (17,050) 
Fleet Management      
Vehicle/Plant  Acquisitions     691,500     241,260 932,760             -      (932,760) 
CCTV       50,000             -   50,000 50,000              -   
     741,500     241,260     982,760       50,000    (932,760) 
Leisure Services      
Outdoor Sports Facilities Fund       50,000             -         50,000             -        (50,000) 
Football Development             -         10,000       10,000       10,000              -   
      
       50,000       10,000       60,000       10,000      (50,000) 
Regeneration      
Buxton Crescent & Spa       25,570     (12,320) 13,250 63,250        50,000 
       25,570     (12,320)       13,250       63,250        50,000 
Horticulture      
Play Facilities 9,040 90,000 99,040       90,000       (9,040) 
        9,040       90,000       99,040       90,000       (9,040) 
      
Total General Fund  4,650,750     395,670  5,046,420  3,185,860 (1,860,560) 

Page 25



16

Annex B

Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme Update 30th June 2020

Scheme

Approved 
Budget 
2020/21

Q1 
Changes

2020/21 
Revised 
Budget

2020/21 
Expected 
Outturn 

Over / 
(Under) 
Spend

ASSET MANAGEMENT WORKS: £ £ £ £
Roofing & External Works 460,000 - 460,000 514,000 54,000
Gamesley Cladding Works 200,000 - 200,000 125,000 (75,000)
Bathroom Programme 400,000 20,000 420,000 420,000 -
Kitchen Programme 954,170 20,000 974,170 903,520 (70,650)
Electrical Works 409,430 20,000 429,430 429,430 -
Central Heating Works 224,630 - 224,630 94,630 (130,000)
Queens Court Boiler Replacement 200,000 - 200,000 - (200,000)
Windows and Doors Programme 1,193,360 - 1,193,360 1,093,360 (100,000)
Aids & Adaptations 295,000 50,000 345,000 345,000 -
Structural Works (Various) 93,000 - 93,000 93,000 -
Lift Replacements 190,000 10,000 200,000 20,000 (180,000)
Queens Court Lightning Protection 20,000 - 20,000 29,000 9,000
Sheltered Fire Alarm Upgrades - - - 105,000 105,000
 4,639,590 120,000 4,759,590 4,171,940 (587,650)
REPAIRS TEAM CAPITAL WORKS
Void Rewires 70,000 - 70,000 64,000 (6,000)
Void Kitchens  155,000 - 155,000 142,000 (13,000)
Void Bathrooms  70,000 - 70,000 64,000 (6,000)
 295,000 - 295,000 270,000 (25,000)
STAFFING & PROFESSIONAL FEES
Staffing Recharges/ Commissioning Costs 100,000 - 100,000 100,000 -
 100,000 - 100,000 100,000 -
VEHICLE PURCHASING
Vehicle Purchases 242,500 - 242,500 90,000 (152,500)
 242,500 - 242,500 90,000 (152,500)
 
TOTAL SPEND 5,277,090 120,000 5,397,090 4,631,940 (765,150)

Page 26



APPENDIX B

2020/21

First Quarter
 Procurement 

Review

Page 27



1. Introduction

1.1 A key element of the financial savings included in the Council’s Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy is being met from Procurement activity which was 
approved by Full Council in February 2017. 

1.2 The current Procurement Strategy was developed to ensure that its objectives 
linked closely with the Council’s overall strategic vision and aims and objectives.  
The key actions included, delivery of cashable savings, development of a 
professional Procurement unit, updated Procurement Rules to support 
transparency and the implementation of electronic tendering processes and 
procurement systems.

1.3 The Procurement Strategy is now due for updating and is scheduled for 
presentation during 2020 initially as an Information Digest report to obtain Member 
feedback prior to final approval.  The revised strategy will focus on the following 
key objectives to support the aims of the Council’s Corporate plan:

 Delivering Value for Money
 Commercial focus and effective Contract Management
 Maintaining Transparency and Ethical practices through effective leadership
 Promoting Responsible and Sustainable Procurement 
 Supporting the Local Economy and Business Growth
 Delivering Social Value (CSR) through our Contracts

2. First Quarter Completed Procurements

2.1 The activity supported by the procurement function for the first quarter April 2020 
to June 2020 is summarised below:

First Quarter  
High Value 

(> £181,000)

Low Value

 (< £181,000)
Total

HPBC Only 1 20 21
JOINT (HP/SM) - 6 6
TOTAL 1 26 27

2.2 Annex A provides details of the 27 procurement exercises completed during 
Quarter 1.  

3. 2020/21 Procurement Forward Plan 

3.1 The table below details the number of exercises which fall into either low or high 
value (profiled over full contract term) scheduled for either completion or starting in 
2020/21.

Page 28



2019/20

Activity

High Value 

(> £181,000k)

 Low Value

 (< £181,000k)
Total

HPBC 10 31 41
JOINT (HP/SM) 3 22 25
TOTAL 13 53 66

In addition to the above, there are 133 listed entries brought forward from previous 
years (for review and completion for both HPBC and SMDC combined). 

3.2 Some of the more significant ‘high level’ procurement activity that is scheduled for 
delivery in 2020/21 includes:-

 IT Managed Service Support Contract 
 Supporting delivery of the Fleet Replacement Strategy
 Glossop Market Hall and Phase 2 Municipal Buildings Roofing and internal 

works
 Construction Materials Supplies – Direct Services
 HRA minor works contracts – Electrical / Roofing / Bathrooms / Heating capital 

programmes

4. Procurement Performance

4.1 This section reports on the Council performance in terms of procurement activity 
and the payment of suppliers.

4.2 Performance for the first quarter is highlighted below:-

Performance Indicator Target Performance at 
30th June 2020

% of Alliance Procurement 
Activity on Forward Plan 65% 97%

Annual contract spend as % 
of gross expenditure budget

85% 83%

% Of invoices paid within 30 
days 96% 97%

Performance Indicators – targets off track

4.3 We are continuing our communication programme of regular service review 
meetings to ensure planned activity is captured and monitored on the plan.  We are 
continuing to work with service areas to ensure they are compliant in commissioning 
Supplies, Services or Works and that the internal processes are adhered to.

4.4 For 2020/2021 additional new performance indicators have been introduced; these 
are currently being measured to establish targets to implement for 2021/2022.

Page 29



 % of EOI (expressions of interest) that come from businesses within the local 
area (over £5,000)

 % of Contracts awarded to local suppliers following submission of EOI
        (over £5,000)
 Supplier (Creditor) spend within the local area as a % of total spend

Page 30



ANNEX A
First Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – HPBC

Contract Title Brief contract description Recurring 
or One Off 

Service Area Procedure Award Detail Term / 
Duration

 Total 
Contract 
Value £    

Civils Work / 
Minor Works 
Framework

Inc. Groundworks, stone and 
Brickwork, Drainage, 
Resurfacing & Fencing

Multi Contractor framework

Recurring Assets
Housing 
Repairs

OPEN Tender Alliance Group 
Solutions

CT 
Construction 

Hardyman
 
Haystoun 

MCP 
Properties

Three Shires

2 yrs TCV est. 
£200k

Future High 
Street Fund

Financial 
Assessment

Consultancy Appointment to 
support regeneration project 
– Future High Streets Fund

One Off Regeneration Single Source Vixcroft 4 
months

55,350

ILR and Master 
Plan 

Trans Pennine 
Upgrade

Consultancy Appointment
Delivery of a Local Impact 
Report to the Examining 
Authority for Highways 
England's application for a 
Development Consent Order 
to construct two link roads as 
part of the Trans Pennine 
Upgrade programme of 
works.

One Off Regeneration Direct award 
via DCC 
highways 
contract

(2 exercises 
completed 
prior via Open 
and 
Framework 
routes  - no 
bids received)

AECOM 7 
months

49,960

Specialist 
external drain 
network works

Housing 
Properties at 
Whaley Bridge 

Consultancy and remedial 
works

To resolve pest issues at 
properties affected 

One Off Housing 
Repairs 

Direct Award Rentokil One off
Est 
start 

July 20

22,400

Footpath and 
riverbank 
remedial works 
at Warmbrook 
Consultancy 

Consultancy appointment for 
architects design / 
specification  to resolve 
current structural issues – 
contractor to be appointed 
post design phase

One Off Assets Open 
Quotation

RAB 
Consultants

2 
months

18,405

Design and Print 
High Peak 
walking guides 

Co-ordinate and align the 
walking guides for several 
HP Town Councils as part of 
the BEIS external funding 
initiative

One Off Regeneration Open 
Quotation

Hammer 
Design

7 
months

12,350

Page 31



Renewable 
Heating Sources 
Pavilion 
Gardens and 
Queens Court

Consultancy appointment to 
appraise and recommend 
renewable heating source 
options for named projects 
and additional locations 
during term

One Off Assets Further 
Competition 
via Framework

Carbon Smart 
T/A Avieco Ltd

1 yr 10,535

Accelerated 
Housing 
Delivery Project

Appointment of 
marketing agent 

Marketing consultant 
required to assist with the 
sale of the land for 
development 

One Off Regeneration Further 
Competition 
via Framework

CBRE 6 
months

10,000

Bernard Street 
Car Park 
Glossop
Wall remedial 
works

Minor works contract to 
rebuild wall at Bernard Street 
Car park

Est start post COVID-19 
restriction lifts Summer 2020

One Off Assets Contract 
variation

Alliance Group 
Solutions ltd

One off 7,482

Housing 
development – 
lead time and 
build rate 
analysis

5 Year Housing land supply 
Additional requirement and 
update of information 

One Off Development 
Control 

Single Source Capita 
Property and 
Infrastructure

3 
months

4,390

Assessment of 
Viability 
Appraisal

Planning application 
(Detail  restricted)

One Off Development 
Control

Request for 
Quotations

Keppie 
Massey

2 
months

2,750

CITB SMSTS 
Refresher 
Course

Training and development

Refresher CITB SMSTS 
(Site Management Safety 
Training) 

Course for 6 members of 
staff working within Assets 
and Housing Repairs

One Off Transformation
Human 
Resources 

Request for 
Quotations

Envico One off 2,180

Gully Cleansing 
and Ad-hoc 
Jetting / 
Drainage 
Clearances

AES  PHASE 3 NOVATION 
– Street cleansing

Contract 
Change

Direct 
Services 

ACL Highways & AES
Novation to existing contract

Horticultural 
Small Plant and 
Tools Supply

AES  PHASE 3 NOVATION 
– Grounds maintenance

Contract 
Change

Direct 
Services

Tudor Environmental Ltd & AES
Novation to existing contract

The following items were removed or deferred from the Procurement work plan for 20/21
Consultation April 2020 Reviews  with service leads

Burbage Heights Footway – minor works
Construction of new footway 

Removed 

Assets

Page 32



Porch Canopy replacements Housing Properties (HRA Capital)
To be incorporated into Housing Repairs ad-hoc replacements
Not capital project – item removed 

Removed 

Assets

Eccles Fold Car Port 
On hold 

Removed
Subject to review

Assets

Remedial repair works to Manor Park Grounds Maintenance Depot
Work completed through existing arrangement

Removed

Assets

Christmas Illuminations – set up and dismantle
Transferred to AES to procure for Christmas 2020
No future requirement

Removed

Service Commissioning

Empty Property VOID cleaning and clearances
Vacant housing properties clearances 
Transferred to in-house provision – Estate Caretakers
No future external requirement

Removed

Housing (Repairs)

Damp Surveying and remedial works
Housing Properties
Completed in house
No future external requirement

Removed

Housing (Repairs)

Page 33



First Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – JOINT (HPBC & SMDC)

Contract Title Brief contract description Recurring 
or One Off 

Service Area Procedure Award 
Detail

Term / 
Duration

 Total 
Contract 
Value £    

Digital Customer 
Portal

Development, hosing and 
support
Licences and agreement 
renewal 
Crown Commercial G Cloud 

Recurring Transformation Call off 
Framework 
Agreement

IEG4 1 + 1 
yrs

223,062

Public Buildings 
Condition and 
Measured 
Surveys

Consultancy appointment

Phase one – 5 sites

Recurring Assets Single 
Source

Oakleaf 
Group

TBC 8,975

Playground 
equipment 
supplies

Replacement parts for 
repairs

Novation phase 3 AES 

Contract 
change

Service 
Comm. / Direct 
services 

Transferred 
to AES

BG Sports and Leisure &AES

Novation to existing contract

The following items were removed or deferred from the Procurement work plan for 20/21
Consultation April 2020 Reviews  with service leads

Property Management Landlord and Tenant Lease renewals 
Consultancy Support – Estates

Not to be renewed, no longer required for external support – now in house

Removed

Assets

Mechanical & Electrical (M&E) Consultancy Framework
Framework not to be procured for HP/SM 
Call off from National frameworks will support level of spend required for appointment of M&E 
services

Removed

Assets

Mechanical Grave digging services

No longer required not to be renewed – transferred to AES under Phase 3 

Removed

Service Commissioning

Page 34



 

 

High Peak Performance and Customer Feedback Report: 2020/ 2021 (Q1) 

  

P
age 35



59%

39%

2%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

On Track Off Track N/A

High Peak Q1 Summary  

The following report provides Councillors with an overview of performance at High Peak for the period April to June 2020 in relation to the 
Council’s corporate plan priorities and the associated performance targets and projects. The report also provides an overview of the results 
from the Council’s customer feedback system in terms of how we handle and learn from complaints, and the level of comments and 
compliments.       

Performance Overview  

There are 152 ‘monthly’, ‘quarterly’ and ‘annual only’ reported performance measures at High Peak (31 more than last year). The chart below 
shows the results for the first quarter of 2020/21 against the monthly and quarterly measures only, which make up approximately a third of 
the performance framework. At 59% ‘on track’ the Q1 results are just 1% lower than 2019, despite the effect of lockdown, and the trend 
shows an increase of 16% from 33% to 49% performing better than last year. The actions being taken to address the ‘off track’ measures are 
detailed at the end of this report. 

The report also provides an update on the progress of key projects that contribute to the priority actions outlined in the previous Corporate 
Plan. The table below right explains the colour coding used to describe the current status of these actions / projects.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Customer Feedback Overview  

The number of complaints closed during Quarter One (8) was much lower than last year (47). Repeat complaints are ‘on track’ whilst 
responding to complaints in 10 days fell short of target due to one complex case but is expected to meet target by year end. This report 
includes further details of the lessons learned from complaints and any repeat issues.      

  

 Off Track 

 In danger of going off Track 

 On Track 

 Not yet started / decision 
awaited 

 Complete / Closed 

49%

33%

18%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

P
age 36



0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

On Track Off Track N/A

HP Aim 1: June Results 2020/21

   Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our residents to live and work   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The ‘off track’ measures at High Peak include several homelessness indicators measuring the council’s response to the duties of prevention 
and relief and the use of temporary accommodation. The impact of coronavirus can be seen in these results with increased numbers of 
presentations from the ‘everyone in’ initiative to address rough sleeping. It should be noted however, that the number of placements in 
temporary accommodation has reduced significantly since May. At High Peak the repairs PI measuring the number of jobs per operative has 
decreased due to the pandemic and the team’s ability to deal only with emergency and external works.       

Celebrating Success:  

At the end of Quarter One the following performance indicators are outstripping their targets: 

 external sports funding secured 
 carelink response times 
 processing benefit new claims and change of circs 

 
 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

HP Aim1 : Trends June 2020/21

P
age 37



2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions Status Commentary – June 
Complete the review of the CCTV system 
and implement the agreed 
recommendations 

 Once access to Ecclesfold is granted the installation can be completed. 

Develop and implement an ongoing 
leisure facilities improvement plan 
focused on improving the health and 
well- being of residents   

 Consultancy work to look at the future plan is going out to Framework, looking to appoint in 
the next few weeks. 

Implement the accelerated housing 
delivery programme 

 Individual project updates within the programme: 
3.1 Fairfield Roundabout: Awaiting a response from Homes England. Legal department are 
dealing with the golf club lease 
3.2 Granby Road- No update for Q1. 

Develop a Private Sector Housing 
Strategy to improve conditions for 
private renters  

 The strategy is being produced and will incorporate links with the Climate Change agenda 

Refresh the Council’s Communication 
Strategy in order to ensure that there is a 
more effective dialogue with residents 

 A report is going to ALT/Exec/Cabinet. Also, an information digest report will be sent to 
members. 

Review the Council’s community support 
arrangements in order to maintain 
strong partnerships with community 
groups 

 Delayed due to Covid 19 and the recovery plan. A committee report will be delivered in 12 
months 

Review the Community Safety Strategy 
to ensure that the Council is supportive 
in fighting crime and anti- social 
behaviour 

 Review of CSS at both Councils to be completed by April 2021 along with proposals for the 
future 

Review the Sport and Physical Activity 
Strategy in order to integrate 
communities and sports clubs into the 
delivery of its objectives 

 Pending following the impact of Covid 19, refresh will be undertaken in current financial year. 
 

P
age 38



Implement the Homelessness Strategy 
effectively to ensure that voluntary 
groups and social enterprises that work 
to tackle the issue are supported 
effectively 

 The homeless reports have already been written, we need to understand funding and 
commitments and produce detail and structure for delivery. Review of funding streams / 
allocations during 2020/21 to be carried out - to target strategy objectives.  Post Covid input 
to be included, including next steps for the accommodation programme. 

Review the delivery of services to older 
persons to ensure that they are effective 

 Head of Service writing a report in regard to Carelink – this will need input from Finance. We 
also need to look at the wider provision of services to older people, the provision of 
designated accommodation and the equalities element. 

Continuing Influencing actions 
Maintaining the provision of accessible 
health and social care  
 
 

High Peak: 
In Q3 the committee considered the following reports:  Leisure Centre Options; Air Quality Management 
Area Action Plan for Tintwistle; Declaration of an Air Quality Management Area on part of the A57, 
Dinting Vale, Glossop. Nothing to report in Q1 in terms of health. 

New Influencing Actions – The following actions are new to the 2019-2023 Corporate Plans. The project delivery 
mechanism for each is being set up through the Transformation Board and updates will begin as each project launches.  
 Dealing with anti-social behaviour   

 

 

Managing our strategic risks 

The Council has identified, assessed and is mitigating the following strategic risks under Aim One: 

• Meeting the increased and changing demands on council services caused by demographic changes in the local population (including an 
aging population) 

• The ability to effectively engage with our communities 
• Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults (meeting the legal duty) 
• Influencing strategic relationships at county and regional level in support of local area objectives 

 

P
age 39



0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

On Track Off Track

HP Aim 2: June Results 2020/21

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money 

 
        

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

A number of procurement PIs measuring the new ‘local’ focus were unable to report in Q1 due to complications in obtaining the data and staff 
resources but should be in place for Q2. High Peak is below target for business rates, council tax and sundry debt collection rates due to the 
financial impacts of lockdown on residents and businesses. Similarly, performance in re-letting voids remains 15 days above its 25-day target 
due to the restrictions imposed on letting from March to May during lockdown. Internal audit recommendation implementation and FOI 
response times have also been negatively affected by lockdown.      

Celebrating Success:     

At the end of Quarter One the following performance indicators are outstripping their targets: 

 rent loss 
 sickness absence 
 invoice processing 
 procurement activity on the forward plan 
 repeat complaints 
 social media followers 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

HP Aim 2: Trends June 2020/21

P
age 40



 2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions Status Commentary – June 
Provide advice and support for 
residents affected by the rollout of 
Universal Credit   

 Review to be carried out of the original report and how we support residents. Review of 
LCTR and the options going forward. 

Develop and implement a plan to 
identify new and innovative ways of 
generating income 
 

 Individual project updates within the action: 
3.1 Advertising/Sponsorship- need to look at the work already done and review timescales 
3.2 Fees & Charges- annual budget 
3.3 Empty properties -Empty property review being conducted. Next Empty Property review 
commencing July 2020.  Review actions from Empty Property Strategy during 2020/21 
3.4 Building Control- meeting to be held between Exec and Head of Service 
3.5 Trade Waste- need to determine an approach with AES 

Continue to embed good 
information management practices 
through the ASSURED framework 

 The programme of Information Asset Register challenge sessions which commenced in 2019 
will re-commence in September.  Animated Privacy Notices under development for the 
website. ICT and Info Security Policy reviewed and waiting for Trades Union consideration.  

Refresh and implement the Asset 
Management Plan, including a 
review of public estate, and ensure 
adequate facilities management 
arrangements are in place 

 Individual project updates within the plan: 
14.1 Asset Management Plan- No update for Q1 
14.2 Capital programme - Ongoing with numerous sites 
14.3 HRA Capital programme - Kitchens and bathrooms are under way – full update required 
in the next 2 weeks. 
14.4 Land Disposal strategy- we have a significant plan for land disposal.  Facilities 
Management is being looked at in conjunction with Housing Repairs. 
14.5 Facilities Management Arrangements - regularise the arrangement with DCC 

Develop an Access to Services 
Strategy to ensure that Council 
services are accessible to all 

 The project will overlap with the IT/Digital strategy, a meeting has taken place with 
Transformation. Work is currently taking place to produce the outline. Once approved, the 
action plan for delivery will be over the next 3 to 4 years 

Implement the Council’s Efficiency 
and Rationalisation Programme 
(This will focus on a number of 
projects including procurement, 
income generation, trading, 
advertising and sponsorship, etc.) 

 Individual project updates within the action:  
2.1 Parish Grants- to be reviewed with the Executive 
2.2 Refresh Efficiency & Rationalisation programme- Within the medium-term financial plan. 
Possible upfront funding required to implement the programme. The initial review is to be 
presented in September 2020, the formal review as part of MTFP for March 2021 
2.3 Hybrid mail- This will be complete once fully rolled out, Sundry Debts and Rents now 
being picked up 
 
 

P
age 41



Priority Actions Status Commentary – June 
Develop a new Organisational 
Development Strategy to ensure 
effective workforce development 
and use of apprenticeships  

 Information Digest being created. The strategy will identify a number of projects for delivery 

Develop a new procurement 
strategy with a focus on spending 
money locally 

 New strategy to go to Cabinet/Exec/ALT, information digest report to go to all members.  
Formal strategy to be presented in the autumn, which will result in an action plan over the 
next 3 to 4 yrs. 

Develop a new ICT strategy to 
enhance and support the delivery of 
services 

 A report is going to ALT/Exec/Cabinet. Also, an information digest report will be sent to 
members. Individual project updates within the strategy:  
2.1 Housing management -delayed due to Covid19 and will be picked up as soon as possible 
2.2 meetings AV equipment-no update 
2.3 IPAP/Assure- reached testing stage but the software is not ready, on hold until IlAP is fit 
for purpose 
2.4 Civica Pay- ready to go, resources and timescales for implementation before year end. 
2.5 Civica Open Revenues- briefing note being developed for the customer portal 
2.6 Env Health/Licencing- no roadmap for flare implementation, collective needs to be 
completed first 
2.7 Asset Management-Concerto: PC pilot study is up and running, timeline for completion 
is the end of this year. Training planned for the full team, go live date planned for Jan 2021 
2.8 Collective- delayed due to Covid 19, resources to be allocated and will get back on track 
as soon as possible 
2.9 Committee Management- looking at production of the forward plan and the quality of 
reports. 
2.10 ICT upgrade- M365 is ongoing, Teams has been rolled out to all Heads of Service and 
Councillors, P1's to be completed in the coming weeks. RDSW10- super users are testing the 
main systems. 

Refresh the council's 
Communication Strategy in order to 
ensure there is a more effective 
dialogue and engagement with 
residents 

 A report is going to ALT/Exec/Cabinet. Also, an information digest report will be sent to 
members. 

Conduct a review of democratic 
processes and scrutiny 
arrangements to make the Council 
as open and transparent as possible 
 

 This will be reviewed before the next municipal year 

P
age 42



Priority Actions Status Commentary – June 
Review the council's Diversity 
Policies including working with faith 
and cultural groups to celebrate the 
traditions and diversity of our 
community 

 To be reviewed and refreshed in the next 12 months 

Implement the agreed Housing 
Revenue Account Business Plan 

 The HRA Business Plan has been updated and presented as part of the Budget/MTFP report.   
The Business plan action plan is completed.   
The financially sustainable position over the 30 years is based on updated financial 
information – including results of the 100% stock condition surveys. The financial position is 
being updated as part of the MTFP process. However, risks/challenges remain, so there is an 
action plan appended to the HRA Business Plan.  A meeting took place, the action plan was 
reviewed and actions agreed. 
Right to Buy and Repairs functions are being reviewed; the repairs plan is to be taken to the 
members group. Tenant participation work is to be taken forward as part of the tenant 
advisory service. Estate master plans are to be reviewed. 

 

 

 

Managing our strategic risks 

The Council has identified, assessed and is mitigating the following strategic risks under Aim Two: 

• Delivery of MTFP through the Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 
• Staff resources and retention 
• Effective contract management 
• Effective Information Governance arrangements (breach of data protection regulations) 
• Maintenance of Council's portfolio of public buildings assets  
• Investment into council assets and long-term planning 
• Financial and Legislative impacts from world events e.g. Brexit  
• Cyber risk and IT Security 

P
age 43



0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

On Track Off Track

HP Aim 3: June Results 2020/21 

Aim 3: Support economic development and regeneration  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

High Peak currently has a perfect record under Aim Three with all targets ‘on track’ as at the end of June; including 100% of major planning 
applications determined on time.          

   

Celebrating Success:     

At the end of Quarter One the following performance indicators are outstripping their targets: 

 Major, Minor and other planning applications processed on time 
 major and minor developments allowed on appeal 

 
 
 
 
 
 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

HP Aim 3: Trends June 2020/21

P
age 44



2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions Status Commentary – June 
Support the development of 
Glossop Halls 
 

 Individual project updates within the action: 
6.1 Market Hall tenant relocation is underway. 
6.2 Market Hall roof - completion expected within 12 months 
6.3 Plan for new operating model for market/town hall complex- a new operating model will 
be produced after the roof has been completed 
6.4 Plan for new operating model for Victoria Hall- a new operating model will be produced 
after the roof has been completed 
6.5 Trust arrangements- Town Hall- work is in progress 
6.6 Trust arrangements- Victoria Hall - work is in progress 

Implement the accelerated business 
growth and employment 
programme 

 Individual projects within the programme: 
5.1 Chapel Masterplan: Ongoing- no specific update for Q1. 
5.2 Dinting Employment Site-Ongoing, no specific update for Q1 

Establish a developer open space 
contributions plan. 

 This will form part of the Developer Contributions SPD which is intended to incorporate 
guidance on all forms of contributions to be sought via S106. The SPD will be commissioned 
once the ongoing consideration of the viability and merits of the Community Infrastructure 
Levy has concluded. A Viability Study for CIL is due for completion in Summer 2020 (a further 
draft report is due in June). The Council is also reviewing the wider implications of adopting a 
levy such as back-office staffing and administration requirements. The Development Services 
and Service Commissioning teams will need to collaborate on the open space aspects of the 
SPD which is intended to be commissioned to provide sufficient resource to take it forward. 
Update for Q1-Head of Development Services to advise Corporate Select committee 

Develop a Cultural Strategy to 
support and celebrate the rich 
history and culture of the Borough 

 Strategy to be produced by December, work should progress from now to do a COVID Health 
Check to identify implications and produce a plan 

Review the Council’s Growth 
strategy to ensure that it is focused 
on the effective regeneration of our 
towns and rural communities  

 Individual project updates within the strategy: 
High Peak: 
6.1 Buxton future high street fund- Expected in September 
6.2 Buxton HAZ- Progressing: a cultural survey is required, recruitment to PO post 
6.3 Buxton VES- Report being written about the adoption of the strategy 
6.4 Buxton Crescent-Issues have arisen around events, we are making sure the position has 
not changed in light of COVID. 
6.5 Glossop & Gamesley OPE- Issues have arisen around the bid/Loan ratio. we have received 
interest from the police in GMB. 
 

P
age 45



6.6 OPE depot review-Waiting for DCC to take through to Committee. 
6.7 Refreshed growth strategy-Currently on hold 
6.8 Investment & Acquisition strategy- Local Plan Housing delivery plan 
  

Review the implementation of the 
Local Plan to ensure that the 
requirements for affordable housing 
and developer contributions are 
being met 

 The review is underway, a meeting will be arranged with Policy and Regeneration 

Influencing Actions                
Work with the private sector on 
regeneration schemes including The 
Crescent and Torr Vale Mill    
 

The Crescent: The regeneration team are continuing to engage with the project via progress meetings and 
Buxton Crescent Communications plan 

Ensure the best use of public assets 
across the borough by working via 
the One Public Estate project 

Project delivery team and project board established for Glossop and Gamesley OPE. Report outlining 
Glossop and Gamesley OPE, Depot OPE (Glossop elements) and Glossop Gateway project taken to E&G 
committee in November. Awaiting clarification on grant offer and element of repayment before agreeing 
date of next meeting 

New Influencing Actions – The following actions are new to the 2019-2023 Corporate Plans. The project delivery 
mechanism for each is being set up through the Transformation Board and updates will begin as each project launches. 
 Pressing for more regular and faster rail links, public transport links and essential road infrastructure 
 Work with regional partners to extend the Greater Manchester rail offer 
 Completion of the off- road route for the Trans Pennine Trail and access to the Monsal and Tissington trails 
 Bringing additional funding into the Borough 
 Enabling high- speed internet across the Borough 

 

Managing our strategic risks 

The Council has identified, assessed and is mitigating the following strategic risks under Aim Three: 

• External funding for growth / regeneration schemes 

 

P
age 46



0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

On Track Off Track

HP Aim 4: June Results 2020/21 

 

Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

At High Peak the only ‘off track’ measure at the close of Q1 is the kg of residual waste, which is estimated at 116kg and is lower than the Q1 
2019 figure. Fly tipping became a contextual measure during the last framework review but the June data reveals significant increases 
compared to last year.             

 

Celebrating Success:     

At the end of Quarter One the following performance indicators are outstripping their targets: 

 missed bins 
 reduced paper consumption 
 estimated recycling rates 

 

    

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

HP Aim 4 : Trends June 2020/21

P
age 47



 2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions  Status Commentary – June 
Successfully deliver Phase 3 of the 
transfer of services to Alliance 
Environmental Services Ltd, to deliver 
waste, streets and ground 
maintenance services on behalf of the 
Council in order to achieve improved 
performance and value for money 
outcomes. 

 COMPLETED 
Phase 3 (streets and ground maintenance) transfer completed 1st April 2020. 
Awaiting return of IT equipment and closure report.  

Develop a climate change strategy 
and an action plan of response to a 
declared climate emergency 

 Plans to be produced by the end of the year. Ongoing projects will come out of this piece 
of work. 

Develop a Parks Development Plan to 
support the widest community use of 
parks and support 
community/friends’ groups 

 Individual project updates within the plan: 
12.1 Parks development plan to be completed this financial year- needs a consultation 
exercise 
12.2 Whitfield Play area- work has commenced will be completed in August 
12.3 Play Strategy will be produced alongside the park’s development plan 

Review the Council's waste and 
recycling arrangements to increase 
recycling and to respond to the 
emerging national strategy 

 Individual projects within the action: 
14.1/14.2 Covid has delayed central Gov't progress, expectations not expected to be 
known until 2021 
14.2 TEEP has not started, simplified assessment will be completed in the coming months.  

Review the Environmental 
Enforcement Policy in order to take 
steps to further reduce dog fouling 
and littering  

 Policies to be reviewed and updated in the next 12 months  

New Influencing Actions - The following actions are new to the 2019-2023 Corporate Plans. The project delivery 
mechanism for each is being set up through the Transformation Board and updates will begin as each project launches. 
 Develop more cycle routes whilst working with the County Council and residents to ensure harmony amongst road users 
 Encourage local organisations and businesses to reduce their carbon footprint 

 

 

 

P
age 48



 

Managing our strategic risks 

The Council has identified, assessed and is mitigating the following strategic risks under Aim Four: 

• Meeting the environmental regulatory framework (e.g. air quality and waste regs) 

• Energy supply (inc fuel) 
• Our ability to protect Buxton's natural thermal spring water 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 49



 

P
age 50



 

P
age 51



 

Areas for Improvement: June 2020 

Measure of Success (PI)  Aim / Objective Service Lead Target 
2020/21 

Result  
June 2020   

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve) 

NEW: % of initial 
homelessness applications 
opened at the prevention 

and relief duty stages 

Aim 1: Fit for purpose 
housing stock that meets 
the needs of tenants & 

residents 

Head of Housing  65% 
prevention  

40% 
prevention 
60% relief 

Continuing impact of CV19 & the backlog from the 
number of cases in the homelessness initiative 

 

NEW: % of prevention duty 
discharges resulting in a 
settled accommodation 

outcome 

 72% 67% Continuing impact of CV19 & the backlog from the 
number of cases in the homelessness initiative 

NEW: % of relief duty 
discharges resulting in a 
settled accommodation 

outcome 

 67% 63% Continuing impact of CV19 & the backlog from the 
number of cases in the homelessness initiative 

NEW: Number of TA 
placements (including B&B 
made for families) placed 

over 6 weeks 

0 1 (no 
families) 

This is a placement under the 'Everyone in' 
initiative 

Average number of jobs 
completed per operative 

per day (DLO) 

Head of Operational 
Services 

4.75 4.03 The service area is operating with limited 
resources due to the implications of COVID-19; we 
are only attending external and emergency works. 
This has had a massive negative impact on 
performance, and it will not improve until the 
service area returns to full operations. 

a) Number of RTB 
transactions (applications) 
& b) % completed within 

statutory timescales (RTB2) 

Head of Legal & 
Elections 

95% a)6 b) 4/6 
66% 

2 were accepted over the 28 days but have been 
further delayed due to no valuations being carried 
out. 

P
age 52



Measure of Success (PI)  Aim / Objective Service Lead Target 
2020/21 

Result  
June 2020   

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve) 

% of 'high risk' premises (A-
C) inspected per annum 

Aim 1: Effective provision 
of high-quality public 

amenities, clean streets 
and environmental health 

Head of 
Environmental 

Health 

100% 0% There have been no physical inspections carried 
out since 1/04 due to Covid 19. The food team will 
be operational again from 20/07 

% of routine permitted 
process premises inspected  

Head of 
Environmental 

Health 

100% 0% 
There have been no physical inspections carried 
out since 1/04 due to Covid 19. The food team will 
be operational again from 20/07 

Complaint handling: % dealt 
with within 10 working days 

Aim 2: Readily available 
services in the appropriate 

channels provided right 
first time 

Head of Customer 
Services  

97% 88% Just 8 complaints received to date, 1 late response 
relating to a very complex case involving a lengthy 
investigation - service areas reminded to provide 
complainant with an update regarding any delays 
in providing a full response  

Average time taken to re-let 
Council homes 

 

Aim 2: : More effective 
use of Council assets to 

benefit our communities 

Head of Housing   25 days 40.9 days Average time excluding hard to let (inc properties 
affected by Covid restrictions) – 11.8 days (Apr -
Jun). This month we had seven voids that were 
over target due to the current Covid 19 
restriction, including two that required major 
works.  This resulted in a loss of 322 days and a 
rent loss of £4,039.48 due to Covid.   

Collection rates: Business 
rates (% Business rates 

collected as a % of business 
rates due) 

Aim 2: Ensure our future 
financial resilience can be 

financially sustainable 
whilst offering value for 

money 

Head of Revenues 
and Benefits 

98.2% 22.51% 

Effects of Covid on income being monitored 

Collection rates: Council Tax 
(% Council tax collected as a 

% of Council tax due) 

98.2% 28.47% 

Effects of Covid on income being monitored 

P
age 53



Measure of Success (PI)  Aim / Objective Service Lead Target 
2020/21 

Result  
June 2020   

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve) 

Collection rates: Sundry 
Debt (value of SD over 60 

days) 

Aim 2: Ensure our future 
financial resilience can be 

financially sustainable 
whilst offering value for 

money 

Head of Revenues 
and Benefits 

2% reduction £270,235.18 There is over £100k outstanding due to business 
rates on hold and a large number of trade waste 
accounts which may be cancelled if the businesses 
were not trading due to the Covid 19 lockdown 

Use of Contracts Register- 
annual contract spend as% 

of gross expenditure budget 

Head of Finance 2% 
improvement 

to 19/20 

83% During the first quarter of 2020/21, the impact of 
COVID-19 Coronavirus pandemic caused 
significant disruption to the planned procurement 
exercises to be delivered during this period and 
subsequently, as a result of the situation, we 
experienced a rise in business critical sourcing 
activity which was not under formal contract. The 
planned activity (and including a number of 
pending contract awards) which were deferred 
prior and during this period are now being 
recovered and progressed for completion, which 
we anticipate will increase the amount of spend 
which is classed as ‘under contract’ 

% of Internal Audit 
recommendations 

implemented within 
timescale (snapshot at end 

of each quarter) 

Head of Internal 
Audit 

98% 49.46% 
The usual audit recommendation process was 
suspended during April-June due to the impact of 
Covid-19 but will be fully reintroduced from July 
2020. 

FOI requests: % responded 
to within statutory time 

frame (include numbers in 
commentary) 

Aim 2: Ensure our services 
are readily available to all 

our residents in the 
appropriate channels and 
provided 'right first time' 

Head of Legal & 
Elections 

95% 76.07% 
89/117 Response timescales have been affected by the 

impact of Covid 19. 

KG’s residual waste per 
household 

Aim 4: Effective recycling 
and waste management 

Head of Service 
Commissioning 

435kg 115.71kg 

  (estimate) 

Estimated figured. Result at this point in 2019-20 
was 138.73kg per household. 

 

P
age 54



  

 For a full list of all performance measures and the Q1 results please visit the Performance Management page on the Intranet or click on this link 

 

P
age 55

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/high_peak_q1_2020-21.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

8 October 2020

1. Reason for the Report

1.1     The purpose of the report is to present an updated summary version of the 
Medium-Term Financial Plan 2020/21 – 2023/24, forecasting the longer term 
impact the Coronavirus pandemic has had on the financial position of the 
Authority.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the Executive notes the forecast updated MTFP position.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The budget setting and medium term financial planning process provides the 
Council with the opportunity to plan its delivery of public services in accordance 
with local priorities. 

3.2      The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) which set out the Council’s finances 
over a four-year period, namely 2020/21 to 2023/24 was formally approved in 
February 2020.  

3.3      This resulted in a small surplus position of £127,080 on the General Fund by the 
end of 2023/24, with an overall contribution of £17,910 into reserves over the 4 
year life of the plan.  There was also a forecast surplus position of £2,061,950 
by the end of 2023/24 for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) with an overall 
contribution into reserves of £0.93million. 

3.4 However, since the MTFP was approved, the Coronavirus pandemic has had, 
and is likely to continue having an adverse impact on the Council’s financial 
position.  The financial impact is arising from additional expenditure in dealing 
with the crisis both externally and organisationally, lost income and savings 
targets that may not be met within the same timeframe due to resources being 
diverted elsewhere.

TITLE: Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 – 
2023/24- Update 

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR Cllr Alan Barrow – Executive Councillor for 
Finance & Corporate Services

CONTACT OFFICERS: Keith Pointon – Interim Head of Finance

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-Specific

Page 57

Agenda Item 5



3.5 The 2020/21 projected General Fund outturn (as per the Quarter 1 financial 
report) is currently forecasting a £0.46 million deficit.  At the end of 2019/20, the 
Council established a Covid-19 earmarked reserve specifically to support with 
the financial impact of Covid-19 totalling £200,000 - utilising part of the 2019/20 
underspend generated.  Therefore, this earmarked reserve can be drawn to 
partially cover the projected 2020/21 deficit

3.6 The HRA is forecasting a £0.7million underspend against the 2020/21 budget 
as a result of delays in the delivery of the capital programme. 

3.7 The current four year MTFP has been updated to reflect Covid-19 related 
pressures and updated economic forecasts in order to begin to understand the 
medium term financial impact.  

3.8 It is extremely difficult to forecast how long the recovery period will be and also 
what impact the economic recession will have.  The report details the 
assumptions that have been made at this point (as well as the risks), which will 
be continually under review as new information becomes available and the 
2020/21 position develops.   

3.9 At this stage, the updated MTFP highlights a General Fund deficit over the 4 
year period of £1.7million.  Utilising the Covid-19 recovery earmarked reserve 
and re-designating the pensions earmarked reserve, would result in a required 
drawdown from contingency reserves of £1,289,910, as shown below:

General Fund £
MTFP Four Year Use of Reserves requirement 1,709,910
Covid-19 Recovery earmarked Reserve 200,000
Pensions Re-designated Reserve 220,000
Balance to be funded 1,289,910
General Fund Contingency 1,289,910
Balance to be funded 0
General Fund Contingency Balance 31st March 2020 2,841,000
Drawdown over 2020/21 – 2023/24 1,289,910
Forecast General Fund Contingency Balance by 31st March 2024 1,551,090

3.10 Consequently, at the end of year 4 of the plan (2023/24) there would be an 
estimated balance of £1.551million in General Fund Contingency reserves – 
£0.219 million above the required £1.3 million minimum required balance as set 
out by the Chief Finance Officer in the MTFP approved in February 2020.

3.11 The updated MTFP illustrates a requirement to draw from reserves in year 4 of 
the plan (2023/24) whereas the position at February 2020 was a small surplus 
position at that stage.  At the next iteration of the MTFP, an additional year will 
be added to the plan to understand if the Council is back to a balanced budget 
position at that point.

3.12 If reserves are utilised as forecast to fund the deficit position, a plan would need 
to be put into place in to rebuild reserves over the longer term.

Page 58



3.13 In terms of the HRA, the financial impact of COVID-19 is expected to be less 
severe – with an overall contribution into reserves of £0.155million over the 4 
years (a £0.78million reduction compared to £0.93million as assumed in 
February 2020)  The anticipated change in the reserves position as at the end 
of year 4 of the Plan is illustrated below:

HRA £
 £
MTFP Feb 2020 - forecast reserves at period end 31st March 2024 17,310,904
MTFP September 2020 – forecast reserves at 31st March 2024 16,619,244

Potential Reduction in Reserves Balance 691,660

Represented by:
Additional expenditure 777,430
Additional contribution to Reserves from 2019/20 Outturn Position* (85,770)

Net Reduction 691,660

*not anticipated at Budget setting in Feb 2020

3.14 The updated HRA MTFP illustrates a surplus position of £2.08million by year 4 
(2023/24), very similar to the MTFP presented in February – which showed a 
£2.06million surplus in year 4.

3.15 All of the above is subject to the assumptions as detailed in sections 11-13 which 
is extremely difficult to forecast – and does not assume any further Government 
support.  These assumptions will be continually monitored.

3.16 The next iteration of the MTFP is due towards the end of the calendar year and 
then again alongside the presentation and setting of the Budget 2021/22 in 
February 2021

4.      How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the effective 
management of financial resources, which is the subject of this report.

5.       Options and Analysis

5.1  There are no options to consider at this stage.

6.  Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
The Council has been and will continue to support agencies in ensuring
compliance with social distancing regulations including the monitoring of
parks and open spaces and housing complexes.

6.2 Workforce

6.4

Page 59



The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted significantly on the working
arrangements for the Council’s employees.
The response to the pandemic has seen the following changes in working
practices:

 Where possible staff are working from home;
 Frontline staff are working safely with the appropriate PPE;
 Staff have been redeployed from time to time in order to support the

additional demand created by several new service functions, e.g.
small business and discretionary grant processing; providing support
for vulnerable people etc.
The Council has maintained and continues to maintain a good dialogue with
staff representatives and trade unions and they have and continue to be
supportive of the Councils approach.
The Council has established a recovery plan that ensures the safety of
staff as we look to reinstate services.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and 
Diversity policies.

An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken on the 
Corporate Plan, which feeds into budget plans.

6.4 Financial Considerations
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report.

6.5 Legal
There have been and continue to be a significant number of regulatory
changes during the response and recovery from the pandemic.

16.6 Climate Change
The COVID-19 response has resulted in some positive benefits in respect of
carbon reduction, including:

 Reduced employee travel during lockdown;
 Reduced energy consumption in public buildings due to building

closures and reduced use; and
 Improved air quality due to general reductions in travel.

It is important that these areas are reviewed to identify potential new ways of
working as part of the recovery process that will have a positive legacy on
the climate change challenge.
Although there is a positive environmental impact on the borough due to
reduced emissions, there has been an increase in environmental crime
which the Council is continuing to monitor and enforce if necessary.

6.7 Consultation
The Council’s annual budget plans are the subject of an annual public 
consultation exercise. 

Page 60



6.8  Risk A Risk Assessment
The pandemic has resulted in a number of risks that need to be assessed
and managed and may have a financial impact, these include:

 Inability to deliver critical services due to loss of staff,
 Inability to maintain the financial stability of the Council,
 Failure to deliver health and safety responsibilities,
 Safeguarding issues arise through the enhanced level of community

            support,
 Staff are at increased risk of the disease in certain services,
 Increased risk of fraud and cyber security,
 Lack of PPE for key workers,
 Increase in community safety issues which are difficult to respond to

           due to capacity,
 The economy is deflated post-recovery leading to ongoing economic

           problems in town centres and the broader economy,
 Increased demand on certain services e.g. Benefits and economic

           support.

Risk assessments have been completed for all services and mitigation
measures have been built into the Council’s recovery plans.
Financial risks have been identified within the report.

CLAIRE HAZELDENE
Interim Executive Director (Finance & Customer Services)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Various background working papers Keith Pointon
Interim Head of Finance
01538 395400 Ext. 4193

Page 61



7. Introduction

7.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is a key element of the Council’s 
budget and policy frameworks. It aims to ensure that resources are directed 
effectively and efficiently towards delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan. It 
describes the financial direction of the Council for planning purposes and 
outlines the financial pressures the Council is likely to experience over the next 
4 years.

7.2 The current MTFP was approved by Full Council in February 2020, and the next 
scheduled update was due for presentation in November/December 2020.

7.3 However, the Coronavirus pandemic has had, and is likely to continue having 
an adverse impact on the Council’s financial position.  The financial impact is 
arising from additional expenditure in dealing with the crisis both externally and 
organisationally, lost income and savings targets that may not be met within the 
same timeframe due to resources being diverted elsewhere.

7.4 There is concern about the longer-term financial impact this will have on the 
delivery of corporate plan objectives.  Therefore to attempt to understand and 
forecast this and to allow more time to effectively plan the longer term response, 
an early review of the MTFP has been undertaken. 

7.5 The review focuses on the current approved MTFP.  At this stage, no additional 
financial years have been added and no additional budget demand items have 
been included.  The review simply updates the current MTFP in light of the 
estimated financial impact of Covid-19.

8. Current Approved Medium Term Financial Plan

8.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) which set out the Council’s finances 
over a four-year period, namely 2020/21 to 2023/24 was formally approved in 
February 2020.  A balanced budget for 2020/21 was presented, providing for a 
net general fund budget of £10,902,470 and a net HRA budget of £15,000,350

8.2 A new financial year (2023/24) was added to the MTFP and the overall financial 
assumptions were updated for the four years. This resulted in a small surplus 
position of £127,080 on the General Fund by the end of 2023/24. An overall 
contribution of £17,910 into reserves was forecast during the 4 year life of the 
plan.

8.3 There was also a forecast surplus position of £2,061,950 by the end of 2023/24 
for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and a £0.93million contribution into 
reserves over the 4 years.  The financial forecasts for the 30-year business plan 
continued to show a significant surplus. 

8.4 The MTFP also included an updated General Fund Capital Programme of 
£19,401,020 and HRA Capital Programme of £20,295,620 over the period 
2019/20 – 2023/24.

Page 62



8.5 The report did flag the risks around the outcomes of national funding reviews 
(i.e. fair funding; business rates retention; and new homes bonus) which may 
have a detrimental impact on the future financial position.   

8.6 The forecast general fund reserves position over the life of the approved MTFP 
is shown below:-

Contingency 
Reserves

2019/20 
(£)

2020/21 
(£)

2021/22 
(£)

2022/23 
(£)

2023/24 
(£)

Balance at Year End 2,837,990 2,976,280 2,798,700 2,728,820 2,855,900
Minimum Requirement 1.203,000 1,332,000 1,332,000 1,332,000 1,332,000
Headroom 1,634,990 1,644,280 1,466,700 1,396,820 1,523,900

8.7 HRA balances were forecast to total 16.3million at the end of 2019/20.

8.8 A summary of the approved four year revenue position for the General Fund 
and HRA is shown in ANNEX A.

9. Coronavirus Pandemic – 2020/21 Impact

9.1 As a priority, the financial impact that Covid-19 would have on the current 
financial year (2020/21) was reviewed in June 2020.  This has now been 
updated as part of the Quarter 1 Financial Report, which also takes account of 
the confirmed and estimated future Government funding.

2020/21 Financial risk Assessment

9.2 A ‘Finance and Performance Impact of COVID-19’ Report was presented to 
Members on 4th June 2020.  The report attempted to forecast the impact that 
COVID-19 will have on the financial position and performance of the Council in 
2020/21.

9.3 In terms of the estimated impact on the 2020/21 financial position, a risk matrix 
was completed which listed potential financial risks – which were rated 
dependent on current status:- 

Rating Description
IMPACT EMERGING Costs already being incurred

IMPACT LIKELY Costs likely to occur – as yet unidentified

POTENTIAL RISK Remains a risk – not emerged to date

9.4 Each risk was then reviewed and an attempt made at forecasting the financial 
impact (where possible) - an ‘impact range’ of LOW – MEDIUM - HIGH was 
applied taking into account length of lockdown and recovery period

9.5 The estimated financial impact of COVID-19 on the 2020/21 budget position 
was presented as below:

Page 63



IMPACT RANGEHPBC - GF
LOW MEDIUM HIGH

IMPACT EMERGING                     646,405                 964,463          1,516,740 

IMPACT LIKELY                     332,870                 566,465             851,173 

POTENTIAL RISK 72,765                 191,062             472,648 

TOTAL                1,052,040              1,721,990          2,840,561 

IMPACT RANGEHPBC - HRA
LOW MEDIUM HIGH

IMPACT EMERGING                     4,320                      6,320                   8,320 

IMPACT LIKELY (33,400) 13,200 84,800

POTENTIAL RISK                  82,500                  132,000                198,000 

TOTAL 53,420                  151,520                291,120 

Quarter 1 Financial Update

9.6 The 2020/21 forecast has been updated as part of the Quarter 1 financial update 
(see separate report on this agenda).  

9.7 In summary, the Quarter 1 financial update forecasts a £460,000 General Fund 
deficit for 2020/21 after taking into account Covid-19 related funding.  The deficit 
is mainly due to the impact from losses in fees and charges income, additional 
costs in supporting the operation of the leisure centres, waste collection, 
additional cleaning and a potential shortfall in realising efficiency savings.

9.8 When establishing the 2020/21 budget, it included a contribution into general 
fund contingency reserves of £0.14million.  Therefore, the forecast deficit 
position results in a variance to this assumption of £0.46 million – with an overall 
£0.32 million use of reserves. 

9.9 However, at the end of 2019/20, the Council established a Covid-19 earmarked 
reserve specifically to support with the financial impact of Covid-19 totalling 
£200,000 - utilising part of the 2019/20 underspend generated.

9.10 Therefore, this reserve will be used to partially fund any 2020/21 in year deficit.  
Based on the quarter 1 projection, the full £200,000 would be drawn.

9.11 The Quarter 1 financial update projects a £0.749million underspend against the 
2020/21 HRA budget (largely as a result of a delay in the delivery of the capital 
programme), and is showing no significant adverse financial impact of Covid-19 
in terms of loss of income/additional costs as yet.

9.12 The 2020/21 financial position will be monitored and updated throughout the 
year taking into account the actual recovery of income levels and services and 
any further updates on Government funding.

Page 64



Government Covid-19 Funding

9.13 On 2nd July 2020, the Secretary of State for the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) announced a package of 
financial support for local government, providing three central pillars of support:

COVID-19 related expenditure
- An overall £4.3 billion non ring-fenced allocation.  The Council has so far 

received three allocations of non-ringfenced funding from Government 
totalling £1,096,350.  The allocations reflect the factors from which the 
MHCLG monthly data returns (as completed by each Local Authority) 
correlate most closely with expenditure.  The allocations also take account 
of population, deprivation and the way that service costs vary across the 
country.

- A further £170,000 towards the additional costs of the administration of the 
business grants process.  

Irrecoverable income loss
- Recognises that Councils have lost a great deal of income from sales, fees 

and charges (SFC) since the start of the pandemic.
- Reimbursements of lost income where these losses are more than 5% of 

planned income - Government will fund 75p in every pound.  The income 
scheme will cover transactional income from the delivery of services which 
is unavoidably irrecoverable – this will be the net loss. The 5% deductible 
will be based on total SFC’s budgets - it is not a line by line analysis. No 
forms of commercial income will be covered by this scheme.  

Losses in tax revenue
- Tax deficits can be repaid over three years rather than the usual one
- There is uncertainty at this point how much tax loss will materialise, so the 

government will agree a fair apportionment of irrecoverable council tax and 
business rates losses, between central and local government, for 2020 to 
2021.

9.14 The table below provides a summary of Government funding (confirmed and 
estimated) 

Covid Grant Support HPBC

Page 65



  £ 
Covid 19 General Support- Phase 1          41,700 
Covid 19 General Support- Phase 2        918,183 
Covid 19 General Support- Phase 3        136,467 
Covid 19 Grants Admin Support        170,000 
Covid 19 Income Loss Support (est)        280,020 

General Support     1,546,370 
Covid 19 Track & Trace (via County) 50,000 
Covid 19 Rough Sleepers Initiative           1,650 

Service Specific Support          51,650 

Total  
      

1,598,020 

9.15 The 2020/21 position will be monitored regularly and formally reported to 
Members as part of the usual quarterly financial reporting process.   Finance 
will be working with Services on a monthly basis to assess the 2020/21 position.

10. Coronavirus Pandemic - Medium Term Financial Plan Impact

10.1 Whilst the Council appears to be in a position to offset the majority of the impact 
of COVID-19 on the 2020/21 budget via Government funding and use of 
reserves, there is concern about the longer-term financial impact this will have 
on the delivery of corporate plan objectives.  

10.2 Therefore, a review of the current MTFP has been undertaken to estimate any 
significant changes to the 4 year forecast as a result of the impact of Covid-19.  
The following sections of this report will focus on the four key areas which form 
part of the MTFP:

 Transformation Programme
 Financial Forecasts
 Funding & Income Generation
 Risks, Contingencies & Reserves

11. Transformation Programme

11.1 The key areas of review within the Transformation programme include:-
 Reprofiling of Capital Programme forecasts
 Update of land disposal forecasts – time line and estimated values
 Treasury management implications of capital programme and economic 

changes
 Review of current Efficiency plan – remaining savings profile and any 

potential reversal of savings already achieved
 Impact on major contracts 

11.2 The table below details the changes made as a result of Covid-19 and 
assumptions that have been taken in making those changes:-

Transformation 
Programme

Covid-19 Changes / Assumptions Financial Impact (£’000’s)

Capital 
Programme – 
General Fund

The General Fund capital programme has been 
reviewed to understand the impact Covid-19 has 

CAPITAL SPEND IMPACT:
Year 1 decrease (£1,850,560)
Year 2 decrease (£1,218,640)

Page 66



had on delivery of the approved programme.  Some 
projects have inevitably been delayed due to the 
lockdown period, social distancing measures and 
contractor availability.
Consequently the capital programme has been re-
profiled.   Overall capital expenditure over the four 
year period has decreased by (£955,480) after 
taking account of the approved carry forward of 
£385,670 from 2019/20,   The majority of the 
variance relates  to (£953,190) fleet acquisitions 
rolled forward  into 2024/25.  The updated general 
fund capital programme, with a comparison to the 
programme approved in February 2020 is detailed 
in ANNEX B

Year 3 increase £1,965,880
Year 4 increase £147,840

Capital 
Programme - 
HRA

The HRA capital programme has been reviewed to 
understand the impact Covid-19 has had on 
delivery of the approved programme.  Some 
projects have inevitably been delayed due to the 
lockdown period, social distancing measures and 
contractor availability.
Consequently the capital programme has been re-
profiled.  Overall capital expenditure over the four 
year period has actually increased by £708,000 
after taking into account the approved carry forward 
of £120,000 from 2019/20. The variance consists of 
£300,000 additional budget for the Gamesley 
Cladding scheme; an additional £90,000 to support 
the purchase of repairs vehicles; an additional 
£280,000 for a new scheme to upgrade fire alarm 
systems in various sheltered blocks; other minor 
projected outturn variances £38,000 
The updated HRA capital programme, with a 
comparison to the programme approved in 
February 2020 is detailed in ANNEX B

CAPITAL SPEND IMPACT:
Year 1 decrease (£765,150)  
Year 2  increase £1,278,150 
Year 3 increase  £195,000
Year 4 no impact

Capital 
Programme 
Funding

In light of Covid-19, the capital receipts forecast 
from the Land Disposal Strategy have been 
reviewed to incorporate any delays in realisation. At 
this stage, no significant changes to the value of 
receipts has been included, as it is still too early to 
understand the impact the pandemic and 
subsequent recession may have on land values.  
As a result of re-profiling, less receipts are forecast 
in 2020/21 and 2021/22 offset by increased levels 
in the last two years.  Overall due to the reduction 
in General Fund capital expenditure in 2020/21 and 
2021/22, (£335,350) fewer capital receipts are 
required to support funding.
The HRA capital programme is fully funded from 
reserves.

The changes made to the capital programmes have 
resulted in a reduction of (£580,220) in external 
borrowing requirements over the next four years; 

Capital Funding Impact on 
External Borrowing
Year 1 decrease (£1,071,880)
Year 2 increase £512,930
Year 3 nil impact
Year 4 decrease  (£21,250)

Overall reduction of 
(£580,200) 

Page 67



with nil borrowing forecast in years 2022/23 & 
2023/24 
 

Treasury 
Management 
implications of 
capital 
programme 
changes 

The treasury management implications have also 
been updated to take account of both the re-
profiled capital programme and land disposal 
programme.

Consequently, borrowing costs have reduced due 
to slippage in the capital programme and overall 
reduced borrowing requirement.  Year 1 (2020/21) 
remains unchanged at this point as the majority of 
the borrowing costs budget relates to the borrowing 
requirement from previous years.

REVENUE SPEND IMPACT
Year 1  no impact
Year 2  £4,260 decrease
Year 3  £27,930 decrease
Year 4  £46,200 decrease

Efficiency 
Programme 
Review

When setting the MTFP in February, there 
remained a £0.505 million savings target to be 
achieved in 2020/21.  Following additional savings 
that were realised in quarter 4 of 2019/20, the 
overall target remaining has been reduced to 
£352,000 (£257,000 targeted in 2020/21, £95,000 
targeted in 2021/22)
At quarter 1 stage, it is assumed that the 2020/21 
target of £257,000 will not be achieved due to 
Covid-19 pressures (this will be monitored during 
the year) – which is built into the projected outturn 
of a £460,000 deficit.  
It is proposed that the Covid-19 recovery 
earmarked reserve will partially fund the estimated 
shortfall in 2020/21. 
At this stage it is proposed to move the 2020/21 
target into 2021/22, resulting in a savings target in 
2021/22 of £352,000. 
The Covid-19 recovery phase and impact on the 
Council’s financial position is forecast at this stage 
to continue into 2021/22 (if not longer).  Therefore it 
is recognised that there is a risk that the 
£0.35million saving target in 2021/22 may not be 
fully met.  However, there are significant savings 
planned for realisation in the next 12 months in 
regard to fleet procurement.
In addition, the Council has an earmarked reserve 
established to support with any re-profiling 
requirements of the efficiency programme with 
£200,000 currently set aside.  Therefore, if there 
was a shortfall in achieving savings in 2021/22, this 
reserve could be drawn

REVENUE IMPACT
Year 1  £257,000 shortfall
Year 2  (£257,000) increase
Year 3 no impact
Year 4 no impact

Page 68



Major Contracts One of the major cost pressures as a result of 
Covid-19 has been the impact on some of the 
Council’s major contracts.

Leisure Centres & Pavilion Gardens
Financial support has been provided in regard to 
the Council’s leisure centres and Pavilion Gardens 
operation during the lockdown and recovery period 
– which at this stage is assumed to be until the end 
of 2020/21.  The leisure centre operation has seen 
income receipts wiped out during the period the 
centres were closed and is forecasting slow 
recovery phase as footfall is reduced in the early 
stages of recovery to maintain social distancing 
and facilities are opened on a phased basis. An 
estimated £628,000 spend pressure is currently 
assumed in 2020/21. 
Recognising that recovery may be prolonged and 
income levels may not reach pre-Covid levels in the 
near future, a £340,000 growth item has been built 
into the MTFP in 2021/22 – but then removed from 
2022/23.
Alliance Environmental Services
The Council owned company has experienced cost 
pressures in regard to additional agency and 
overtime costs to enable social distancing and 
additional cleaning and personal protective 
equipment – this is forecast at an additional 
£200,000 in 2020/21 and £50,000 in 2021/22.  
Facilities Management
Enhanced cleaning regimes have been put into 
place in public buildings and public conveniences, 
increasing costs in 2020/21 by approximately 
£25,000.  This is assumed to continue into 
2021/22.

REVENUE SPEND IMPACT
Year 1  £854,000 increase
Year 2  £410,000 increase
Year 3 no impact
Year 4 no impact

12. Financial Forecasts

12.1 A review of financial forecasts includes:-
 Updated interest rate forecasts
 Updated inflationary projections
 Any pensions impact relating to economic changes
 Estimation of any additional medium term costs of COVID recovery:

- Reinstating Services
- Economic recovery
- Community recovery

 Potential financial savings developing from new ways of working in 
accordance with recovery plan stream:-
- Taking advantage of the positive legacy

12.2 The table below details the changes made as a result of Covid-19 and 
assumptions that have been taken in making those changes:-

Page 69



Financial 
Forecasts

Covid-19 Changes / Assumptions Financial Impact (£’000’s)

Interest 
Rates

When setting the MTFP in February, it was assumed 
that interest rates would be increasing to 1.00% in 
the quarter ending March 2021 with no further 
increases until June 2022. However, the Bank of 
England reduced the base rate in March 2020 to 
0.1%
This took into account the known situation with 
regard to coronavirus at the time and its potential 
impact on economies around the world. The 
Council’s Treasury advisors have updated their 
forecast to assume the base rate will remain at this 
level for 2 years.
Consequently the cost of borrowing and the return 
on cash investments has reduced.

GENERAL FUND REVENUE 
NET INCOME IMPACT:
Year 1  £61,280 decrease
Year 2  £108,720 decrease
Year 3  £196,810 decrease
Year 4  £218,420 decrease

HRA IMPACT
Year 1  no impact
Year 2  £14,980 decrease
Year 3  £42,760 decrease
Year 4  £16,850 decrease

Inflation The inflationary effects of Covid-safe working 
arrangements will feed through the system as 
increased supplies and service costs as contracts 
are renewed and uplifted.

REVENUE SPEND IMPACT:
Year 1  £20,000 increase
Year 2  £30,000 increase
Year 3  no further impact
Year 4  no further impact

Pensions The impacts of Covid19 are not expected to have an 
effect on pension contribution rates at this stage. 
The Fund was revalued in 2019 and is not due 
another formal revaluation until 2022. The long term 
nature of Pension Fund forecasting means the 
impacts of short term financial shocks are mitigated. 
This situation will continue to be monitored following 
the outcome of this next valuation.

The Council carries an earmarked reserve for 
Pension purposes, which was originally set up to 
meet extraordinary pension costs outside of the 
actuarial valuation process. It has become obsolete 
having never been used for this purpose and is 
potentially available for re-designation. This will be 
reviewed alongside all other earmarked reserves 
and Third Party funds.

No impact assumed

Additional 
cost 
pressures of 
Covid-19

In addition to the more significant areas of additional 
spend pressures, there are other service areas that 
are seeing additional cost pressures.  For example, 
Homelessness and additional costs incurred in 
providing teleconferencing / video conferencing 
facilities and overtime associated with undertaking 
extended duties and dealing with backlogs of work.

Whilst these pressures are being seen in 2020/21, it 
is difficult to forecast if this will continue or even 
increase into future years as the impact of recession 
is seen within the Borough.
Therefore at this stage, no additional cost pressures 
are included in year 2 – 4 of the MTFP.  This will be 
reviewed later in the year.

GENERAL FUND REVENUE 
SPEND IMPACT:
Year 1  £50,000
Year 2  no impact
Year 3  no impact
Year 4  no impact

HRA IMPACT
Year 1  £25,000
Year 2  no impact
Year 3  no impact
Year 4  no impact

Page 70



Potential 
Savings 
arising from 
Covid 
recovery

There have been some savings developing during 
2020/21 as a result of the lockdown restrictions that 
were imposed.  Travel costs, utilities, reduced 
postage and print and reduced general expenditure 
(through stalled projects) have generated to offset 
some of the financial pressures being incurred.
The ‘taking advantage of the positive legacy’ work 
stream of the Covid-19 Recovery project will focus 
on how some of the benefits can be embedded 
going forward.   
Any financial savings realised as a result of this will 
be offset against the remaining efficiency 
programme targets.

REVENUE INCOME 
IMPACT:
Year 1  (£50,000)
Year 2  no impact
Year 3  no impact
Year 4  no impact

Any savings delivered, to 
be realised against the 
Efficiency Programme.

13. Funding & Income Generation

13.1 The key areas of funding and income generation include:
 Council Tax, Business Rates and Housing Rents collection 
 Impact on the Collection Fund
 Income from Government Grants
 Longer term impact on fees and charges income

13.2 The table below details the changes made as a result of Covid-19 and 
assumptions that have been taken in making those changes:-

Funding & 
Income 

Generation

Covid-19 Changes / Assumptions Financial Impact 
(£’000’s)

Council Tax The Government announced that it will extend the period 
over which Councils must manage shortfalls in Council 
Tax income relating to 2020/21, compared to expected 
levels from the usual one year to three years.  This is 
intended to ease immediate pressures on Councils when 
budget setting for 2021/22, protecting their ability to 
deliver essential local services.   The Council has seen a 
significant increase in the volume of Local Council Tax 
Support applications, which reduces the collectable 
Council Tax creating a Collection Fund deficit.  However, 
the increase in empty property premium implemented 
from April 2020, has offset some of this impact.
There is also a risk associated with non-payment, with 
some households potentially struggling to meet 
instalments. Collection Rates for 2020/21 are behind 
what they normally are, however this is currently largely 
distorted by deferred payment plans and stalled 
recovery.  
Having said that, it is recognised that there will be an 
impact on collection rates in 2020/21.  However, the 
financial impact will only be realised if outstanding debts 
are not collected in the near term and are subsequently 
written off.  This will be considered in future iterations.

REVENUE INCOME 
IMPACT:
Year 1  no impact
Year 2  £60,000 decrease
Year 3  £60,000 decrease
Year 4  £60,000 decrease

There is an overall 
£180,000 forecast 
increase in the 
Collection Fund deficit 
as a result of Covid-19 
on the 2020/21 position - 
to be charged over a 3 
year period

Page 71



Business 
Rates

Extended Retail Relief was announced by Government in 
March 2020 which awarded full Business Rates relief to 
all retail, hospitality and leisure related businesses. It is 
unknown at this stage if the extended Retail Relief will 
continue into 2021/22.  Either way, the Council would 
either be reimbursed via Government grant or the 
amount would be collectable from businesses.
However, as a result of Covid-19 and the impact 
recession and social distancing measures are having on 
businesses, there is a risk that the Borough may see a 
reduction in the business tax base and therefore 
business rates retention
No assumptions on a reduced business rates base have 
been included in this version of the MTFP, this will be 
considered at the next iteration.
There is also a risk associated with non-payment, with 
businesses potentially struggling to meet instalments.  
Collection Rates for 2020/21 are behind what they 
normally are, however this is currently largely distorted 
by deferred / changed payments plans and stalled 
recovery.  

Having said that, it is recognised that there will be an 
impact on collection rates in 2020/21.  However, the 
financial impact will only be realised if outstanding debts 
are not collected in the near term and are subsequently 
written off.  This will be considered in future iterations.

REVENUE INCOME 
IMPACT:
Year 1  no impact
Year 2  £1,091,000*
Year 3  £1,091,000*
Year 4  £1,091,000*

*There is an overall 
£3,273,000 forecast 
increase in the 
Collection Fund deficit 
as a result of the 
extension to Retail Relief 
- to be charged over a 3 
year period.  The deficit 
is to be funded from 
upfront Government 
funding received in 
2020/21 to cover the 
extended reliefs.

Housing 
Rent

The collection of rent income has not been too adversely 
affected; the level of arrears has remained fairly stable 
during the first quarter with the main impact being a small 
rent loss of £9,500 due to the inability to assign tenancies 
during the lock down period. 

REVENUE INCOME 
IMPACT:
Year 1  £9,500 decrease
Year 2  no impact
Year 3  no impact
Year 4  no impact

Government 
Grants

The Council has received Government funding towards 
Covid-19 pressures during 2020/21.  This has included 
non-ringfenced grants, specific grants (for additional 
services provided such as the administration of the 
grants process) and partial reimbursement of 
irrecoverable fees and charges income.

It is assumed at this stage that this funding will not 
continue into future years

REVENUE INCOME 
IMPACT:
Year 1 £1,546,180 increase
Year 2  no impact
Year 3  no impact
Year 4  no impact

Fees & 
Charges

The assumed annual increase in base income has been 
suspended for years 2 and 3 of the plan, whilst fees and 
charges income levels recover from the Covid19 shock.
The MTFP has been updated to reflect anticipated 
income losses being suffered in 2020/21 arising out of 
the Covid19 outbreak. 
The service areas affected include car parking, planning, 
markets, summons, trade waste, pest control. The MTFP 
anticipates recovery of these income levels over years 2 
and 3 of the Plan. By year 4 it is assumed that income 
levels will be back at pre-Covid19 levels.

REVENUE INCOME 
IMPACT:
Year 1  no impact
Year 2  £40,000 decrease
Year 3  £40,000 decrease
Year 4  no impact

Year 1 £1,035,890 decrease
Year 2 £950,960 increase
Year 3  £50,000 increase
Year 4  no impact

Page 72



14. Updated Revenue Position

14.1 Based on the above updated forecasts, the updated revenue forecast for both 
the general fund and HRA is summarised below.

General Fund Revenue Summary

General Fund 2020/21  
Projection

2021/22  
Projection

2022/23  
Projection

2023/24  
Projection

 £ £ £ £
Employees 10,599,460 10,784,110 11,010,610 11,234,790
Premises 4,274,230 4,322,520 4,388,380 4,455,340
Transport 404,900 408,120 413,220 418,380
Supplies & Services 10,263,840 10,029,700 9,742,890 9,889,850
Benefits          82,460          82,460          82,460         82,460
Borrowing 1,837,940 1,793,930 1,818,490 1,849,190
Parish Grant re Council Tax Support 51,320 51,320 51,320 51,320
Financing Costs 22,130 22,130 22,130 22,130
Total Expenditure 27,536,280 27,494,290 27,529,500 28,003,460
     
Fees and Charges / Other Income   (5,928,220)   (6,923,880)  (7,053,080)   (7,093,080)
Interest Receipts      (160,000)        (61,700)        (59,200)       (82,370)
HRA Recharges   (8,027,720)   (8,202,660)  (8,382,800)   (8,562,770)
Capital Recharges      (231,240)      (231,240)     (231,240)      (231,240)
Net Expenditure 13,189,100 12,074,810 11,803,180 12,034,000
     

Council Tax   (6,051,540)   (6,230,240)   (6,409,480)   (6,595,350)
Revenue Support Grant   (1,546,180) -                 - -
Business Rates Retention   (3,797,710)   (3,895,340)   (4,014,280)   (4,157,700)
New Homes Bonus      (647,250)      (647,250)      (647,250)      (647,250)
Contribution to / (use of) Reserves        (88,940)          (1,640)          (1,640)         (1,640)
Contribution to / (use of) Balances - - - -
Collection Fund      (455,320)          24,730          23,060         23,750
Total Financing (12,586,940) (10,749,740) (11,049,590) (11,378,190)
     
Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus)        602,160     1,325,070        753,590        655,810
Efficiency Requirement (cumulative)      (142,680)      (494,680)      (494,680)      (494,680)
Deficit / (Surplus)        459,480        830,390        258,910        161,130
     
Cumulative Deficit (call on reserves)        459,480     1,289,870     1,548,780     1,709,910
     

14.2 The MTFP approved in February 2020 included an assumed £17,910 contribution 
into reserves over the four year life of the Plan.  In order to balance the updated 
MTFP position, there would now need to be an overall £1,709,910 use of 
reserves

Page 73



Housing Revenue Account Summary

HRA 2020/21 
Projection

2021/22 
Projection

2022/23 
Projection

2023/24 
Projection

 £ £ £ £
Repairs &  Maintenance 4,314,020 4,395,830 4,494,570 4,593,550
Supervision & Management 2,627,450 2,676,560 2,736,960 2,796,950
Rent, Rates, Taxes & Other Charges 113,030 113,030 113,030 113,030
Other Operating Expenditure 761,310 784,150 808,040 831,980
Depreciation & Impairment Charges 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030
Interest & Debt Management Charges 2,746,340 2,724,540 2,715,870 2,688,300
HRA Contribution to Capital Programme 2,532,910 3,574,180 3,252,570 666,030
Total Expenditure 15,194,090 16,367,320 16,220,070 13,788,870

Dwelling Rents (14,370,910) (14,654,780) (14,943,860) (15,238,230)
Non-Dwelling Rents & Other Income (629,440) (629,440) (629,440) (629,440)
Total Income (15,000,350) (15,284,220) (15,573,300) (15,867,670)

(Surplus) / Deficit for year 193,740 1,083,100 646,770 (2,078,800)

Cumulative (contribution to) / use of reserves 193,740 1,276,840 1,923,610 (155,190)

14.3  The MTFP approved in February 2020 included an assumed £932,620 
contribution into HRA reserves over the four year life of the Plan.  In order to 
balance the updated MTFP position, there would now be a reduced contribution 
into reserves of £155,190.

15. Risks, Contingencies & Use of Reserves

15.1 When setting the Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan in February 2020, 
the general fund contingency reserves balance as at 31st March 2020 was 
estimated to total £2.838 million.

15.2 The 2019/20 provisional outturn position highlighted a £295,000 surplus – of 
which £200,000 was set aside specifically to fund COVID-19 recovery activities.  
After other earmarked reserves movements, the general fund contingency 
balance as at 31st March 2020 was £2.841million (just slightly higher than 
forecast in the MTFP presented in February).  

15.3 The Council carries reserves as a contingency for situations where risks cannot 
be fully mitigated. Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the 
Chief Finance Officer (CFO) to report on the robustness of the estimates 
included in the budget and the adequacy of the reserves that the budget 
provides.

15.4 While there is no detailed guidance on calculating the level of general reserves, 
the Council is encouraged to take into account the strategic, operational and 
financial risks facing the Council. These amounts are then moderated to 
acknowledge the likelihood of all risk events occurring together.  When setting 
the Budget in February, the minimum level of general fund contingency reserves 
required was set at £1,332,000

Page 74



15.5 In additional to utilising the £0.2million COVID-19 earmarked reserve (and 
proposed re-designation of the £0.220million Pensions earmarked reserve) in 
offsetting the impact in the current financial year, the Council could utilise 
contingency reserves of approximately £1.5 million, which would leave the 
contingency balance just above the minimum required amount of £1.3 million 
over the life of the current MTFP.   

15.6 The updated MTFP currently shows a forecast cumulative deficit position of 
£1.710million over the four years – which represents the required use of 
reserves in order to balance the 4 year plan.    Utilising the Covid-19 recovery 
reserve and potential re-designation of the Pension reserves (as discussed in 
para. 12.2) would leave £1.290 million to be funded from General Fund 
Contingency reserves:

£
MTFP Four Year Use of Reserves requirement 1,709,910
Covid-19 Recovery earmarked Reserve (200,000)
Pensions Re-designated Reserve (220,000)
Balance to be funded 1,289,910
General Fund Contingency (1,289,910)
Balance to be funded 0
General Fund Contingency Balance 31st March 2020 2,841,000
Drawdown over 2020/21 – 2023/24 (1,289,910)
Forecast General Fund Contingency Balance by 31st March 2024 1,551,090
Forecast General Fund Contingency Balance by 31st March 2024 as at Feb 2020 2,855,900

15.7 At the end of year 4 of the plan (2023/24) there would be an estimated balance 
of £1.551million in General Fund Contingency reserves – which would be 
£0.219 million above the required £1.3 million minimum balance.

15.8 The updated MTFP illustrates a requirement to draw from reserves in year 4 of 
the plan (2023/24) whereas the position at February 2020 was a surplus position 
at that stage.  At the next iteration of the MTFP, an additional year will be added 
to the plan to understand if the Council is back to a balanced budget position at 
that point

15.9 If reserves are utilised as forecast to fund the deficit position, a plan would need 
to be put into place in to rebuild reserves over the longer term.

15.10 In terms of the HRA, the financial impact of COVID-19 is expected to be less 
severe, and the HRA has sufficient reserves to cover this certainly in the 
medium term. There may be a longer term impact on the HRA business plan 
which will be considered as part of the MTFP update to be presented in 
February 2021.  The anticipated change in the reserves position as at the end 
of year 4 of the Plan is illustrated below:

Page 75



HRA Reserves
2023/24 

Projection
 £
MTFP Feb 2020 - forecast reserves at period end 31st March 2024 17,310,904
MTFP September 2020 – forecast reserves at 31st March 2024 16,619,244
Potential Reduction in Reserves Balance 691,660

Represented by:
Net additional expenditure 777,430
Additional contribution to Reserves from 2019/20 Outturn Position* (85,770)
Net Reduction 691,660

*not anticipated at Budget setting in Feb 2020

15.11 The updated HRA MTFP illustrates a surplus position of £2.08million by year 4, 
very similar to the MTFP presented in February – which showed a £2.06million 
surplus in year 4

15.12 All of the above is subject to the assumptions as detailed in sections 11-13 
which is extremely difficult to forecast – and does not assume any further 
Government support.  These assumptions will be continually monitored.

Risk Identification and Management

15.13 The early identification and management of risks is critical to the Medium Term 
Financial Planning process. Risks are assessed, mitigated and actively 
managed to ensure that the Council delivers its services effectively within the 
funding at its disposal. The principal risks to the Medium Term Financial Plan 
are summarised in ANNEX C.

15.14 Risk areas will be closely monitored and reviewed on an on-going basis and 
remedial action taken as appropriate.  Risks associated with specific projects 
will be identified within the project methodology documents and reviewed 
monthly by the Transformation Board.

15.15 The table below highlights specific financial risks that are embedded within the 
Medium Term Financial Plan: 

Revenue Risks Capital Risks
 Inflationary assumptions
 Interest rates
 Revenue consequences of capital
 Housing benefits
 Fees and charges
 Universal Credit
 Business Rates Retention scheme
 Council Tax collection
 Housing Rent
 New Homes Bonus
 Financial benefits from partnerships / 

shared services
 Pension costs
 Insurance costs
 Waste management costs
 Brexit implications

 Interest rates 
 External funding
 Capital receipts
 Capacity to deliver capital 

programme
 Project overspend
 Project overrun
 External factors (e.g. planning 

objections, judicial reviews etc. 
leading to project delay)

 Suppliers / Contractors / 
Contract Management

 Weather 
 Brexit implications

Page 76



15.16 In addition, there are a number of Covid-19 related financial risks to the MTFP 
to be regularly reviewed and considered:-

 The impact that a recession may have on Council Tax, Business Rates 
and Housing Rent collection and increased risk of non-payment which is 
not subsequently collected

 The period of recovery is prolonged which has further cost pressure 
consequences for the Council – especially in regard to the operation of 
leisure centres

 Fees and Charges income levels do not return to pre-Covid levels as 
forecast

 The economy is deflated post-recovery leading to ongoing economic 
problems in town centres and the broader economy, as well as 
community safety issues, which lead to increased cost pressures

 Increased demand on certain services e.g. Benefits and economic 
support.

 A local or second national lockdown is imposed which leads to further 
pressures on businesses and households and additional costs to the 
Council in providing support

16. Future MTFP Updates

16.1 The next iteration of the MTFP is due towards the end of the calendar year and 
then again alongside the presentation and setting of the Budget 2021/22 in 
February 2021.

16.2 The forecasts will be updated to reflect latest information, intelligence and 
monthly in year actuals and an additional year will be added to the plan.  In year 
financial performance will be closely monitored within the quarterly financial 
reports.

Page 77



ANNEX A

Approved General Fund Revenue Budget (approved February 2020)

Budget Heading
2020/21  

Projection
2021/22  

Projection
2022/23  

Projection
2023/24  

Projection
 £ £ £ £
Employees 10,599,460 10,784,110 11,010,610 11,234,790
Premises 4,274,230 4,322,520 4,388,380 4,455,340
Transport 404,900 408,120 413,220 418,380
Supplies & Services 9,412,780 9,516,280 9,665,170 9,812,130
Benefits            82,460          82,460          82,460         82,460
Borrowing 1,837,940 1,905,240 1,900,580 1,860,010
Parish Grant re Council Tax Support 51,320 51,320 51,320 51,320
Financing Costs 22,130 22,130 22,130 22,130
     
Total Expenditure 26,685,220 27,092,180 27,533,870 27,936,560
     
Fees and Charges / Other Income      (6,964,110)   (7,048,810)    (7,168,010)   (7,208,010)
Interest Receipts         (160,000)      (207,500)       (255,000)      (302,500)
HRA Recharges      (8,027,720)   (8,202,660)    (8,382,800)   (8,562,770)
Capital Recharges         (231,240)      (231,240)       (231,240)      (231,240)
     
Net Expenditure 11,302,150 11,401,970 11,496,820 11,632,040
     
Council Tax      (6,051,540)   (6,230,240)    (6,409,480)   (6,595,350)
Revenue Support Grant                    0                  0                  0                 0
Business Rates Retention      (3,797,710)   (3,871,870)    (3,990,210)   (4,137,210)
New Homes Bonus         (647,250)      (647,250)       (647,250)      (647,250)
Contribution to / (use of) Reserves          (88,940)          (1,640)          (1,640)         (1,640)
Contribution to / (use of) Balances           138,290      (177,580)        (69,880)        127,080
Collection Fund         (455,320)        (35,410)        (37,080)       (36,390)
     

Total Financing    (10,902,470)
 

(10,963,990)  (11,155,540) (11,290,760)
     
Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus)           399,680        437,980         341,280        341,280
     
Efficiency Requirement (cumulative)         (399,680)      (437,980)       (341,280)      (341,280)
     
Deficit / (Surplus)                    0                  0                  0                 0
     

Page 78



Approved Housing Revenue Budget (approved February 2020)

2020/21 
Projection

2021/22 
Projection

2022/23 
Projection

2023/24 
Projection

 £ £ £ £
Repairs &  Maintenance 4,299,300 4,395,830 4,494,570 4,593,550
Supervision & Management 2,618,150 2,676,560 2,736,960 2,796,950
Rent, Rates, Taxes & Other 
Charges 113,030 113,030 113,030 113,030
Other Operating Expenditure 761,310 784,150 808,040 831,980
Depreciation & Impairment 
Charges 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030
Interest & Debt Management 
Charges 2,746,340 2,739,520 2,758,630 2,705,150
HRA Contribution to Capital 
Programme 3,178,060 2,296,030 3,057,570 666,030
Total Expenditure 15,815,220 15,104,150 16,067,830 13,805,720

Dwelling Rents (14,370,910) (14,654,780) (14,943,860) (15,238,230)
Non-Dwelling Rents & Other 
Income (629,440) (629,440) (629,440) (629,440)
Total Income (15,000,350) (15,284,220) (15,573,300) (15,867,670)

(Surplus) / Deficit for year 814,870 (180,070) 494,530 (2,061,950)

 

Page 79



ANNEX B

Updated General Fund Capital Programme

Service Area 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total 
 £ £ £ £ £
Housing 667,000 374,000 504,000 504,000 2,049,000
Asset Management 1,668,340 1,524,690 1,950,820 2,185,120 7,328,970
Housing Grants 519,110 489,110 489,110 489,110 1,986,440
ICT Strategy 118,160 67,050 50,000 50,000 285,210
Fleet Management             -   633,000 725,780 172,000 1,530,780
Other Schemes 213,250 59,040 50,000             -   322,290
Total Revised Programme 3,185,860 3,146,890 3,769,710 3,400,230 13,502,690
Original Programme 5,036,420 4,365,530 1,803,830 3,252,390 14,458,170
Change increase (decrease) (1,850,560) (1,218,640) 1,965,880 147,840 (955,480)
Financed by:-      
External Contributions 519,110 489,110 489,110 489,110 1,986,440
Planning Obligations 43,000             -               -               -   43,000
Capital Receipts(Land)             -   812,180 2,744,100 2,388,370 5,944,650
Capital Receipts( one for one) 667,000 374,000 504,000 504,000 2,049,000
Capital Receipts (Vehicles)             -               -   32,500      18,750 51,250
Capital Reserves 100,000             -               -               -   100,000
Earmarked Reserves 64,450             -               -               -   64,450
Borrowing 1,792,300 1,471,600             -               -   3,263,900
Total   Revised Financing 3,185,860 3,146,890 3,769,710 3,400,230 13,502,690
Original Programme 5,036,420 4,365,530 1,803,830 3,252,390 14,458,170
Change Increase (decrease) (1,850,560) (1,218,640) 1,965,880 147,840 (955,480)

Comparison with February 2020 increase (decrease)
Service Area 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total 
 £ £ £ £ £
Housing - - - - -
Asset Management (870,530) (1,151,950) 1,362,100 629,270 (31,110)
Housing Grants (31,180) - - - (31,180)
ICT Strategy (17,050) 17,050 - - -
Fleet Management (932,760) (92,780) 553,780 (481,430) (953,190)
Other Schemes 960 9,040 50,000 - 60,000
Total Programme (1,850,560) (1,218,640) 1,965,880 147,840 (955,480)
Financed by:-      
External Contributions (31,180) - - - (31,180)
Planning Obligations 10,000 - - - 10,000
Capital Receipts(Land) (725,000) (1,712,820) 1,933,380 169,090 (335,350)
Capital Receipts( one for one) - - - - -
Capital Receipts (Vehicles) (32,500) (18,750) 32,500 - (18,750)
Capital Reserves - - - - -
Earmarked Reserves - - - - -
Borrowing (1,071,880) 512,930  (21,250) (580,200)
Total  Financing (1,850,560) (1,218,640) 1,965,880 147,840 (955,480)

Page 80



Updated Housing Revenue Accounts Capital Programme 

Service Area 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total
 £ £ £ £ £
Asset Management Works 4,171,940 4,835,710 4,536,600 2,370,060 15,914,310
Repairs Team Capital Works 270,000 295,000 295,000 295,000 1,155,000
Professional & Commissioning 
Fees 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 400,000
Vehicle Purchasing 90,000 242,500 420,000 - 752,500
Housing IT System - 200,000 - - 200,000
Total Revised Programme 4,631,940 5,673,210 5,351,600 2,765,060 18,421,810
Original Programme* 5,397,090 4,395,060 5,156,600 2,765,060 17,713,810
Change increase (decrease) (765,150) 1,278,150 195,000 - 708,000
      
Financed by:      
HRA Contribution 2,532,910 3,574,180 3,252,570 666,030 10,025,690
Major Repairs Reserve 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 8,396,120
Total Revised Financing 4,631,940 5,673,210 5,351,600 2,765,060 18,421,810
Original Programme* 5,397,090 4,395,060 5,156,600 2,765,060 17,713,810
Change increase (decrease) (765,150) 1,278,150 195,000 - 708,000

* 2020/21 original programme includes £120,000 approved carry forwards from 2019/20

Comparison with February 2020 increase (decrease)

Service Area 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total
 £ £ £ £ £
Asset Management Works (587,650) 1,035,650 195,000 - 643,000
Repairs Team Capital Works (25,000) - - - (25,000)
Professional & Commissioning 
Fees - - - - -
Vehicle Purchasing (152,500) 242,500 - - 90,000
Housing IT System - - - - -
Total  Programme (765,150) 1,278,150 195,000 - 708,000
      
Financed by:      
HRA Contribution (765,150) 1,278,150 195,000 - 708,000
Major Repairs Reserve - - - - -
Total Financing (765,150) 1,278,150 195,000 - 708,000

Page 81



ANNEX C

Medium Term Financial Plan – Principal Risks

Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls

Financial 
Implications

Robustness of financial 
assumptions within Efficiency 
and Rationalisation Strategy

Structured project management 
arrangements have been put in place with 
detailed business cases for each initiative – 
these will be strengthened in the service 
review process

Financial 
Implications

Additional financial pressures 
emerge – cost & income 

The strategy is kept under constant review 
and adjustments will be made where 
necessary

Service 
Continuity

Interruptions to key services or 
performance standards

Resource implications and impact are 
identified as part of the business case 
process. Service continuity and 
maintenance of standards of service are 
key requirements of any new proposals

Corporate 
Governance

Maintaining stakeholder 
confidence; lack of clarity on 
accountability

Ongoing review of standards of internal 
control (e.g. Financial Procedure Rules 
reviewed and updated). Internal Audit Plan 
will be reviewed to account for the new 
approach proposed in the efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy

Management of 
Change

Management of corporate and 
local, cultural change; 
behavioural risks; residual 
effects of aggregation; 
proposed changes to 
organisational structure, roles 
& responsibilities

Progress with achievement of aims will be 
monitored through an effective performance 
management structure. Investment has 
been made in a new approach to 
Organisational Development.

People Risks Impact of cultural changes;
assessment of skills; 
recruitment & retention;
capacity issues

Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme

Key Projects & 
Partnerships

Managing changes to shared 
service delivery arrangements

The project management methodology 
provides for an adequate transition where 
there are changes in service delivery
  

Page 82



Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls

Performance 
Management

Adequacy of framework to 
monitor transition

Risk management processes are 
embedded

Reputation and 
Relationship 
Risks

Maintaining existing partner 
confidence

Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme

Programme 
Delivery

Delays in implementation of 
efficiency savings

Effective governance arrangements in place 
to monitor plans. 

Executive Directors and Senior Managers 
own delivery of efficiencies. 

Programme 
Delivery

A number of the efficiency / 
rationalisation initiatives are 
not achieved

Structured project management approach is 
in place for delivery including effective 
exception reporting

The strategy is kept under constant review

Identification of further efficiency / 
rationalisation opportunities through 
benchmarking / effective member working 
groups
  

Political Support Lack of Members support for 
Plan.

Regular reporting and member briefings 
including effective scrutiny arrangements

5.41

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

8 October 2020

TITLE: Revised Performance Framework 2020/21 
due to the impact of COVID-19

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Alan Barrow - Executive 
Councillor for Corporate Services and 
Finance

CONTACT OFFICER: Vanessa Higgins - Information Business 
Partner

WARDS INVOLVED: All

Appendices Attached
Appendix 1: Amended Performance Targets 2020/21

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 This report provides information on the proposed amendments to the current 
performance targets for 2020/21, which have been made necessary due to the 
effects of the coronavirus pandemic on the council’s ability to meet its previously 
agreed targets.

2. Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive note the proposed amendments and 
comment accordingly.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The Council’s 2019-2023 Performance Framework was considered by 
Corporate Select Committee on 10th February 2020 following detailed scrutiny 
by the Performance Sub-Committee on 3rd February 2020. It contains the 
council’s performance targets for the years 2020/21 through to 2022/23 and 
reflects the ambitions of the 4-year Corporate Plan adopted in October 2019.

3.2 The advent of a national lockdown on 23rd March 2020 had a dramatic effect 
on the Council’s ability to carry out certain functions as previously planned and 
a major impact on the local economy and our communities. It has therefore been 
necessary to review the targets agreed pre-lockdown for 2020/21 and propose 

Page 85

Agenda Item 6



a revised set of targets for the relatively small number of areas affected. The 
usual service planning activity for 2021/22 will follow in due course with the 
involvement of this Committee at the appropriate stage.

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The Performance Framework translates the ambitions of the Corporate Plan 
into measurable targeted activity and therefore links to all four of the Council’s 
aims and the supporting objectives.  

5. Alternative Options

5.1 This report is for information only and therefore no alternatives have been 
presented. However, if the target review had not taken place the 2020/21 Q4 
report would no doubt show a higher than usual proportion of ‘off track’ 
measures due to lockdown and on-going coronavirus restrictions, which were 
outside the Council’s control.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2 Workforce
The adoption of revised targets will help ensure that colleagues do not 
become demotivated by now-impossible targets due to external factors 
outside their control

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
None

6.4 Financial Considerations
Several financial metrics have been adversely affected by the pandemic, in 
particular revenue 

6.5 Legal
None

6.6 Climate Change
There are no implications from this report although it is hoped that there will 
be some positive legacy aspects from lockdown in terms of reduced business 
co2 emissions from employee transport

6.7 Consultation
All Heads of Service have been fully engaged in the process of reviewing their 
2020/21 targets in response to lockdown 

Page 86



6.8 Risk Assessment
The impact of lockdown on the council’s risk profile was the subject of an 
Information Digest Report to Audit & Regulatory Committee in June 2020

ANDREW P STOKES
Acting Chief Executive 

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Performance Framework 2020-2023 Vanessa Higgins
Information Business Partner
vanessa.higgins@highpeak.gov.uk

6.4

Page 87



7. Detail

7.1 The Council’s 2019/2023 Performance Framework was considered by 
Corporate Select Committee on 10th February 2020 following detailed scrutiny 
by the Performance Sub-Committee on 3rd February 2020. It contains the 
Council’s performance targets for the years 2020/21 through to 2022/23 and 
reflects the ambitions of the 4-year Corporate Plan adopted in October 2019.

7.2     The advent of a national lockdown on 23rd March 2020 had a dramatic effect on 
the council’s ability to carry out certain functions, particularly where access to 
premises was involved such as regulatory inspections and housing repairs. It 
also had a major impact on the High Peak economy and the health and wealth 
of its communities. It has therefore been necessary to review the 2020/21 
targets agreed pre-lockdown and propose a revised set of targets for the 
relatively small but significant number of areas affected. 

7.3 Of the 152 performance indicators in the previously agreed framework for 2020-
21, a fifth are now subject to revised targets as a result of this review. The social 
media reach targets have been increased as the number of followers grew 
during lockdown. The remainder of performance measures are largely 
unaffected or measure contextual data only. 

7.4 The usual service planning activity for 2021/22 to 2023/24 will follow in the New 
Year with the involvement of this Committee at the appropriate stage.

Page 88



Covid 19 target review 

Appendix 1: Amended Performance Targets 2020/21

High Peak Performance Framework 2020/21: Amended 

P
age 89



Covid 19 target review 

Aim 1: Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak
Measure Reported 2019-20 

Target
2019-20 
Result 

2020-21
Target

Revised
Target 

Objective: Fit for purpose housing that meets the needs of tenants and residents

NEW: % of initial homelessness applications 
opened at the prevention and relief duty 

stages

Monthly NEW 44%:56%
May 2020

65%:35% 60%: 40%

NEW: Number of TA placements ( including  
B&B made for families ) placed over 6 weeks

Monthly NEW 22 (1 family)
May 2020

0 5

% of gas safety checks overdue Monthly 0 0 2019-20
0 May 2020

0 <1%

% of active housing register applicants in 
priority need (classes A and B) who have 

been registered in excess of 6 months 

Annual 15% 13.19% 15% 30%

NEW: Average time from request to repair 
by priority 

Monthly NEW NEW
P1's - 0.45                    
P2's - 2.76                           
P3's - 1.82                  

P4's - 21.17
May 20

P1 24 hr
P2 7 days

         P3 21 days
P4 112 days

P1 24 hr
P2 10 days
P3 28 days

P4 182 days

Average Number of jobs completed per 
operative per day

Monthly 4.7 4.63 2019-20
3.59 May 2020

4.75 3.75

Objective: Effective provision of high- quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health

Number of community clean-up campaigns Annual 75 82 80 60

P
age 90



Covid 19 target review 

Measure Reported 2019-20 
Target

2019-20 
Result 

2020-21
Target

Revised
Target 

Number of pest control contracts Annual 14 14 16 14

% of 'high risk' premises (A-C) inspected per 
annum

Quarterly 100% 100% 100% 75%

% of routine permitted process premises 
inspected

Quarterly  100% 85% 100% 75%

% food premises compliant with FSA criteria 
(plus numbers as context) 

 Annual 98% 98% 98%  95%

Private water supplies - % of sampling 
programme completed

Annual 100% 100% 100% 75%

P
age 91



Covid 19 target review 

Aim 2: A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward- thinking council
Measure

 
Reported 2019-20 

Target
2019-20 
Result

2020-21 
Target

Revised 
Target 

Objective: Ensure our future financial resilience can be financially sustainable whilst offering value for money

Collection rates: Business rates Monthly 98.1% 98.39% 2019-20
17% May 2020

98.2% 96%

Collection rates: Council Tax Monthly 98.1% 98.41% 2019-20
19.28% May 2020

98.2% 96.2%

Collection rates: Rent Monthly 98.5% 98.66% 2019-20
89.34% May 2020

98.5% 98%

Collection rates: Sundry Debt (value of SD 
over 60 days old) 

Quarterly 5% 
reduction

£162,980 2% 
reduction 

Match 2019/20

% of procurement activity on the 
Procurement Forward Plan (Joint Alliance 

Measure)

Quarterly 72% 67.38% 65% 60%

% of internal audit recommendations 
implemented within timescale (snapshot of 

year to date)

Quarterly 97.5% 98.08% 98 % 92%

% of corporate efficiency savings met Annual  100% of 
target

90.23% (2018-19) 100% of target 50%

a) Expenditure variance to budget
b) Income variance to budget

(GF)

Annual Net Budget +/- 
5% variance

a) (0.82%) 
(Q3 2019-20)
b) 0.25% 

(Q3 2019-20)

Net Budget +/- 
5% variance

Net Budget +/- 25% 
variance

P
age 92



Covid 19 target review 

Measure
 

Reported 2019-20 
Target

2019-20 
Result

2020-21 
Target

Revised 
Target 

Objective: Ensure our services are readily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and provided 'right first time'

Number of twitter followers Quarterly
4050 4387 4400 4500

Number of Facebook followers Quarterly
1600 2771 2200 2800

No./% of interactions:
    a) phone b) face to face c) web

Monthly a) 37% 
b) 23%
 c) 40% 

a) 67171   41%  
b) 38059   23%
c) 58411   36%
2019-20
a)   9196      44%
b)         0        0%
c)   11923    56%
May 2020

a)39%  
b) 24% 
c)37% 

Refocus the PI:  
a) % of assisted contact 
(phones and face to face )
b) % of web 
TARGETS
a) 61%
b) 39%
 

Avoidable contact (number taken from 
customer portal) 

Annual 12% Not available 12% 15%

Objective: More effective use of Council assets to benefit our communities

% of rent lost due to vacant stock Monthly 0.86% 0.85% 2019-20
0.62% May 20 

0.86% 1.03%

Average time taken to re-let Council homes Monthly 25 days 28.6
 2019-20

40.3 May 2020

25 days 30 days

 % properties with nil void loss Annual 15% 19.7% 15% 0%

% and number of council owned business 
units occupied

Annual 86% (25/29) 85%
(22/26)

89.6%
(26/29)

19/26 (73%)

Objective: Use innovation, technology and partnerships with others to help improve the efficiency of services, improve customer 
satisfaction and reduce our impact on the environment

NEW: Number of Onevu (customer portal) 
accounts

Quarterly NEW NEW 28,000 27,000

P
age 93



Covid 19 target review 

Aim 3: Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth, development and regeneration
Measure Reported 2019-20 

Target
2019-20 
Result

2020-21 
Target

Revised 
Target 

Objective: High quality development and building control with an ‘open for business’ approach

% of planning applications with pre-
application enquiries

Annual 10% 15% 10% 5%

Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate emergency
Measure Reported 2019-20

 Target
2019-20
 Result

2020-21 
Target

Revised 
Target 

Objective: Effective Provision of quality parks and open spaces

Friends / Community Groups – no. of 
volunteer hours

Annual 750 1019 775 600

P
age 94



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

8 October 2020

TITLE: Air Quality Management update on the AQAP 
Woodhead Road (A628) Tintwistle 

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Cllr Todd,  Executive Councillor for Climate 
Change, Environment and Community Safety

CONTACT OFFICER: Alicia Patterson - Head of Environmental 
Health

WARDS INVOLVED: Tintwistle & All Wards

Appendix 1 – Air Quality Management Area (1) (Tintwistle) Action Plan Draft 

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To update the Executive on the progress of the Air Quality Action Plan for the 
Air Quality Management Area (1) Woodhead Road (A628) Tintwistle, attached 
at Appendix 1.

1.2 To further update the Executive on the proposed steps the Council is taking to 
address the air quality issues across the Borough.  

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Executive notes and approves the contents of the report.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The Environment Act 1995 places a duty on the Council to regularly review 
air quality within its boundaries against a number of national air quality 
objectives. This reports outlines and updates the actions that High Peak 
Borough Council will deliver between 2019-2023 in order to reduce 
concentrations of air pollutants and exposure to air pollution in the Borough.

3.2 The updated Air Quality Action Plan attached at appendix 1 details 
specifically the progress in relation to the Air Quality Management Area 
(AQMA) declared at the Woodhead Road, A628 Tintwistle (1). In addition, 
the Plan details measures and proposals which the Council is taking to 

Page 95

Agenda Item 7



address the Air Quality Issues across the whole of the Borough. The 
updated Plan is in draft format, and has not yet been formally published. 

3.3 As detailed in the Action Plan results, the air quality within AQMA (1) 
Woodhead Road, A628, Tintwistle has improved significantly during 2019, 
with no exceedances of the Air Quality Strategy recorded. 

3.4 Further reports will be presented to the Committee and the Executive in 
relation to the Air Quality Action Plan for the AQMA (2) A57, Dinting Vale and 
the additional proposals for the declaration of a third Air Quality Management 
Area in the Borough at Fairfield, Buxton. This work is not yet complete as 
further data is required in order to prepare these reports, including an updated 
transport assessment to include the impacts of the Transpennine upgrade 
programme which is being led by Highways England. This will ensure that 
appropriate transport mitigation measures are adopted, and a further updated 
impact assessment is also being undertaken by this Council.

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1 Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak.

5. Alternative Options

5.1 There are no alternative options to consider, the Council is required by law to 
produce an action plan once an Air Quality Management Area has been 
declared. The Committee may comment on the contents of the Air Quality 
Action Plan.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

There are no community safety issues arising from this report.

6.2 Workforce

An existing pollution post has been converted to a full time post to 
support this area of work.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council’s Diversity 
and Equality Policies.

6.4 Financial Considerations

There are no initial financial implications arising from this report. Dependent 

Page 96



on the final actions, additional funding may be needed if appropriate grants 
are not available or secured.

6.5 Legal

The Council has a statutory duty to manage air quality in its area. Having 
declared an AQMA the Council must implement the action plan, and failure 
to do so may result in legal action being taken against the Council.

6.6 Climate Change

As detailed within the report, measures to improve air quality within the 
Borough will support the Council’s priority to address the implications of 
climate change. 

6.7 Consultation

As detailed within in the report, including engagement with key stakeholders 
such as Derbyshire County Council and Highways England to implement 
actions to improve air quality in the Borough.

6.8 Risk Assessment

It is a statutory requirement that the Council assess air quality and takes 
action where appropriate.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Contact details
Alicia Patterson
Head of Environmental Health
E-mail: alicia.patterson@highpeak.gov.uk

7. Detail

7.1 The Environment Act 1995 places a duty on the Council to regularly review 
air quality within its boundaries against a number of national air quality 
objectives. The objectives are human health based standards, seeking to 
protect the most vulnerable in society, i.e. the very young, the elderly and 
those with pre- existing conditions. 

7.2 This reports outlines the actions that High Peak Borough Council will deliver 
between 2019-2023 in order to reduce concentrations of air pollutants and 
exposure to air pollution, thereby positively impacting on the health and quality 
of life of residents and visitors to the High Peak. 

7.3 The updated Air Quality Action Plan attached at appendix 1 details 

6.4

Page 97

mailto:%20alicia.patterson@highpeak.gov.uk


specifically the progress in relation to the Air Quality Management Area 
(AQMA) declared at the Woodhead Road, A628 Tintwistle (1). In addition, 
the Plan details measures and proposals which the Council is taking to 
address the Air Quality Issues across the whole of the Borough. The 
updated Plan is in draft format, and has not yet been formally published. 

7.4 As detailed in the Action Plan results, the air quality within AQMA (1) 
Woodhead Road, A628, Tintwistle has improved significantly during 2019, 
with no exceedances of the Air Quality Strategy recorded. 

7.5 The Council has developed actions to improve air quality in the Borough, 
and specifically in both the AQMAs declared by the Council (the second 
being the AQMA (2) A57, Dinting Vale). These are developed against the 
following five broad topic areas: 

 Transport measures – changes to road layout or operation and 
formulation of traffic plans with the aim being to encourage the use of 
greener modes of transport, and/or reduce congestion and associated 
vehicle emissions;

 Leading by example measures – measures that HPBC will implement to 
encourage wider behavioural changes in the local population with 
respect to their travel choices;

 Education, community and partnership measures – provision of 
information to increase community awareness of the challenges faced 
on air quality within the local area, to facilitate behavioural change;

 Statutory measures – use of legislation and targeted enforcement to 
control air pollution; 

 Air quality monitoring – ensuring satisfactory air quality monitoring data is 
available to track outcomes of the implementation of our action plan 
measures and allow effective management of air quality.

7.6 Since the last report to the Committee there have been significant changes 
in the emission of air pollutants noted nationally from several sectors but, 
with the exception of the transport sector which showed a marked decrease, 
availiabity of activity and emissions data for the lockdown period is still 
limited. 

7.7 UK air quality has been negatively influenced by a significant change in 
meterology between the weeks preceeding and following the lockdown, in 
addition to changes (both positive and negative) arising from actions in 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

7.8 The most pronounced changes in UK air quality during lockdown have been in 
the urban environment, notably for nitrogen oxides (NOx). Once weather 
effects are accounted for, mean reductions in urban NOx averaged over the 
lockdown period have been typically 30-40%, which means NO2 reductions of 

Page 98



20-30% in general. 

7.9 Whilst this report focuses on the data collected in 2019, we are anticipating 
and forecasting for 2020 and 2021 the expected changes as a result of the 
Covid-19 pandemic and the national changes in individuals’ behaviour, 
working arrangements and travel which will need to be considered for the 
existing Air Quality Management Areas and any future proposed areas. 

7.10 Further reports will be presented to the Committee and the Executive in 
relation to the Air Quality Action Plan for the AQMA A57, Dinting Vale (2) and 
the additional proposals for the declaration of a third Air Quality Management 
Area in the Borough at Fairfield, Buxton. This work is not yet complete as 
further data is required in order to prepare these reports, including an updated 
transport assessment to include the impacts of the Transpennine upgrade 
programme which is being led by Highways England. This will ensure that 
appropriate transport mitigation measures are adopted, and a further updated 
impact assessment is also being undertaken by this Council.

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019

High Peak Borough Council
Air Quality Action Plan

In fulfilment of Part IV of the
Environment Act 1995
Local Air Quality Management

September 2020 -update

Page 101



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019

Local Authority 
Officer Daniel McCrory

Department Environmental Health

Address Town Hall, Buxton SK17 6DZ

Telephone 01538 395400 ext 4413

E-mail Daniel.McCrory@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Report Reference 
number HPBC AP1

Date September  2020

Page 102



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 1

Executive Summary

This draft Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) has been produced as part of our statutory 

duties required by the Local Air Quality Management framework. It outlines the action 

we will take to improve air quality in High Peak between November 2019-2023.

Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts. It is recognised 

as a contributing factor in the onset of heart disease and cancer. Additionally, air 

pollution particularly affects the most vulnerable in society: children and older people, 

and those with heart and lung conditions. There is also often a strong correlation with 

equalities issues, because areas with poor air quality are also often the less affluent 

areas1,2.

The annual health cost to society of the impacts of particulate matter alone in the UK 

is estimated to be around £16 billion3. High Peak Borough Council is committed to 

reducing the exposure of people in High Peak to poor air quality in order to improve 

health.

We have developed actions to improve air quality in the Borough, and specifically the 

AQMAs, that can be considered against the following five broad topic areas:

 Transport measures – changes to road layout or operation and formulation of 

traffic plans with the aim being to encourage the use of greener modes of 

transport, and/or reduce congestion and associated vehicle emissions;

 Leading by example measures – measures that HPBC will implement to 

encourage wider behavioural changes in the local population with respect to 

their travel choices;

 Education, community and partnership measures – provision of information to 

increase community awareness of the challenges faced on air quality within 

the local area, to facilitate behavioural change;

 Statutory measures – use of legislation and targeted enforcement to control air 

pollution; and

1 Environmental equity, air quality, socioeconomic status and respiratory health, 2010
2 Air quality and social deprivation in the UK: an environmental inequalities analysis, 2006
3 Defra. Abatement cost guidance for valuing changes in air quality, May 2013

Page 103



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 2

 Air quality monitoring – ensuring satisfactory air quality monitoring data is 

available to track outcomes of the implementation of our action plan 

measures and allow effective management of air quality.

In the High Peak Borough Council AQMA No1 Tintwistle, our priorities are focussed 

on the reduction of emissions from Heavy Duty Vehicles (HDV) and diesel vehicles, 

and trying to improve traffic flow and reduce congestion along the Woodhead Road.  

However, 2019 data has showed a marked improvement in Air Quality with the 

AQMA, with no exceedances in the AQS observed.  

The responsibility for implementation of highway improvements rests with Highway 

England, which is in the process of updating the transport data and undertaking 

further AQ modelling in the AQMA in support of the proposed Trans Pennine 

upgrade. Therefore, any potential mitigation actions concerning improving traffic 

emission or flow cannot be accurately developed until this new information has been 

considered and available.  

In this AQAP we outline how we plan to effectively tackle air quality issues within our 

control. However, we recognise that there are a large number of air quality policy 

areas that are outside of our influence (such as roads managed by Highways 

England and vehicle emissions standards agreed across Europe), but for which we 

may have useful evidence, and so we will continue to work with regional and central 

government on policies and issues beyond the Council’s direct influence.

Responsibilities and Commitment
This AQAP was prepared by the Environmental Health team of High Peak Borough 

Council with the support and agreement of the following officers and departments:

Daniel McCrory

This AQAP will be subject to an annual review, appraisal of progress and reporting to 

the Council’s Community Select Committee and Executive. Progress each year will 

be reported in the Annual Status Reports (ASRs) produced by High Peak Borough 

Council, as part of our statutory Local Air Quality Management duties.

If you have any comments on this AQAP please send them to: 

Page 104



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 3

Daniel McCrory at:

Address: Town Hall, Buxton SK17 6DZ

Telephone: 01538 395400 ext 4413

Email: Daniel.McCrory@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Page 105



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 4

Table of Contents
Executive Summary ...................................................................................................1

Responsibilities and Commitment........................................................................................2

1 Introduction........................................................................................................5
2 Summary of Current Air Quality in High Peak Borough Council. .................7

2.1 AQMA No1 Tintwistle ...............................................................................................7
Figure 2.1 – AQMA No 1 Tintwistle ...............................................................................................8

Figure 2.2 – AQMA No 1 Tintwistle; monitoring Locations............................................................9

2.2 Monitoring Results..................................................................................................10

3 High Peak Borough Council’s Air Quality Priorities ....................................14
3.1 Public Health Context.............................................................................................14

3.2 Planning and Policy Context ..................................................................................15

3.3 Source Apportionment............................................................................................17
3.3.1 Data Inputs ...................................................................................................................17

3.3.2 Results .........................................................................................................................18

3.4 Required Reduction in Emissions ..........................................................................20

3.5 Key Priorities ..........................................................................................................20
3.5.3 Education, community and partnership measures .......................................................23

4 Development and Implementation of High Peak Borough Council 
AQAP.........................................................................................................................25

4.1 Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement...........................................................25

4.2 Steering Group .......................................................................................................27

5 AQAP Measures...............................................................................................28
Appendix A: Monitoring Results 2019....................................................................33
Appendix B: Reasons for Not Pursuing Action Plan Measures ..........................38
Glossary of Terms....................................................................................................39
References ................................................................................................................40

List of Tables
Table 4.1 ‒ Consultation Undertaken.........................................................................25
Table 5.1 ‒ Air Quality Action Plan Measures ............................................................29

List of Figures
Figure 2.1 – AQMA No 1 Tintwistle .........................................................................................................3

Figure 2.2 – AQMA No 1 Tintwistle; monitoring Locations ......................................................................4

Figure 3.1.  Source of emissions between Light and Heavy Duty Vehicles .........................................14

Figure 3.2.  Source of emissions between general Vehicle types ........................................................14

Page 106



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 5

1 Introduction
This AQAP has been prepared following the declaration of an Air Quality 

Management Area (AQMA) for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) along part of the Woodhead 

Road (A628) in Tintwistle.  

This report outlines the actions that High Peak Borough Council (HPBC – the 

Council) will deliver between. 2019-2023 in order to reduce concentrations of air 

pollutants and exposure to air pollution; thereby positively impacting on the health 

and quality of life of residents and visitors to the High Peak.

It has been developed in recognition of the legal requirement on the local authority to 

work towards Air Quality Strategy (AQS) objectives under Part IV of the Environment 

Act 1995 and relevant regulations made under that part and to meet the 

requirements of the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) statutory process. The 

Act does not prescribe any timescale for preparing an AQAP. However, the 

Government expects them to be completed within 18 months following the 

designation of any AQMAs. The prime responsibility for preparing and submitting the 

AQAP rests with HPBC; however, there is a requirement on other relevant 

stakeholders to collaborate with HPBC to identify proposals in pursuit of the AQS 

objectives within their respective responsibilities and functions

This Plan will be reviewed every five years at the latest and progress on measures 

set out within this Plan will be reported on annually within High Peak Borough 

Council’s air quality ASR.

Page 107



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 6

2 Summary of Current Air Quality in High 
Peak Borough Council. 

The latest ASR report from High Peak Borough Council detailing air quality and 

pollution levels across the High Peak in 2019 is being finalised however, results for 

2019 are presented in Appendix 1 of this report and the key findings and conclusions 

of the report are detailed below: 

 With one exception** Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) levels reduced, and air quality 

improved, across the Borough during 2019.  

 In the two declared AQMAs, Tintwistle (No1) and Dinting Vale (No 2), only one 

exceedance of above the annual mean NO2 objective was recorded. This was 

in in Dinting Vale (No 2) at the A57 Dinting Vale /Glossop Road junction 

(HP26).

 ** In response to an exceedance at a single location along Fairfield Road in 

2018, the number of monitoring locations along Fairfield Road (Buxton) was 

increased.  The results from 2019 confirmed NO2 measured concentrations 

above the annual mean NO2 objective in locations with potential relevant 

exposure.  The monitoring data has been used to inform a Detailed 

Assessment which has identified potential exceedances of the annual mean 

nitrogen dioxide objective in 2019 at a number of properties along the Fairfield 

Road and the declaration of an AQMA is recommended.

Page 108



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 7

2.1 AQMA No.1; Tintwistle
The Woodhead Road (A628) is one of the major non -motorway trans-pennine 

crossings routes between Manchester and Sheffield in the Peak District and affords a 

shorter route compared to the motorway (M62, M1) route. It reaches a maximum 

altitude of 1486 feet and approximately, 12,300 vehicles use it daily, with around 13% 

of these being Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs);   

Air Quality Monitoring along the A628 in Tintwistle identified exceedances of the 

annual mean NO2 objective at relevant locations immediately adjacent to the road.  

This confirmed the findings of a previous Detailed Assessment, and necessitated that 

an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) be declared.   

HPBC Air Quality Management Area No1; Tintwistle was declared in October 2018. It 

covers a 580m stretch of the A628 between the Bank Lane / Woodhead Rd Junction 

and Old Rd/ Woodhead Rd Junction. This is shown in Figure 2.1.  In addition, 

monitoring was expanded along the A628. The monitoring locations are shown in 

figure 2.2.  

Page 109



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 8

Figure 2.1 – AQMA No 1 Tintwistle

P
age 110



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 9

Figure 2.2 – AQMA No 1 Tintwistle; monitoring Locations

P
age 111



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 10

2.1.1 AQMA No1; Topography

The topography of the AQMA is a general incline moving Eastbound along the 

Woodhead road.  Between Bank Street and Chapel Brow, there is a slight incline with 

gradient between (+) 0  to (+) 2.7% and the speed limit changes from  30– 40mph, 

with vehicles accelerating up a gradient.  

Westbound, the gradient is a slight downhill but the area is prone to queuing traffic, 

notably near the Back Street turn. (Figure 2.2aii).  

It is considered that it is the close proximity of the queuing traffic that is responsible 

for the previous exceedance at HP8, and high levels seen at HP31

Figure 2.3ai;  Church Street Junction East Bound 

Page 112



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 11

Figure 2.3aii;  Church Street Junction West bound (HP 8)

From Chapel Brow to Ebenezer Brow is approximately 250m, with the speed limit of 

40mph. The road rises steeply from a gradient of (+) 2.7% to approximately (+) 7-9% 

until just prior to the junction (Figure 2.2b).   

This junction is a Pegasus crossing (equestrian crossing), which is a type of 

signalised pedestrian crossing, with special consideration for horse riders. The traffic 

lights at the Pegasus crossing, means that traffic flow within this short 250M stretch, 

which is initially accelerating up a gradient, can potentially be disrupted. Causing 

traffic to slow down and potentially require significant power to pull away on a  fairly 

steep incline(+) 7-9% gradient, particularly for large HGV vehicles.

This location has previously recorded the highest emissions of NO2 along the AQMA, 

although it is not considered representative of relevant exposure.    

Page 113



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 12

Figure 2.3b; Ebenezer Brow Junction & traffic lights (location HP2)

*Traffic lights were being replaced at the time of the picture and were located at the sight of the automated monitor 
box on the left hand side of the picture

From Ebenezer Brow to the end of the end of the AQMA, at the junction with  old  

road,  the gradient remains steep  at around 7% and after only 50m from the junction 

are  flanked by properties immediately the Northern side (HP5) .   

It is consider that it is the increase in power required and slow acceleration of 

vehicles, particularly HGVs, on this gradient, is likely to significantly increase the 

emissions from these vehicles at these speeds. This is confirmed by source 

apportioning work (section 3.3). 

Page 114



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 13

Figure 2.2c;   Old Road Junction (HP5)

2.1.2 AQMA No1; Trans-Pennine Upgrade

Highways England are progressing with the Trans-Pennine Upgrade Programme 

(TPUP), which includes the A5/A628 Mottram Bypass and the A57(T) to A57 Link 

Roads.

The TPUP Scheme will provide a bypass of Mottram in Longdendale and new link 

road in an east to west direction from the A57(T) east of Mottram in Longdendale to 

Woolley Bridge, crossing the River Etherow on a newly constructed bridge. A new 

junction would be formed to the west of the existing A57 Woolley Bridge Road. Full 

details of the proposed TPUP can be found here: https://highwaysengland.co.uk/our-

work/north-west/a57-trans-pennine-upgrade/

The TPUP has the potential to result in a range of beneficial and adverse effects for 

Glossop and Tintwistle, including journey times to the strategic road network (the 

M67) and the potential for development that brings about economic benefits along 

Page 115

https://highwaysengland.co.uk/our-work/north-west/a57-trans-pennine-upgrade/
https://highwaysengland.co.uk/our-work/north-west/a57-trans-pennine-upgrade/


 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 14

the A57 corridor, journey times into Glossop town centre and quality of life for 

residents along the A57. 

The scheme formed part of Highways England Road Investment Strategy Period 1 

(RIS1) which set out the programme for improvements on the strategic road network 

over the period 2015 to 2020.   To undertake the works, Highways England are 

required to make an application for a Development Consent Order (DCO) to the 

Planning Inspectorate (PINS) who will examine the application on behalf of the 

Secretary of State in order to obtain permission to construct the scheme. HPBC (and 

DCC) are consulted as the host authority as part of the statutory process.

Construction was initially due to commence prior to the end of the RIS1 period, 

however, as confirmed by Highways England in July 2019, this was delayed.  This 

was due to concerns raised by HPBC and DCC at the consultation phase (pre-

submission) about the wider impacts of the scheme on the highway network, 

particularly the A57 through Glossop and the A628 through Tintwistle. This is 

because the Scheme and its likely improvements to connectivity and reduction in 

travel times to and from the Manchester conurbation could potentially make it more 

attractive to road users in Derbyshire and consequently increase traffic flows through 

the A57 Glossop and the A628 through Tintwistle to access the scheme. 

Highways England, therefore, delayed the submission of the DCO to undertake 

additional monitoring and modelling of traffic impacts and air quality along the A57 

and A628. It would be anticipated that should the new modelling indicate that the 

predicted increases in traffic along the A57 or A638 are likely to cause an associated 

increase in air quality pollution in the declared AQMAs (or other areas), a Scheme Air 

Quality Action Plan (SAQAP) would be prepared (in accordance with IAN 175/13) to 

mitigate these impacts. SAQAP measures could include reducing the increase in 

traffic in areas where sensitive receptors are significantly affected.

Final details of the outcome of the additional air quality and traffic modelling 

assessments and a submission date for the DCO have yet to be confirmed by 

Highways England but is currently considered likely to be  some time in late 2020, 

early 2021.  A further consultation from Highways England on this work and 

proposals is currently expected prior to the submission of the DCO.

Page 116



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 15

2.1.3 Trans-Pennine Impact Report

To aid the consideration of major road schemes subject to a DOC application the 

Planning Inspectorate  encourage Local Authorities  to prepare Local Impact Reports 

(LIR) irrespective of whether the local authority considers the development would 

have a positive or negative impact on their area. This will be considered as part of 

the examination of the scheme by the appointed Planning Inspector. The document 

will set out the impacts of the scheme in the opinion of the Borough Council and 

consider issues such as economic impacts and air quality.

Consultants have been appointed by HPBC and DCC to prepare a Local Impact 

Report (LIR) in response to the anticipated Development. This work is ongoing but 

will inform future versions of this Action Plan 

2.2 Monitoring Results 
The results from the recent monitoring along the Woodhead Road (2015-2019) are 

shown below in Table 1 

Table 1; Nitrogen Dioxide Monitoring Results along the A628 Woodhead Road  

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m3) (3)

Site ID
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

**HP2(4) 65.0* 60.2 59.5 - -
HP3 34.5 32.3 31.9 28.7 25.7
HP4 34.3 32.0 34.1 27.7 32.6
HP5 51.8 49.9 50.9 47 37.4
HP6 35.4 32.1 33 32.8 30.0
HP7 19.0 20.9 17.1 -
HP8 38.6 36.2 46.4 39.3 35.5
HP9 23.7 23.0 25.6 22.7 21

HP20 32.0 30.8 38.5 28.4 26.3
HP30 - - - 28.3 27.3
HP31 - - - 37.8 35.9

* Bold indicates exceedance of the 40 µg/m3 AQS
** Does not represent relevant exposure  

Page 117



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 16

Overall, the 2019 results showed a significant improvement in air quality along the 

AQMA compared to the previous year and no exceedances of the AQS were 

observed. 

The highest levels continue to be HP5 within the current AQMA but these reduced by 

approximately 20%.  HP8 continues to be high but was below the AQS. Similarly, 

high levels were also observed at one of the new locations (HP31) outside of the 

AQMA slightly further westbound.  

3 High Peak Borough Council’s Air Quality 
Priorities

3.1 Public Health Context
The Air Quality Indicator in the Public Health Outcomes Framework (England) 

provides further impetus to join up action between the various local authority 

departments which impact on the delivery of air quality improvements.

To help facilitate this, Defra commissioned research to develop a toolkit to help 

local authorities and public health professionals tackle air pollution in their 

area7. The toolkit provides a one-stop guide to the latest evidence on air 

pollution, guiding local authorities to use existing tools to appraise the scale 

of the air pollution issue in its area. It also advises local authorities how to 

appropriately prioritise air quality alongside other public health priorities to 

ensure it is on the local agenda.

Integral to a successful process is the development of communication 

methods for localised air quality and health impact information. Communication 

guides were developed through a series of workshops and interviews. 

Participants included Directors of Public Health, public health professionals, 

local authority air quality managers and members of the public.

 The toolkit comprises the following key guides:

 Getting to grips with air pollution – the latest evidence and techniques;

 Understanding air pollution in your area;

Page 118



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 17

 Engaging local decision-makers about air pollution;

 Communicating with the public on air pollution; and

 Air Pollution: an emerging public health issue: Briefing for elected members.

For HPBC, the fraction of mortality attributable to air pollution is 5%, which is 

similar to the national average of 5.1%. 

3.2 Planning and Policy Context
Local policies contained within the Local Transport Plan for Derbyshire, the Peak 

District National Park Core Strategy and the Local Plan for High Peak all aim to 

reduce traffic across High Peak. These policies are currently being implemented 

through the inclusion of planning conditions.  Environmental Health are a statutory 

consultee on planning applications and routinely monitor all applications for potential 

contribution to air quality to ensure that any potentially unacceptable increases in 

pollutants are identified and mitigated.

The High Peak Local Plan (2016-2031) was formally adopted in April 2016 and 

provides a framework for delivering development for the period 2016 to 2031, by 

setting out the development strategy, strategic and development management 

policies and land designations for the Borough. Several of the previous policies have 

been updated, to reflect a need to improve the environment including air quality: The 

key policies are:

 Policy EQ1: Climate Change: The Council will strive to meet part of the 

Borough's future energy demand through renewable or low-carbon energy 

sources (which could be through a variety of technologies, in line with current 

evidence which identifies the feasibility of these forms of energy across the 

Borough).

 Policy EQ 10 on Pollution Control and Unstable Land states that: “The Council 

will protect people and the environment from unsafe, unhealthy and polluted 

environments. This will be achieved by: Ensuring developments avoid 

potential adverse effects and only permitting developments that are deemed 

(individually or cumulatively) to result in the following types of pollution 

[including air pollution (including odours or particulate emissions)].  If there are 

any remaining potential adverse effects, they should be mitigated to an 

Page 119



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 18

acceptable level by other environmental controls or measures included in the 

proposals.” 

 Policy CF6 Accessibility and Transport; states that Assessments required to 

accompany relevant proposals under Policy CF6 should include consideration 

of the impact of proposals on air quality, 

Derbyshire County Council (DCC) is responsible for producing a statutory Local 

Transport Plan (LTP) which sets out the Council's strategy for transport. Strategy 

between 2011–2026.  The strategy was informed by a strategic environmental 

assessment (SEA) and puts forward several policies and measures under the County 

Council’s jurisdiction that will impact on air quality: 

 Policy TENV3 requires that consideration should be given to the 

appropriateness of providing infrastructure for alternative vehicle technology, 

for example, the installation and operation of charging points for electric/hybrid 

vehicles in new developments.

 Policy TENV4 Ensure transport elements of developments pay sufficient 

account to environmental issues Interventions to support the local economy in 

this and other settlements.

To support mitigation measures by the above policies DCC have developed and 

Investment Protocol: Environmental Mitigation and Enhancement – to incorporate 

environmental mitigation and enhancement in all LTP programme areas

The Peak District National Park Core Strategy includes several policies that will that 

will impact on air quality: 

 Policy T1 of the Peak District National Park Core Strategy aims to reduce the 

need to travel and encourages sustainable transport by making the National 

Park’s characteristics the primary criterion in planning and design decisions, 

by deterring cross-park traffic, and by encouraging sustainable transport (Peak 

District National Park Authority, 2011). 

 Policy LC21 of the Peak District Local Plan (Peak District National Park 

Authority, 2001) on pollution and disturbance has been retained. It is designed 

to prevent development that presents a risk of pollution.

Page 120



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 19

3.3 Source Apportionment
The AQAP measures presented in this report are intended to be targeted towards the 

predominant sources of emissions within High Peak Borough Council’s area, with 

specific focus on those emissions sources which contribute to the exceedances of 

the annual mean AQS objective for NO2 within the AQMAs.

To better understand the contribution of various emissions sources, to the total 

annual mean NO2 concentrations, a provisional source apportionment exercise was 

undertaken. 

The total levels of NO2 recorded at a location can be split into three components

 ▪ The regional background, which the Council is unable to influence;

▪ The local background, which the Council may have some influence over; 

and

▪ Other local sources (explicitly modelled), which the Council may have full 

control over. 

At this stage, the contribution of NO2 from background and other local emissions (e.g. 

coal fires/ boilers/ industry) have not been included as it is considered that the 

primary source of emissions in this location is primarily from transport, with limited (& 

constant) background sources.

To better understand the contribution of various vehicle types, a provisional source 

apportionment exercise was undertaken, for both NOx and NO2, using the Emissions 

Factor Toolkit (v 9). 

The Emissions Factors Toolkit (EFT) is published by Defra and the Devolved 

Administrations. The EFT allows users to calculate road vehicle pollutant emission 

rates for NOx, PM10, PM2.5  and CO2 for a specified year, road type, vehicle speed 

and vehicle fleet composition.

3.3.1 Data Inputs

Traffic data used for the assessment was obtained from the Department of Transport 

(DfT; https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/downloads). EFT set up under ‘Detailed Option 2’. 

To enable source apportionment of Road-NOx emissions, the ‘breakdown by vehicle’ 

and ‘source apportionment’ additional outputs were utilised.

Page 121

https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/downloads


 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 20

Two relevant data points were available, one East to the South and one to the North 

of the AQMA. The data point to the North (7373) was considered to be the most 

representative.

The key data inputs used in the model are shown below;

Key data inputs:  

 Year: 2018;

 Source Id:  7373;

 **Gradient 6% (6% is the highest gradient that can be currently modelled using EFT model)  

 Average Speed 30km/hr (18.5mph)

 Daily Average Traffic Flow; 12, 272 Vehicles  

% Breakdown of Traffic Flow 

 Car = 64.77% 

 LGV = 21.15%; 

 Rigid HGV= 5.94% 

 Articulated HGV= 7.37%; 

 Bus & Coach=0.19%;  

 Motorcycle = 0.58%

3.3.2 Results

The results from the initial source apportionment exercise are shown in figure 3.1 & 

3.2.

The initial split between the Heavy duty Vehicles (HGVs & Buses) and the Lighter 

duty vehicles (Cars, LGV’s etc. ) indicates that although  these only account for  

13.5% of  all vehicles, they contribute to 42% of the NO2 from the road.  

Splitting the results further into vehicle type (figure 3.2) indicates that the majority 

NO2 of emissions are attributed to diesel vehicles (approximately, 96%).  

The above noted, the breakdown of traffic figures provided by the DfT is based on a 

2014 road survey, with data extrapolated to 2018 (by DfT). It would be beneficial to 

undertake a more detailed traffic study to improve the source apportionment work 

Page 122



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 21

and ensure it remains accurate, particularly to identify the age (and nature) of the 

vehicles using the road.

Figure 3.1.  Source of emissions between Light and Heavy Duty Vehicles 

Figure 3.2.  Source of emissions between general Vehicle types  

Page 123



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 22

It is understood that, as a result of the Trans Pennine project, Highways England has 

undertaken further detailed traffic assessments, source apportionment and future 

modelling of potential impacts of the project .  However, despite several requests for 

this traffic data by HPBC and DCC, this has not yet been made available. 

3.4 Required Reduction in Emissions
The specific reduction in emissions required has not yet been calculated as this 

requires the inclusion of regional and background data (considered to be a constant) 

and will also be affected by the implementation of the Trans Pennine upgrade which 

may affect the traffic composition.

 

3.5 Key Priorities
The current results indicate that the largest contributor to NO2 emissions is from 

Diesel Vehicles, predominately HGVs, Eastbound of the AQMA. The impact of these 

emissions is compounded by the location of the crossing on a very steep section, 

which means HGVs (and other vehicles) are producing significant emissions at this 

point. 

Southbound the issue is due more to the close location of the properties to the road 

and around Church Street.   

The proposed measures to tackle these issues have been generally categorised into: 

 Transport, 

 leading by example measures (policy), 

 Education, community and partnership measures 

3.5.1 Transport;

 Highways England 

Highways England is the governmental organisation charged with operating, 

maintaining and improving England's motorways and major A roads, including the 

A628.  The implementation of action measures that would directly affect the A628 

Page 124



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 23

(such as improvements to the crossing) can consequently only be implemented by 

Highways England.  The A628 road management is undertaken by the Highways 

England Yorkshire, Humberside and the North East team.

In addition Highways England is also the authority implementing the Trans-Pennine 

Upgrade Programme (see section 2.1.2) which has the potential to alter traffic flows 

on the A628. The application is being undertaken by the Highways England North 

West team. 

Preliminary discussions between Highways England from the North and West teams 

regarding possible transport mitigation measures took place in early 2020. 

The key conclusions / statements of the meeting were: 

 Highways England (North East)- Competent Authority 

“We have recently completed a review of speed limits on the A64, which has resulted 

in a series of ‘village gateway’ proposals improving consistency and recognition of 

speed limits on the route. This is in line with our Guide to Road Safety Route 

Treatments published in 2018. We are now planning a similar study of the A628. 

Concerns regarding air quality issues and safety at the Old Road junction will be 

added to the planned study. Our current proposal is to start the study for this work 

next year (2021)” As results indicate a general trend of improvement in air quality 

along the A628, this is considered a reasonable time scale to address these issues. 

 Highways England (North West)- TPUP

They are in the process of finalising a detailed updated traffic modelling and transport 

exercise, assessing the current air quality on the AQMA and the impacts of the 

proposed TPUP. Should the results of the updated modelling and assessment 

indicate a future impact on the AQMA, measures will be put forward to address these 

issues.  

The implementation of direct transport measures, therefore, will not commence until 

the publication of these further studies.  This affects the timescale for the full 

adoption of the AQMA. 

Page 125



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 24

 EV Charging Points 

Currently no networks operate any charge points on public operated car parks in the 

High Peak. The NHS has installed some at their facilities and the others are on 

privately owned land. Therefore, the public have very limited options for charging 

EVs when they are visiting or residing in High Peak other than charging their EVs at 

home. 

High Peak Borough Council has been working with Derbyshire County Council, 

Nottingham City Council and BP Chargemaster as part of a D2N2 known as the “Go 

Ultra Low Programme”, which has the aim to bring electric vehicle (EV) charge points 

to the area. 

The installation of Electric Vehicle charge points across the Borough is considered a 

key component in these options.  It will help the public to more easily switch to less 

polluting vehicles by providing the infrastructure to do so. The use of Council car 

parks will demonstrate that High Peak Borough Council is leading by example and 

the publicity will increasing awareness of air quality issues across the local 

community.

Phase 1 of this project has been completed and resulted in the installation of rapid 

charge points for electric vehicles at several Council owned Car parks across the 

Borough, including one in Glossop considered to impact on AQMAs No1 & No2

These are: 

o Municipal Buildings Car Park, Glossop

o Station Road Car Park, Hadfield

o Hope Valley Car Park, Hope

A second Phase has now also been implemented, specifically near high density 

housing where residents may wish to invest in an EV but have limited scope to 

charge their car because of lack of a private garage or driveway, therefore require 

on-street charging.

These are: 

o Bernard street Car park, Glossop

o Miry meadow car park, Chapel en le frith

o Canal street car park, Whaley Bridge and 

Page 126



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 25

o Victoria Park road shops, Fairfield 

o Sylvan car park, Buxton will be complete

The majority of these have now also been installed or are due to be installed in the 
coming autumn of 2020. An example of the EV charge point at Bernard street Car 
park, Glossop is shown in Figure 3.2 below.

 

Figure 3.2.

3.5.2  Leading by example measures
The measures that we will seek to adopt will be developed through policy (section 

3.3). 

The first stage of the new High Peak Local plan review was implemented in the June 

2020 and sought to update the associated policies. Environmental Health have 

proposed that a specific AQ policy is incorporated into the new local plan, to address 

development around AQMAs and also  drive forward improvements in local air quality 

Page 127



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 26

across the borough, minimising exposure to pollution, and to improving the health 

and well-being of the residents. Whilst a policy in itself is unlikely to provide 

immediate solutions to improving air quality, it can ensure that future problems are 

prevented or minimised. 

The proposed policy is:  

Development will be permitted where it can be demonstrated:

1. that it does not lead to significant adverse effects on health, the environment 

or amenity from polluting or malodorous emissions, or dust

2. where a development is a sensitive end-use, that there will not be any 

significant adverse effects on health, the environment or amenity arising from 

existing poor air quality, sources of odour or other emissions to air.

According to the end-use and nature of the area and application, applicants must 

demonstrate that:

a. there is no adverse effect on air quality in an air quality management 

area (AQMA);

b. pollution levels within the AQMA will not have a significant adverse 

effect on the proposed use/users;

c. the development will not lead to the declaration of a new AQMA;

d. the development will not interfere with the implementation of the current 

Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP);

e. any sources of emissions to air, odours and fugitive dusts generated by 

the development are adequately mitigated so as not to lead to loss of amenity 

for existing and future occupants and land uses; and

f. any impacts on the proposed use from existing poor air quality, odour 

and emissions are appropriately monitored and mitigated by the developer.

In addition, new supplementary planning documents have been developed in 

conjunction with the East Midlands Air Quality Network, that is hoped to be formally 

adopted  that details the types of assessments  and appropriate pollution prevention 

or mitigation measures that may be adopted to facilitate development. 

Page 128



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 27

In accordance with climate change policy, DCC have developed a Transport Carbon 

Dioxide Reduction Strategy CO2 reduction project, to reduced CO2 emissions and 

other greenhouse gases (including NOx). 

These include: 

 Sustainable Travel Town Initiatives including a full package of measures to 

promote and encourage more sustainable transport. 

 Business Travel Planning to include encouraging lower carbon HGV 

technologies.

 Encouraging walking and cycling, creation of viable cycle networks which link 

to the wider Greenway network throughout Derbyshire, and promotion and 

marketing of networks, including production of maps.

  Provision of cycle training for adults if required. Smarter driving campaign, 

potential for provision of discounted smarter driving training. 

Vehicle type and fuel choice campaign – awareness raising campaign, 

including providing up-to-date information regarding outlets selling alternative 

fuels.

 Transport Choices education campaign to be investigated.

In addition to policy, the Council are looking to adopt the following lead by example 

initiatives/policies: 

 Replacing the Council vehicles (when required) with ones that are less 

polluting and more fuel efficient, 

 Inclusion of Air Quality, in the Councils procurement framework 

 Adopting an anti-idling policy / eco-driver training for some essential car 

users.

 Securing EV charging points at appropriate places of work

 Continuing to develop initiatives, such as flexible working, that reduces the 

need for employees to use their cars to get to work.

3.5.3 Education, community and partnership measures

HPBC is a member of the Derbyshire Pollution Group (DPG) and Derbyshire Air 

Page 129



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 28

Quality Forum (DAQF), which has encouraged partnership working on local air 
quality management, which is important given the cross boundary nature of air 
pollution. The DAQF comprises of local authority air quality officers, Derby City 
Council, Derbyshire County Council, Public Health England and County Public 
Health staff and other relevant stakeholders as necessary. DAQF is also a member 
of the East Midlands Air Quality Network (EMAQN).  Over the past 12 months the 
Forum has been delivering a comprehensive Action Plan with multi-agency and 
private sector support. The Action Plan is based around six key themes:

 Strategic vision and cross organisational working; 

 Improve access and promote usage of sustainable travel;

 Increase awareness of air quality issues amongst the population and 
strategic leaders;

 Reduce exposure and harm for those with existing health conditions and 
vulnerable groups;

 Planning and Development Control;

 Monitoring.

Specific actions from partners within the forum have included;

 Development of an Educational Video on AQ and measures you can do to 
improve AQ impacts. This is due to be filmed at the end of 2020

 The development of a Draft Derbyshire Low Emissions Infrastructure 
Strategy;

 The development of supplementary planning guidance for local planning 
authorities (in conjunction with the EMAQN);

 Mapping of ebike charging points across the County;

 Development and implementation of strategic plan for cycling to ensure 
continued investment in infrastructure;

 Support of the Healthy Homes project around fuel poverty and affordable 
warmth; 

 Development of an Annual trends report to Derbyshire Health and Wellbeing 
Board;

Page 130



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 29

 Development of Heat Map;

 Promotional activities around clean air day; and

 Awareness raising and training events.

The progress of these indicative measures are reported annually to the DCC Health 

and Wellbeing Board. 

Whilst the measures stated above and in Table 5.1 will help to contribute 
towards improvements in Air Quality the Council anticipates that further additional 
measures not yet prescribed will be developed with the support of key stakeholders 
to address air quality issues across the borough. 

4 Development and Implementation of High 
Peak Borough Council AQAP

4.1 Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement
Prior to finalising this AQAP, we will further consult with Highways England, other 

local authorities, agencies, businesses and the local community to improve local air 

quality.    In addition, we have undertaken the following stakeholder engagement:

 Articles in local media

 Questionnaires distributed directly to households along major roads

 Drop in session at Tintwistle Village Hall

4.2 Steering Group
It is proposed that a Steering Group is set up to discuss the impacts of the AQMA, 

once further details of the proposed impacts of the Trans Pennine upgrade have 

been fully established. It is proposed that the following are included in the steering 

group:

Proposals 

 Highways England 

Page 131



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 30

 HP Councillors  (including Cllr Rob Baker as local member for Tintwistle)

 Public Health Director (DCC)

 Public Health England

 Highway Authority 

 Peak Park 

5 AQAP Measures

Table 5.1 shows a summary of the High Peak Borough Council AQAP measures. 

It contains:

 a list of the actions that form part of the plan

 the responsible individual and departments/organisations who will deliver this 
action

 estimated cost of implementing each action (overall cost and cost to the local 
authority) 

 expected benefit in terms of pollutant emission and/or concentration reduction

 the timescale for implementation

 how progress will be monitored

Page 132



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 31

Table 5.1 ‒ Air Quality Action Plan Measures

Meas
ure 
No.

Measure EU 
Category EU Classification

Organisatio
ns involved 

and 
Funding 
Source

Planning 
Phase

Implementa
tion Phase

Key 
Performance 

Indicator

Reduction in 
Pollutant / 

Emission from 
Measure

Progress to Date
Estimated / 

Actual 
Completion 

Date

Comments / 
Barriers to 

implementation

1

Installation of 
off street EV 

Charging points 
across borough

Promoting 
Low 

Emission 
Transport

Promote Low 
Emission Vehicles

HPBC  / 
DCC/NCC 2019 Provisionally 

2020 TBC Reduced Vehicle 
emissions Near completion 2020

https://www.transp
ortnottingham.com
/driving/ultra-low-

emission-vehicles/

2

Develop 
Electric Vehicle 

Charging 
Strategy for 

borough

Promoting 
Low 

Emission 
Transport

Developing 
infrastructure to 

promote Low 
Emission 

Vehicles, EV 
recharging, Gas 
fuel recharging

HPBC  / 
DCC/NCC Ongoing Ongoing TBC Reduced Vehicle 

emissions Near Ongoing

https://www.transp
ortnottingham.com
/driving/ultra-low-

emission-vehicles/

3

HPBC Core 
Strategy 

PolicyEQ10
Review

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developmen

t Control

Other policy HPBC 2020 TBC TBC
Reduced vehicle 

and building 
emissions

Implementation 
on-going

EQ10 
Operational

Review Ongoing
None

4
Peak District 

Core Strategy 
Policy T1

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developmen

t Control

Other policy

Peak District 
National 

Park 
Authority

2013 2014 TBC
Reduced vehicle 

and building 
emissions

Implementation 
on-going Operational None

5
Peak District 
Local Plan 

Policy LC21

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developmen

t Control

Other policy

Peak District 
National 

Park 
Authority

2000 2001 TBC
Reduced vehicle 

and building 
emissions

Implementation 
on-going Operational None

6 Local Transport 
Plan (LTP3)

Transport 
Planning 

and 
Infrastruct

ure

Other Policy DCC 2011 Ongoing     TBC
Reduced 
Vehicle 

emissions

Implementation 
ongoing 2026

https://www.derbys
hire.gov.uk/transpo
rt-roads/transport-
plans/ltp3/local-
transport-plan-

three.aspx

P
age 133



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 32

7 Workplace 
Travel Planning

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp
ort_plans/sustaina
ble_travel/default.

asp

8 Workplace 
Travel Planning

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions
Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp
ort_plans/sustaina
ble_travel/default.

asp

9
Encourage / 

facilitate home-
working

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/worki
ng_for_us/smarter
_travel/default.asp

10 School Travel 
Plans

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions
Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp
ort_plans/sustaina
ble_travel/travel_s
mart/default.asp & 
https://modeshiftst

ars.org/

11 Promotion of 
cycling

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/cycling/default.

asp

12 Promotion of 
walking

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

educed 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/walking/default.

asp

13 Car Share 
Derbyshire

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions
Ongoing

https://liftshare.co
m/uk/community/d

erbyshire

14
Promote use of 

rail – Community 
rail partnerships

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions
Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/public_
transport/communi
ty_rail_partnership

s/default.asp

P
age 134



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 33

15 Public cycle hire 
schemes

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions

Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/cycling/cycle_hi

re/default.asp

16 Improving Cycle 
network

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/cycling/default.

asp

17
Strategic 

Environmental 
Assessments

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective
Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions

Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp
ort_plans/ltp3/env
_assessments/def

ault.asp

18
Planning 

Guidance for 
developers

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective
Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions

Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp

ort_plans

19

East Midlands 
Air Quality 
Network

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developm

ent 
Control

Regional 
Groups Co- 
coordinating 
Area wide 

Strategies to 
reduce 

emissions and 
improve air 

quality

PHE /East 
Midlands 
Councils

Ongoing Ongoing N/A Reduction in a 
range of 

pollutants

Work Plans / 
Action 
Plans 

Developed

N/A

Air Quality 
Working 
Group 

involves key 
players at 

senior level in 
Public sector 
and voluntary 

sectors

20

East Midlands 
Air Quality 
Network 

Guidance for 
Developers

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developmen

t Control

Air Quality 
Planning and 

Policy Guidance

PHE /East 
Midlands 
Councils

2018 Ongoing N/A
Reduction in a 

range of 
pollutants

Establishes a 
range of 

measures 
expected by 
developers 

Reduction in 
a range of 
pollutants 

from 
development

N/A

To be adapted 
locally taken to the 

Planning and 
Health Group on 

completion for 
discussion and 

local adoption and 
implementation

21

Derbyshire Air 
Quality 

Working 
Group

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Develop
m ent 

Control

Derbyshire 
Groups Co- 
coordinating 
Area wide 

Strategies to 
reduce 

emissions and 

Derby City 
Council/ 

DCC/ District 
Councils

2016
onwards ongoing n/a

Reduction in a 
range of 

pollutants

Work Plans / 
Action Plans 
Developed

Ongoing

Annual report from 
group taken to 

Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 
Annual work plan 
created and a ten 
year Derbyshire 

P
age 135



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 34

improve air 
quality

Air Quality 
Strategy in 
production

23

Raise 
awareness of 

impacts of coal 
and wood 
burning

Public 
Informatio

n

Regional Groups 
Co-ordinating 

programmes to 
develop Area-wide 

Strategies to 
reduce emissions 
and improve air 

quality

HPBC/
Defra Ongoing Ongoing Unknown Unknown Ongoing Ongoing

DEFRA Leaflet 
now on Council 
websites (City 
and County).
In addition, 

DCC Healthy 
Homes 

Programme 
continues to 
offer grant 
funding to 

convert coal 
fires to gas 

central heating 
systems.

24

Inspect under 
the 

Environmental 
Permit regime 
and enforce 
legislation to 

reduce 
combustion 
processes

Environment
al Permits

Introduction/ 
increase of 

environment 
charges through 
permit systems 
and economic 
instruments

HPBC

Completed On-going

Installations 
adhering to 
permits and 

enforcement/p
en alties for 
breaches

By restricting 
emissions from 

industrial 
processes

on-going Continual

This is standard 
HPBC work in 
Environmental 

Protection

25 Air quality 
monitoring

Public 
Information Other

HPBC On-going On-going

# monitoring 
locations and 

On-time 
submittal of 

ASRs

Through 
EHO/public 
awareness

On-going annually Annual

Possibly liaise with 
Defra regarding 

need for additional 
monitoring and/or 

AURN funding.
Consider 

continuous 
monitoring and AQ 
grant application

P
age 136



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 35

Appendix A: Monitoring Results 2019
Table A.1 ‒  Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2)  Monitoring Results for High Peak Borough Council

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m3) (3)

Site ID Site Type Monitoring 
Type

Valid Data 
Capture 2019 

(%) (1) 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

HP1 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83 15.1 17.8 22.5 22.9 19.2
HP2(4) Roadside Diffusion Tube - 65.0 60.2 59.5 - -
HP3 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 34.5 32.3 31.9 28.7 25.7
HP4 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 34.3 32.0 34.1 27.7 32.6
HP5 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83 51.8 49.9 50.9 47 37.4
HP6 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 35.4 32.1 33 32.8 30
HP7 Kerbside Diffusion Tube - 19.0 20.9 17.1 - -
HP8 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 38.6 36.2 46.4 39.3 35.5
HP9 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 23.7 23.0 25.6 22.7 21

HP10 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 25.4 26.6 27.1 27.5 25.8
HP11 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83 21.2 22.7 19.9 21.6 20.5
HP12 Roadside Diffusion Tube - 27.0 26.4 28.8 31.5 -
HP13 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 12.1 15.8 12.5 13.8 13.8
HP14 Roadside Diffusion Tube 92 21.8 20.4 25.8 24.1 23
HP15 Roadside Diffusion Tube - - 21.1 26.7 23.7 -
HP16 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 - 23.6 27 25.8 23.9
HP17 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 20.6 19.1 32.8 32.6 31.4
HP18 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 36.4 33.7 37.7 38.1 35.8
HP19 Roadside Diffusion Tube - 21.5 22.1 31.1 27.8 -
HP20 Kerbside Diffusion Tube 100 32.0 30.8 38.5 28.4 26.3

P
age 137



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 36

HP21 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 - - 44.4 41.3 38.9
HP22 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 - - 37.2 33.6 31.3
HP24 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 - - - 29.8 29.4
HP25 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 - - - 53.6 49.2
HP26 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 - - - 34.5 30.8
HP27 Roadside Diffusion Tube 92 - - - 32.7 33.7
HP28 Roadside Diffusion Tube 92 - - - 23 22.5
HP29 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 - - - 30.7 27.5
HP30 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 - - - 28.3 27.3
HP31 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 - - - 37.8 35.9
HP32 Roadside Diffusion Tube 92 - - - 40.3 39.4
HP33 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83 - - - 48.2 44.9
HP34 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 - - - 23.6 26.3
HP35 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 - - - 29.0 29.2
HP36 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83 - - - 32.3 30.8
HP37 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 - - - 25.3 27.3
HP38 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 - - - 27.4 33.3
HP39 Roadside Diffusion Tube 92 - - - 23.0 23.5
HP40 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100 - - - 26.3 27.9
HP41 Roadside Diffusion Tube 75 - - - - 44.4
HP42 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83 - - - - 50.3
HP43 Roadside Diffusion Tube 92 - - - - 34
HP44 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83 - - - - 36.2
HP45 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83 - - - - 28.58
HP46 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83 - - - - 20.8
HP74 Roadside Diffusion Tube 25 - - - - 36.2

☒ Diffusion tube data has been bias corrected

P
age 138



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 37

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% (none required) 
☒ If applicable, all data has been distance corrected for relevant exposure

Notes:
Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold.
NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and underlined.
(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year.
(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar year is 50%).
(3) Means for diffusion tubes have been corrected for bias. All means have been “annualised” as per Boxes 7.9 and 7.10 in LAQM.TG16 if valid data capture for 
the full calendar year is less than 75%. See Appendix C for details
(4) Average of triplicate diffusion tubes.

P
age 139



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 38

Table A.2 ‒  Details of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites within High Peak Borough Council

Site ID Site Name Site 
Type

X OS Grid 
Ref

Y OS Grid 
Ref

Pollutants 
Monitored

In 
AQMA?

Distance to 
Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) (1)

Distance 
to kerb of 
nearest 

road (m) (2)

Tube 
collocated 

with a 
Continuous 
Analyser?

Height 
(m)

HP1
Rear of Howard 

Town House, 
Glossop

Roadside 403591 394050 NO2 NO 0.15 5.5 NO 2.7

HP2A Pegasus Crossing 1 Roadside 402585 397407 NO2 NO 56.3 1.7 NO 2.4

HP3 95 Woodhead Road, 
Tintwistle Roadside 402891 397536 NO2 NO 0.07 4.5 NO 2.1

HP4 60 Woodhead Road, 
Tintwistle Roadside 402824 397491 NO2 NO 0.1 2 NO 2

HP5 81 Woodhead Road, 
Tintwistle Roadside 402686 397437 NO2 YES 0.16 4.8 NO 2

HP6 75 Woodhead Road, 
Tintwistle Roadside 402539 397353 NO2 NO 0.05 4.1 NO 2.5

HP7 112 Old Road, 
Tintwistle Roadside 402539 397393 NO2 NO 0.14 0.55 NO 2.4

HP8 34 Church Street, 
Tintwistle Roadside 402240.2 397265 NO2 NO 0.15 2.1 NO 2.4

HP9 8 The Stocks, 
Tintwistle Roadside 402192.4 397274.5 NO2 NO 0.15 9.1 NO 2

HP10 Furness Vale School Roadside 400837 383466 NO2 NO 0.15 4.1 NO 2.3

HP11 Dove Holes School Roadside 407668 378239 NO2 NO 0.15 3.6 NO 2.8

HP12
Fairfield Rd / 
Lightwood Rd 

junction, Buxton
Roadside 406391 373730 NO2 NO 3.2 1.5 NO 2.7

HP13 8 Granby Rd, Buxton Roadside 406581 373419 NO2 NO 0.15 11.2 NO 2

P
age 140



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 39

HP14 Brookfield, Hadfield Roadside 401111 395390 NO2 NO 6.1 1.5 NO 2.5

HP15 131 Woolley Bridge 
Hadfield Roadside 401296 396112 NO2 NO 4.6 1.7 NO 2.7

HP16 10  Woolley Bridge 
Hadfield HP12B Roadside 401221 395993 NO2 NO 1.5 1.4 NO 2.8

HP17 Newtown traffic 
lights (A6) New Mills Roadside 399411 384561 NO2 NO 4.1 1.1 NO 2.7

HP18 Barmoor Clough, 
Dove Holes Roadside 407629 379482 NO2 NO 103.3 2.6 NO 2.5

HP19 Railway Station, 
Buxton Roadside 405884 373715 NO2 NO 13.3 1.7 NO 2.8

HP20
Manchester Rd / 
New Rd junction, 

Tintwistle
Kerbside 401956.7 397279.7 NO2 NO 0.89 0.88 NO 2.6

HP21 Dinting School (A57) Roadside 402060 394343 NO2 NO 0.15 1.6 NO 2.5

HP22 236 High Street 
West, Glossop (A57) Roadside 402418 394220 NO2 NO 0.15 3.1 NO 2.6

HP24 64  High Street East, 
Glossop (A57) Roadside 403794 394089 NO2 NO 2.29 1.42 NO 2.4

HP25
A57 / Dinting Vale / 

Glossop Road (West 
Bound)

Roadside 401797 394508 NO2 NO 2.74 0.62 NO 2.5

HP26
Lampost near 70-72 

Woolley  Bridge  
(East Bound)

Roadside 401025 395670 NO2 NO 0.26 2.27 NO 2.5

P
age 141



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 40

HP27

North of 41 Wooley 
Bridge Road – Tom 

Howley (North 
Bound)

Roadside 401014 395872 NO2 NO 9.48 2.87 NO 2.6

HP28
Near 411 Hadfield 
Road (lamppost) 

(south Bound)
Roadside 401272 395970 NO2 NO 2.84 2 NO 2.6

HP29
10 Manchester Rd 

(row of Houses)  
(West Bound)

Roadside 401215 396967 NO2 NO 0.16 2.39 NO 2.4

HP30 25 Manchester Road 
(East Bound) Roadside 401641 397240 NO2 NO 3.05 2.33 NO 2.5

HP31 58 Manchester Road 
(West Bound) Roadside 401876 397261 NO2 NO 0.35 1.52 NO 2.6

HP32 37 Buxton Road, 
Bridgemont Roadside 401227 382556 NO2 NO 2.07 1.43 NO 2.5

HP33 135 Fairfield Road 
(lamp post) Roadside 406594 373949 NO2 NO 0.2 2.9 NO 2.5

HP34
25 Buxton Road, 

Dove Holes (A6) S-
Bound

Roadside 407541 377764 NO2 NO 0.81 1.92 NO 2.5

HP35 85 Hallsteads, Dove 
Holes (A6) N- Bound Roadside 407677 378326 NO2 NO 0.35 2.77 NO 2.5

HP36
144 Buxton 

Road,Furness Vale 
(A6) N- bound

Roadside 400737 383534 NO2 NO 9.43 1.87 NO 2.6

HP37
81 Buxton Road, 

Furness Vale (A6) S-
bound

Roadside 400682 383623 NO2 NO 2.47 2.27 NO 2.6

P
age 142



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 41

HP38
86 Buxton Road, 

New Town, (A6) N - 
Bound

Roadside 399676 384579 NO2 NO 2.26 1.58 NO 2.6

HP39
79 Buxton Road, 

New Town, (A6) S - 
Bound

Roadside 399716 384578 NO2 NO 3.5 1.95 NO 2.6

HP40
33 Buxton Road, 

New Mills, (A6) S - 
Bound

Roadside 399622 384581 NO2 NO 2.75 2.9 NO 2.5

HP41 22 Fairfield SB Roadside 406405 373760 NO2 NO 0.2 2.13 NO 2.4

HP42 52 Fairfield NB Roadside 406402 373898 NO2 NO 3.06 2.18 NO 2.6

HP43 101 Fairfield (SB) Roadside 406450 373920 NO2 NO 3.64 1.46 NO 2.6

HP44 Bulls Head Fairfield 
NB Roadside 406606 373972 NO2 NO 0.18 1.6 NO 2.6

HP45 117 Buxton road 
Whaley bridge NB Roadside 401081 380736 NO2 NO 0.2 2.97 NO 2.5

HP46 Whaley Bridge 
Primary School NB Roadside 401107 381054 NO2 NO 7.76 2.63 NO 2.6

HP47 Charlesworth ; G&D Roadside 400526 392905 NO2 NO 0.2 0.9 NO 2.6

P
age 143



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 42

Appendix B: Reasons for Not Pursuing Action Plan Measures
Table B.1 ‒ Action Plan Measures Not Pursued and the Reasons for that Decision

Action category Action description Reason action is not being pursued (including 
Stakeholder views)

Transport Measures Further evaluation of road network impacts 
and implementation of mitigation measures 

Action is temporarily on hold until Highways England have 
completed updated modelling on the proposed impact of the 
Trans Pennine upgrade scheme   

P
age 144



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020 43

Glossary of Terms
Please add a description of any abbreviation included in the AQAP – An example is 

provided below.

Abbreviation Description

AQAP Air Quality Action Plan - A detailed description of measures, 
outcomes, achievement dates and implementation methods, 
showing how the local authority intends to achieve air quality limit 
values’

AQMA Air Quality Management Area – An area where air pollutant 
concentrations exceed / are likely to exceed the relevant air quality 
objectives. AQMAs are declared for specific pollutants and 
objectives

AQS Air Quality Strategy

ASR Air quality Annual Status Report

Defra Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

EU European Union

LAQM Local Air Quality Management

NO2 Nitrogen Dioxide

NOx Nitrogen Oxides

PM10 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10µm 
(micrometres or microns) or less

PM2.5 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm 
or less

… …

Page 145



 High Peak Borough Council

Page 146



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

8 October 2020

TITLE: Buxton Neighbourhood Plan

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Anthony McKeown - Leader

CONTACT OFFICER: Mark James – Principal Planning Officer

WARDS INVOLVED: Barms, Burbage, Buxton Central, Corbar, 
Cote Heath, Limestone Peak, Stone Bench 
and Temple

Appendices Attached:
Appendix A 1 – Application for designation of a Neighbourhood Area and Forum 
for Buxton
Appendix A 2 – Proposed Neighbourhood Area Map
Appendix A 3 – Constitution of the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum
Appendix A 4 – Buxton Neighbourhood Forum Statement
Appendix A 5 – Buxton Neighbourhood Forum Members

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To consider an application made by ‘The Buxton Neighbourhood Forum 
Community Interest Company (CIC)’ to designate a neighbourhood area and 
neighbourhood forum for Buxton under section 61G of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Executive approves consultation on the applications for the 
designation of a neighbourhood area and neighbourhood forum for Buxton.  

2.2 That the Executive agrees to consider the responses to the consultation at a 
future meeting of The Executive  in order to meet the 13 week deadline 
specified in the regulations.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 On the 9th September 2020 Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC applied to the 
Council to designate a neighbourhood forum and a neighbourhood area for 
Buxton. 

Page 147

Agenda Item 8



3.2 Having both designations will mean that the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC 
can begin to prepare a neighbourhood plan or neighbourhood development 
order. A neighbourhood plan forms part of the development plan and decisions 
on planning applications will be made using the local plan, neighbourhood plan 
and any other material considerations. A neighbourhood development order 
grants planning permission for specific development in a particular area.

3.3 Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC have submitted details explaining why the 
proposed neighbourhood area is an appropriate area and why the group is the 
appropriate body to lead neighbourhood planning in that area.

3.4 Consultation on the applications should be undertaken by the local planning 
authority and the Council is required to determine the applications within 13 
weeks of them first being publicised.

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 Given the broad nature of neighbourhood planning, there will be direct 
implications for all of the Councils corporate priorities.

5. Alternative Options

5.1 Option 1 – (recommended) that the Council agrees to the recommendations as 
set out in section 2 of this report. This will enable the community to comment on 
the applications prior to the Council making a final decision. The process for the 
consideration of such applications is established through the regulations

5.2 Option 2 (not recommended) the Council does not support consultation on the 
applications. There is no sound basis not to allow the applications to be subject 
to consultation. Local planning authorities are required to enable the preparation 
of neighbourhood plans and applications for neighbourhood areas and forums 
must be subject to consultation. 

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2 Workforce
The neighbourhood forum will receive support from members of the 
Development Services planning policy team in preparation of their 
neighbourhood plan to help ensure that the plan will make the basic 
conditions and be successful at examination. 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council’s 
diversity and equality policies.

Page 148



6.4 Financial Considerations
The main financial considerations will result from: 
 Cost of examination (estimated £8,000). 
 Cost of referendum (estimated £10,000). 
The Council is eligible for Neighbourhood Planning New Burdens 
funding – paid by MHCLG for supporting progression of 
Neighbourhood Plans. The 2020/21 claims criteria allow the Council 
to claim £5,000 for the first five neighbourhood areas designated. 
The limit of five areas applies to the total number of areas designated 
(i.e. it includes areas designated in previous years). The Council has 
designated four areas (Chapel-en-le-Frith, Whaley Bridge, Chinley, 
Buxworth and Brownside and Hayfield).  The Council can also claim 
£5,000 for the first five neighbourhood forum designations. Buxton 
would be the first such designation in High Peak. Therefore the 
estimated net cost to the Borough would be in the region of £8,000.

6.5 Legal
Under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) the 
Council has a statutory duty to assist communities in the preparation 
of neighbourhood development plans. Applications for designation 
of a neighbourhood area are made under Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012 and The Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) and Development Management Procedure (Amendment) 
Regulations 2016. Neighbourhood areas are defined under the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 61G. The relevant 
considerations for the Council include: Before exercising it powers, 
the Council should consider: 1. Is the organisation making the 
application a relevant body (as prescribed by the Act this must be a 
Parish Council or, in unparished areas, a designated Neighbourhood 
Forum)? 2. Is the area identified for designation as a neighbourhood 
area considered appropriate? 3. Would the area more appropriately 
be designated a business area i.e. the area is wholly or 
predominately in business use? 4. Does the area overlap with 
another designated area? 5. Comments received during any public 
consultation, where consultation is required?

The Council is required to exercise its powers to designate the 
specified area as a neighbourhood area.

6.6 Climate Change
There are opportunities for neighbourhood development plans to 
contribute to tackling the causes and effects of climate change. 

6.7 Consultation
Neighbourhood development plans will be subject to public 
consultation.

Page 149



6.8 Risk Assessment
Risks are identified in the report.

Neil Rodgers
Executive Director (Place)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Localism Act 2011

The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 
2012 (as amended)

Mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk
ruth.wooddisse@highpeak.gov.uk

7. Detail

7.1 Neighbourhood Planning is a tool introduced by the Localism Act 2011 that 
communities can use to help shape the future of their area. The preparation of 
a neighbourhood development plan can be used to set out a vision for the future 
of an area, with associated planning policies for the use and development of 
land. Neighbourhood development plans can say where new homes, shops or 
offices should go; which green spaces should be protected, and what new 
development should look like. A neighbourhood development order grants 
planning permission for specific development in a particular area. 
Neighbourhood development plans/orders are optional and communities can 
choose whether or not to prepare one.

7.2 On the 9th September 2020 Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC applied to the 
Council to designate a neighbourhood forum and a neighbourhood area for 
Buxton. Having both neighbourhood area and forum designations will mean that 
the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC can begin to prepare a neighbourhood 
development plan/order. A neighbourhood plan forms part of the development 
plan and sits alongside the local plan. Decisions on planning applications will be 
made using both the local plan and the neighbourhood plan/order, and any other 
material considerations.

7.3 The Council has an approved scheme of delegated approval for area 
designations where this relates to the consideration of straight forward cases 
where a parish or town council is applying for designation of the whole of the 
parish area. As Buxton is not a parish this scheme does not apply.

7.4 A designated neighbourhood forum is an organisation or group empowered to 
lead the neighbourhood planning process in a neighbourhood area where there 
is no town or parish council.

7.5 A group or organisation must apply to the local planning authority to be 
designated as a neighbourhood forum (a forum application). Those making a 
forum application must show how they have sought to comply with the 
conditions for neighbourhood forum designation. These are set out in section 
61F(5) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as applied to neighbourhood 
plans by section 38A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  This 
includes the provision of a written constitution.

6.4

Page 150

mailto:Mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk
mailto:ruth.wooddisse@highpeak.gov.uk


7.6 To be designated a neighbourhood forum must have a membership that 
includes a minimum of 21 individuals who either: live in the neighbourhood area, 
work there; and/or are elected members for a local authority that includes all or 
part of the neighbourhood area. The Council is required to consider the extent 
to which the membership is drawn from different places within the area and 
whether it includes different sections of the community in that area.

7.7 In order to designate a neighbourhood area, an application must include a 
statement explaining why the proposed neighbourhood area is an appropriate 
area.

7.8 A group can apply for a neighbourhood area to be designated even if it is not 
yet a designated neighbourhood forum. However, in order to be sure that the 
group is the appropriate body to lead neighbourhood planning in that area, the 
group must demonstrate that it is capable of becoming the designated 
neighbourhood forum for the neighbourhood area they are applying to have 
designated.

7.9 The joint application for forum and area designations is provided in Appendices 
A 1 to A 5. It is considered that it meets the necessary statutory requirements in 
order to undertake the consultation. It contains the following:

7.10 For the Neighbourhood Forum:

 the name of the proposed neighbourhood forum; 

 a copy of the written constitution of the proposed neighbourhood forum;

 the name of the neighbourhood area to which the application relates and 
a map that identifies the area;

 the contact details of at least one member of the proposed 
neighbourhood forum to be made public; and 

 a statement which explains how the proposed neighbourhood forum 
meets the conditions contained in section 61F(5) of the 1990 Act.  

For the Neighbourhood Area:

 a map which identifies the area to which the area application relates; 

 a statement explaining why this area is considered appropriate to be 
designated as a neighbourhood area; and 

 a statement that the organisation or body making the area application is 
a relevant body for the purposes of section 61G of the 1990 Act.  

7.11 The local planning authority must determine the applications within certain 
timescales. The Neighbourhood Planning (General) (Amendment) Regulations 
2015 prescribe time limits for the determination of a neighbourhood area and 
forum applications. The Council is required to determine the applications within 

Page 151



13 weeks of them first being publicised. If these time limits are not met, the local 
planning authority must designate all of the area applied for. As such, it is 
proposed that consultation on the Buxton neighbourhood forum and 
neighbourhood area should commence in mid November 2020 and that the 
comments received to the consultation are considered by this Committee on the 
4th February 2021 so that the timescales can be met.

7.12 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 require 
neighbourhood planning groups and local planning authorities to undertake 
publicity in a manner that is likely to bring it to the attention of people who live, 
work or carry on business in the neighbourhood area. The Council’s adopted 
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) doesn’t explicitly state how 
consultation should be undertaken in the case of a neighbourhood forum. The 
government has provided updated COVID-19 guidance for neighbourhood 
planning which states that ‘It is not mandatory for copies of documents to be 
made available at a physical location. They may be held available online. Local 
planning authorities may be able to advise neighbourhood planning groups on 
suitable methods that will provide communities with access to physical copies 
of documents.’

7.13 It is proposed to hold a six week consultation which would be consistent with 
other statutory consultations in the SCI and the Borough Council’s website will 
provide the main point of consultation. The Council maintains a database which 
includes contact details for those organisations listed in the regulations that the 
Council is required to consult and other individuals / organisations who have 
made comments on planning policy documents. They will be directly contacted 
by means of either an email or postal communication. Although the main focus 
will be web-based consultation it is recognised that not everyone is able to 
access online consultation material and where necessary paper copies of the 
information can be provided. Social media will also be used to publicise the 
consultation.Details will also be made available at Buxton Library (subject to 
opening).

Page 152



From: Buxton Ndp
To: Rodgers, Neil
Cc: Wooddisse, Ruth; James, Mark
Subject: Application for designation of a Neighbourhood Area and Neighbourhood Forum for Buxton
Date: Wednesday, September 09, 2020 4:20:46 PM
Attachments: Proposed Neighbourhood area 25000 scale (3).pdf

Constitution of the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum.docx
bnf_members May 2020.xlsx
Statement_bnf.docx

Jane Reynolds

16 Davenham Avenue

Buxton 

SK17 6LS

 

 

Dear Neil Rodgers, 

 

Application for designation of a Neighbourhood Area and Neighbourhood Forum for Buxton

 

I am writing to you as a director of the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC to apply for the
Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC to be recognised by High Peak Borough Council as the
qualifying body to create a Neighbourhood plan for the unparished areas of Buxton (the map
of the proposed plan area is attached). We consider this Neighbourhood Area  to be
appropriate because it includes the areas of Buxton that do not have another qualifying body. 

 

Since registering the CIC, the steering group of the forum have held meetings in different parts
of the town and recruited a membership that  meets the requirements of the Section 61F(5) of
the Town and Country Planning Act (1990). We have members in all Buxton wards, ranging
in age from mid 20s to mid 80s.  Many of our members work in Buxton and several have
businesses in the town. I have attached our constitution, a list of our members, and a statement
explaining why we believe we have the support and expertise to complete the task of
preparing a neighbourhood plan for Buxton. 

 

I am happy for my contact details to be made public. 

Page 153

mailto:buxtonndp@gmail.com
mailto:Neil.Rodgers@highpeak.gov.uk
mailto:Ruth.Wooddisse@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.James@highpeak.gov.uk



 www.memory-map.comRoute. Copyright © 2018 Crown Copyright; Ordnance Survey, Licence Number 100034184






Constitution of the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC

Name

Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC

Introduction 

Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC  is constituted as a Community Interest Company (CIC) registered at Companies House, company number 12038268 with a Community Interest Statement that includes the objectives listed below. The CIC shall have a minimum of three directors whose responsibilities are to ensure that:

· The Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC works towards the objectives included in the Community Interest Statement

· The Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC meets its statutory obligations

Through this constitution the Directors of the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC delegate their powers to work towards the objectives as set out in this constitution and the Forum shall abide by the purpose, spirit and rules of this constitution.

Area of Activity

The area in which the Forum will pursue its objects is the Buxton Neighbourhood Area, which is the area designated in the accompanying map, comprising all unparished areas of Buxton and surrounding areas. Any planning application submitted within the neighbourhood area will be assessed against the relevant policies contained within the neighbourhood plan, once adopted.

Objectives

The objects of the Forum clearly establish the express purpose of promoting the social, economic and environmental well-being of the area that consists of the neighbourhood plan area.  They are:

· To prepare a Neighbourhood Plan for the Buxton area;

· To promote or improve the social, economic, health and environmental well-being of the Buxton area;

· To promote the cultural and heritage aspects of the Buxton area;

· To provide homes that serve the needs of the community

· To support thriving businesses

· To enhance community cohesion;

· To continue to maintain the neighbourhood plan when necessary

 Powers

In furtherance of its objects the Forum though it’s Officers or such person(s) nominated by its officers, for example working in sub-groups, may 

· Carry out informal and statutory consultations on the draft plan

· To gather information in furtherance of the work of the Forum

· To take all steps necessary, working in conjunction with High Peak Borough Council to fulfil the statutory requirements leading to the adoption of the Neighbourhood Plan. 

· Invite and receive contributions and raise funds where appropriate, to finance the work of the Forum, and to open a bank account to manage such funds; 

· Publicise and promote the work of the Forum and organise meetings, surveys, training courses, events or seminars, etc.; 

· Work with community groups within the Buxton area to exchange information, advice and knowledge with them, including cooperation with other voluntary bodies, charities, statutory and non-statutory organisations; 

· Employ staff and volunteers as are necessary to conduct activities to meet the objects of the Forum;

· Take any form of action that is lawful, which is necessary to achieve the objects of the Forum, including taking out any contracts which it may see fit; 

· Purchase, take on lease or hire property in furtherance of the objects;

· Pay reasonable out of pocket expenses to members and volunteers for costs incurred in carrying out the Forum’s business.

 

Membership 

The Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC meets the conditions contained in Section 61F(5), Schedule 9 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and regulation 5 of the 2012 Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations.  

Membership of the Forum is open to all individuals who live, work, own businesses or are elected members in the neighbourhood area

Any applicant eligible for membership and who supports the aims and objects of the Forum shall become a member of the Forum on submission to the Secretary of a request to join which

I. provides satisfactory evidence of eligibility;

II. provides contact details which may be used by the Forum for its lawful purposes;

III. is accompanied by any subscription or fee which the Forum may have approved through a General Meeting.]

The Forum will comprise at least 21 individuals who live, volunteer or work in the Buxton Neighbourhood Area or who are elected members of High Peak Borough Council.

The Forum may for good and sufficient reason terminate the membership of any individual or refuse membership to any applicant, provided that the individual concerned shall have the right to be  heard by the Forum, accompanied by a friend, before a final decision has been made.

To ensure the Forum will have a minimum of 21 members and its membership reflect the diversity, character and inclusivity of the area, the Forum will review the membership list at the AGM.  New  appointments or any resignations may be considered during the year.

Working Arrangements

· The Forum shall be supported by Officers who are members of the Forum to be elected annually at the Annual General Meeting.

· The Officers shall consist of a Chairperson, Secretary and Treasurer ('the Officers').

· If vacancies occur among the Officers, the Forum shall have the power to fill them from among its members at any meeting of the Forum.

· Officers shall retire from office at the annual general meeting following the date on which they came into office but they may be re-elected or re-appointed.

· Declarations of interest and potential conflicts of interest of all members will be recorded and reported to the Forum annually and at every Forum meeting. (E.g. conflicts of interest could include where neighbourhood plan policy would affect the business interests of a forum member).

· The Forum shall work together with other community organisations within the Buxton Neighbourhood Plan area to collect and collate information for the plan. 

Forum Meetings

· The Forum shall hold at least 4 ordinary meetings each year. There shall be a quorum when at least one quarter of the members of the Forum are present at a meeting.

· At least 14 days notice to all members shall be given of the AGM

· Every matter shall be determined by a simple majority of the members of the Forum present and voting by a show of hands.  In case of equality of votes the Chairperson shall have a casting vote.

· Minutes shall be kept by the Secretary as a record of the proceedings of the meeting of the Forum and any of its sub-groups and shall be kept until 2 years following the adoption of the Buxton Neighbourhood plan or dissolution of the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CICs .

· The Forum may appoint one or more sub-groups providing that all acts and proceedings of the sub-groups shall be fully and promptly reported to the Forum.

· Any member may attend any meeting of the Forum and may speak at the discretion of the Chair.



Annual General Meeting (AGM)

· There shall be an annual general meeting, which shall be held no later than the end of June each year that shall deal with any business as required and in particular the following items.

· At least 14 days notice to all members shall be given of the AGM.

· The Officers shall present a report on the activities of the Forum in the past year and proposed activities for the next year and accounts of the Forum for the preceding year.

· Nominations for election to the Officers must be made by members of the Association in writing before the commencement of the meeting.

· The quorum at the AGM shall be 12 members or one quarter of the members up to a maximum of 20, whichever is larger. 

· Any required statutory obligations required of the Directors of the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC shall be conducted at the AGM.

 General and special general meeting

The Forum may at any time call a general or a special general meeting stating the business to be discussed.  A special meeting may also be called by the Secretary if a written request is received from at least 7 members.  At least 14 days’ notice to all members shall be given for special general meetings.

Finance

· All funds raised by or on behalf of the Forum shall be applied to further the objects of the Association and for no other purpose.

· The funds of the Forum including all donations, contributions, subscriptions and bequests shall be paid into an account operated by the Treasurer.

· All cheques drawn on the account must be signed by two officers

· The Forum shall comply with the obligations for trustees under the Companies Act 2006 (or any statutory re-enactment of modification of the Act) with regard to:

· The keeping of accounting records

· The preparation of annual statements of account

· The auditing or independent examination of the statements of account.



Amendments to the Constitution

Any amendment to the constitution shall require the approval of a two-thirds majority of those present and voting at the Meeting at which it is discussed.  Any resolution for the amendment of the constitution must be received by the Secretary at least 21 days before the meeting at which the resolution is to be brought forward.



Dissolution

· The Forum may be dissolved at a Special General Meeting called for that purpose and must be advertised 14 days before the meeting.

· Such proposals to dissolve the Forum shall take effect only if agreed by a two-thirds majority of members present and voting at the meeting.

· Surplus funds of the Forum, if it is dissolved shall be invested as directed in it’s final act by the Forum or if not directed by the Directors in projects that enhance the social, economic and environmental well-being of the town.

· If the Forum is dissolved the Directors shall wind up the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC at Companies House and comply with any final statutory or obligations that may remain as Directors of that company as soon as reasonably practicable.




Sheet1

								Interest in Area

		Name		Resident or Business Address		Resident		Worker		Councillor

		Jane Reynolds		16 Davenham Avenue, Buxton, SK17 6LS		Y

		Joe Dugdale		46a White Knowle Rd, Buxton SK17 9NH		Y		Y

		Richard Silson		66 Crowstones Buxton SK17 6NZ		Y

		Mary Fairhurst		4 Glenmoor Road, Buxton, SK17 7DD 		Y

		Simon Rogerson		104a Green Lane, Buxton, SK17 9DH		Y

		Rosemary Wood		130 Lightwood Rd, Buxton SK17 6RW		Y

		Janet Miller		22 West Rd, SK17 6HF		Y

		Adam Swain-Fossey		19 Holmfield, Buxton SK17 9DF		Y		Y

		Peter Crook		1 Mill Cliff Buxton, SK17 6QP		Y

		Gemma Ball		150 Lightwood Rd, Buxton SK17 SRW		Y		Y

		Alan Purser		Yhelt Cottage, 7 Town End, Buxton SK17 7EN		Y

		Suzannah Allen		6b Queens Rd, Buxton, SK17 7EX		Y

		Clare Parmacott		71 Beech View Drive, Harpur Hill, SK17 9NS		Y

		Matthew Blackwood		123 St Johns Rd, Buxton, SK17 6UR		Y		Y

		Roddie MacLean		The Smithy, Church St, Buxton SK17 6HD		Y		Y

		Matthew Nuttall		Flat 4, 31 St James Terrace, Buxton SK17 5HS		Y		Y

		Suzanne Pearson		83 Windsor Rd, Buxton SK17 7NR		Y		Y

		Kate MacLean		The Smithy, Church St, Buxton SK17 6HD		Y		Y

		Teresa Roper		3 Carr Rd, Buxton SK17 6WF		Y		Y

		Hannah Catrin Davies		3 Otterhole Close Buxton SK17 6DX		Y

		Alan Thompson		16a Broad Walk, Buxton SK17 6JR		Y

		Benjamin Evens		17 Darwin Avenue Buxton SK17 6NF		Y

		Barbara Stringer		1 Waterswallows Mews Buxton SK17 7JL		Y

		Guy Rees		55 Chatsworth Rd, Buxton, SK17 7QN		Y

		Christopher Hallam		11 The Glade Buxton SK17 6SL		Y		Y

		Charles Jolly		13 Darwin Avenue Buxton SK17 6NF		Y

		Patricia Thompson		Flat 6 Temple Court, Temple Rd, Buxton, SK17 9BA		Y		Y

		Richard Lower		17 Landsdowne Rd Buxton SK17 6RR		Y		Y

		John Robertson		23 Hartington Gardens Hartington road  SK176JL 		Y

		Jean Ball		Crowstones, Buxton SK17 6NZ.		Y		Y

		Mike Monaghan		6 Landsdowne Rd, Buxton SK17 6RR		Y

		Robin Edwards		4, Gadley Close Buxton SK17 6YQ		Y

		JeanTodd		139 Lightwood Rd, Buxton SK17 6RW		Y				Y

		Rob Wakeling		4 Southwood Hampton Court, SK17 6TL		Y

		Scott Murcott		Macclesfield Old Rd, Buxton, SK17 6TZ		Y		Y

		Alyson Philips		Lismore Rd, Buxton SK17 9AN		Y

		Keith Savage		White Knowle Rd, Buxton SK17 9NH		Y				Y

		Derek Bodey		30 Ecclesbourne Drive Buxton SK17 9BX		Y






Buxton Neighbourhood Forum



Buxton Neighbourhood Forum is a community interest company (CIC), established with the objective of producing a Neighbourhood Development Plan for the unparished area of Buxton. 

The creation of a neighbourhood forum was a project of the Buxton Town Team which involved a series of public meetings as well as discussions with other community organisation, such as Buxton Civic Association, Transition Buxton, Vision Buxton, Churches Together, and residents’ associations. The outcome of these meetings was a decision to set up a CIC to take forward the creation of the neighbourhood plan. 

Following the registration of the CIC (https://beta.companieshouse.gov.uk/company/12038268), the steering group organised public meetings in central Buxton,  Fairfield, Harpur Hill and Burbage to explain the reasons for creating a neighbourhood plan, discuss the possible content of the plan and recruit members.  

We now have sufficient members to apply for recognition as a qualifying body under the Localism Act and consider that membership is drawn from all wards across Buxton and from different sections of the community complying with the conditions in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Act[footnoteRef:1].  [1:  [Section 61F(5) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as applied to neighbourhood plans by section 38A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004] 


 All our members are resident in Buxton and about one third of the membership also work in the town, including in retail, hospitality, architectural consulting, and cultural and heritage consulting. Several members own businesses in the town, and quite a few are also active members of other community organisations. Two members of the Forum are members of High Peak Borough Council, Cllr Jean Todd and Cllr Keith Savage.  Members range in age from mid-twenties to eighties. 

In addition to members, the mailing list of the forum includes another 50 people who have asked to be kept up to date with the progress of the plan. We also have a Facebook page which has 85 followers, most of whom are not duplicates of the people on our membership and contacts lists.  We believe that, if we are recognised as a qualifying body and can apply for a Locality grant, we will be easily able to extend our network of contacts by holding public events and creating an engaging Website. 

Once recognised, we plan to work closely with other community organisations on the creation of the plan, given that there is considerable expertise in these organisations on many of the issues of interest that were identified at our meetings, for example, transport, sustainability and the protection of green spaces. 







Yours sincerely 

Jane Reynolds

Page 154



 www.memory-map.comRoute. Copyright © 2018 Crown Copyright; Ordnance Survey, Licence Number 100034184

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



Constitution of the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC 
1. Name 

Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC 

2. Introduction  
Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC  is constituted as a Community Interest Company (CIC) registered 

at Companies House, company number 12038268 with a Community Interest Statement that 

includes the objectives listed below. The CIC shall have a minimum of three directors whose 

responsibilities are to ensure that: 

 The Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC works towards the objectives included in the 

Community Interest Statement 

 The Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC meets its statutory obligations 

Through this constitution the Directors of the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC delegate their 

powers to work towards the objectives as set out in this constitution and the Forum shall abide by 

the purpose, spirit and rules of this constitution. 

3. Area of Activity 
The area in which the Forum will pursue its objects is the Buxton Neighbourhood Area, which is the 

area designated in the accompanying map, comprising all unparished areas of Buxton and 

surrounding areas. Any planning application submitted within the neighbourhood area will be 

assessed against the relevant policies contained within the neighbourhood plan, once adopted. 

4. Objectives 
The objects of the Forum clearly establish the express purpose of promoting the social, economic 

and environmental well-being of the area that consists of the neighbourhood plan area.  They are: 

• To prepare a Neighbourhood Plan for the Buxton area; 

• To promote or improve the social, economic, health and environmental well-being of the 

Buxton area; 

• To promote the cultural and heritage aspects of the Buxton area; 

• To provide homes that serve the needs of the community 

• To support thriving businesses 

• To enhance community cohesion; 

• To continue to maintain the neighbourhood plan when necessary 

5.  Powers 
In furtherance of its objects the Forum though it’s Officers or such person(s) nominated by its 

officers, for example working in sub-groups, may  

• Carry out informal and statutory consultations on the draft plan 

• To gather information in furtherance of the work of the Forum 

• To take all steps necessary, working in conjunction with High Peak Borough Council to fulfil 

the statutory requirements leading to the adoption of the Neighbourhood Plan.  

• Invite and receive contributions and raise funds where appropriate, to finance the work of 

the Forum, and to open a bank account to manage such funds;  

• Publicise and promote the work of the Forum and organise meetings, surveys, training 

courses, events or seminars, etc.;  

Page 157



• Work with community groups within the Buxton area to exchange information, advice and 

knowledge with them, including cooperation with other voluntary bodies, charities, 

statutory and non-statutory organisations;  

• Employ staff and volunteers as are necessary to conduct activities to meet the objects of the 

Forum; 

• Take any form of action that is lawful, which is necessary to achieve the objects of the 

Forum, including taking out any contracts which it may see fit;  

• Purchase, take on lease or hire property in furtherance of the objects; 

• Pay reasonable out of pocket expenses to members and volunteers for costs incurred in 

carrying out the Forum’s business. 

  

6. Membership  
The Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC meets the conditions contained in Section 61F(5), Schedule 9 

of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and regulation 5 of the 2012 Neighbourhood Planning 

(General) Regulations.   

Membership of the Forum is open to all individuals who live, work, own businesses or are elected 

members in the neighbourhood area 

Any applicant eligible for membership and who supports the aims and objects of the Forum shall 

become a member of the Forum on submission to the Secretary of a request to join which 

I. provides satisfactory evidence of eligibility; 

II. provides contact details which may be used by the Forum for its lawful purposes; 

III. is accompanied by any subscription or fee which the Forum may have approved through a 

General Meeting.] 

The Forum will comprise at least 21 individuals who live, volunteer or work in the Buxton 

Neighbourhood Area or who are elected members of High Peak Borough Council. 

The Forum may for good and sufficient reason terminate the membership of any individual or refuse 

membership to any applicant, provided that the individual concerned shall have the right to be  

heard by the Forum, accompanied by a friend, before a final decision has been made. 

To ensure the Forum will have a minimum of 21 members and its membership reflect the diversity, 

character and inclusivity of the area, the Forum will review the membership list at the AGM.  New  

appointments or any resignations may be considered during the year. 

7. Working Arrangements 
• The Forum shall be supported by Officers who are members of the Forum to be elected 

annually at the Annual General Meeting. 

• The Officers shall consist of a Chairperson, Secretary and Treasurer ('the Officers'). 

• If vacancies occur among the Officers, the Forum shall have the power to fill them from 

among its members at any meeting of the Forum. 

• Officers shall retire from office at the annual general meeting following the date on which 

they came into office but they may be re-elected or re-appointed. 

• Declarations of interest and potential conflicts of interest of all members will be recorded 

and reported to the Forum annually and at every Forum meeting. (E.g. conflicts of interest 

Page 158



could include where neighbourhood plan policy would affect the business interests of a 

forum member). 

• The Forum shall work together with other community organisations within the Buxton 

Neighbourhood Plan area to collect and collate information for the plan.  

8. Forum Meetings 
• The Forum shall hold at least 4 ordinary meetings each year. There shall be a quorum when 

at least one quarter of the members of the Forum are present at a meeting. 

• At least 14 days notice to all members shall be given of the AGM 

• Every matter shall be determined by a simple majority of the members of the Forum present 

and voting by a show of hands.  In case of equality of votes the Chairperson shall have a 

casting vote. 

• Minutes shall be kept by the Secretary as a record of the proceedings of the meeting of the 

Forum and any of its sub-groups and shall be kept until 2 years following the adoption of the 

Buxton Neighbourhood plan or dissolution of the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CICs . 

• The Forum may appoint one or more sub-groups providing that all acts and proceedings of 

the sub-groups shall be fully and promptly reported to the Forum. 

• Any member may attend any meeting of the Forum and may speak at the discretion of the 

Chair. 

 

9. Annual General Meeting (AGM) 
• There shall be an annual general meeting, which shall be held no later than the end of June 

each year that shall deal with any business as required and in particular the following items. 

• At least 14 days notice to all members shall be given of the AGM. 

• The Officers shall present a report on the activities of the Forum in the past year and 

proposed activities for the next year and accounts of the Forum for the preceding year. 

• Nominations for election to the Officers must be made by members of the Association in 

writing before the commencement of the meeting. 

• The quorum at the AGM shall be 12 members or one quarter of the members up to a 

maximum of 20, whichever is larger.  

• Any required statutory obligations required of the Directors of the Buxton Neighbourhood 

Forum CIC shall be conducted at the AGM. 

10.  General and special general meeting 
The Forum may at any time call a general or a special general meeting stating the business to be 

discussed.  A special meeting may also be called by the Secretary if a written request is received 

from at least 7 members.  At least 14 days’ notice to all members shall be given for special general 

meetings. 

11. Finance 
• All funds raised by or on behalf of the Forum shall be applied to further the objects of the 

Association and for no other purpose. 

• The funds of the Forum including all donations, contributions, subscriptions and bequests 

shall be paid into an account operated by the Treasurer. 

• All cheques drawn on the account must be signed by two officers 

• The Forum shall comply with the obligations for trustees under the Companies Act 2006 (or 

any statutory re-enactment of modification of the Act) with regard to: 

Page 159



o The keeping of accounting records 

o The preparation of annual statements of account 

o The auditing or independent examination of the statements of account. 

 

12. Amendments to the Constitution 
Any amendment to the constitution shall require the approval of a two-thirds majority of those 

present and voting at the Meeting at which it is discussed.  Any resolution for the amendment of the 

constitution must be received by the Secretary at least 21 days before the meeting at which the 

resolution is to be brought forward. 

 

13. Dissolution 
• The Forum may be dissolved at a Special General Meeting called for that purpose and must 

be advertised 14 days before the meeting. 

• Such proposals to dissolve the Forum shall take effect only if agreed by a two-thirds majority 

of members present and voting at the meeting. 

• Surplus funds of the Forum, if it is dissolved shall be invested as directed in it’s final act by 

the Forum or if not directed by the Directors in projects that enhance the social, economic 

and environmental well-being of the town. 

• If the Forum is dissolved the Directors shall wind up the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum CIC 

at Companies House and comply with any final statutory or obligations that may remain as 

Directors of that company as soon as reasonably practicable. 

 

Page 160



Buxton Neighbourhood Forum 
 

Buxton Neighbourhood Forum is a community interest company (CIC), established with the objective 

of producing a Neighbourhood Development Plan for the unparished area of Buxton.  

The creation of a neighbourhood forum was a project of the Buxton Town Team which involved a 

series of public meetings as well as discussions with other community organisation, such as Buxton 

Civic Association, Transition Buxton, Vision Buxton, Churches Together, and residents’ associations. 

The outcome of these meetings was a decision to set up a CIC to take forward the creation of the 

neighbourhood plan.  

Following the registration of the CIC (https://beta.companieshouse.gov.uk/company/12038268), the 

steering group organised public meetings in central Buxton,  Fairfield, Harpur Hill and Burbage to 

explain the reasons for creating a neighbourhood plan, discuss the possible content of the plan and 

recruit members.   

We now have sufficient members to apply for recognition as a qualifying body under the Localism 

Act and consider that membership is drawn from all wards across Buxton and from different sections 

of the community complying with the conditions in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Act1.  

 All our members are resident in Buxton and about one third of the membership also work in the 

town, including in retail, hospitality, architectural consulting, and cultural and heritage consulting. 

Several members own businesses in the town, and quite a few are also active members of other 

community organisations. Two members of the Forum are members of High Peak Borough Council, 

Cllr Jean Todd and Cllr Keith Savage.  Members range in age from mid-twenties to eighties.  

In addition to members, the mailing list of the forum includes another 50 people who have asked to 

be kept up to date with the progress of the plan. We also have a Facebook page which has 85 

followers, most of whom are not duplicates of the people on our membership and contacts lists.  We 

believe that, if we are recognised as a qualifying body and can apply for a Locality grant, we will be 

easily able to extend our network of contacts by holding public events and creating an engaging 

Website.  

Once recognised, we plan to work closely with other community organisations on the creation of the 

plan, given that there is considerable expertise in these organisations on many of the issues of 

interest that were identified at our meetings, for example, transport, sustainability and the 

protection of green spaces.  

 

 

                                                           
1
 [Section 61F(5) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as applied to neighbourhood plans by section 38A 

of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

Page 161

https://beta.companieshouse.gov.uk/company/12038268


This page is intentionally left blank



Interest in Area
Name Resident Worker Councillor
Jane Reynolds Y
Joe Dugdale Y Y
Richard Silson Y
Mary Fairhurst Y
Simon Rogerson Y
Rosemary Wood Y
Janet Miller Y
Adam Swain-Fossey Y Y
Peter Crook Y
Gemma Ball Y Y
Alan Purser Y
Suzannah Allen Y
Clare Parmacott Y
Matthew Blackwood Y Y
Roddie MacLean Y Y
Matthew Nuttall Y Y
Suzanne Pearson Y Y
Kate MacLean Y Y
Teresa Roper Y Y
Hannah Catrin Davies Y
Alan Thompson Y
Benjamin Evens Y
Barbara Stringer Y
Guy Rees Y
Christopher Hallam Y Y
Charles Jolly Y
Patricia Thompson Y Y
Richard Lower Y Y
John Robertson Y
Jean Ball Y Y
Mike Monaghan Y
Robin Edwards Y
JeanTodd Y Y
Rob Wakeling Y
Scott Murcott Y Y
Alyson Philips Y
Keith Savage Y Y
Derek Bodey Y

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

8 October 2020

Appendices Attached 

 APPENDIX White Paper Proposals, implications and comments summary table.

1.        Reason for the Report:

1. To appraise the Executive of proposed changes as set out in the White 
Paper “Planning for the Future” which was published for consultation by 
Government on 6th August 2020

2. To consider the Council’s response to the consultations. 

2. Recommendation

2.1    That the Executive notes the report and provides comments for inclusion in the 
Council’s response to Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
before the end of the consultation period.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The Business and Planning Bill received Royal Assent on 22 July 2020. It 
introduces a series of changes to planning legislation intended to help 
businesses, particularly in the hard-hit hospitality and construction sectors, to 
get back to work safely and quickly. The key changes are:

TITLE: Recent changes to the Planning System and  
the Planning White Paper 2020 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor A. McKeown – Leader of the 
Council

OFFICER: Ben Haywood – Head of Development 
Services

WARDS: Whole Borough 

Page 165

Agenda Item 9



 An automatic extension to planning permissions and listed building consents 
which have lapsed or are due to lapse between 23 March and 31 December 
2020.

 A temporary, fast track deemed consent route for developers to apply to local 
planning authorities to vary existing conditions, or the details submitted 
under a condition, that limit construction site working hours. 

 The previous Class A1 (shops), A2 (financial and professional services), A3 
(restaurants and cafés) and Class B1 (business), are to be grouped together 
into a new Use Class – Class E (commercial, business and service) along 
with uses such as gyms, nurseries and health centres (previously Class D1) 
and non-residential institutions, such as assembly and leisure (previously 
Class D2) 

 New permitted development rights are being introduced to extend buildings 
upwards to create new homes and living space subject to the developer 
applying to the Local Planning Authority for “prior approval” of certain 
aspects of the development such as design. However, the LPA cannot call 
into question the “principle” of the development. 

 Similar provisions are being introduced to allow vacant and redundant free-
standing commercial and light industrial premises, and residential blocks of 
flats, to be demolished and replaced with new residential units. 

3.2 The implications of the changes include:

 Reduction in the number of planning applications but potential increase in 
the number of prior approval and other applications. 

 Possible reduction in planning fee income
 Economic benefits for developers and associated construction industry in 

the area and those looking to establish new businesses
 Potential to boost housing land supply but may slow delivery
 Less opportunity for consultation with the public, Parishes and Councilors
 Positive and negative impacts on the vitality and viability of town centres
 Limiting the number of factors which can be taking into account when 

considering applications for redevelopment of buildings for residential or 
“building-up”. In particular loss of ability to control the “principle” of 
development 

3.3 The White Paper, titled “Planning for the Future”, sets out a series of high-level 
reforms to streamline and modernise the planning process. Key changes 
include:

 a significant emphasis on design and sustainability, 
 Changes to the system of developer contributions to infrastructure, 
 change to a zonal planning system setting out whether planning permission 

for certain developments will be granted on a given site. Under the 
proposals, land will be designated into three categories: Growth areas 
Renewal areas and Protected areas 

 National development management policies with local plans focusing on site 
or area specific issues.

 Simplified local plan process with single statutory sustainability test. 

Page 166



 Penalites for LPA’s that fail to adopt plans within 30 months. 
 Standard methodology for assessing local housing need that is binding, with 

the intention of creating greater certainty.  Need to be assessed over 
minimum period of 10 years, rather than the current 5 years for housing. 

 Local Plans should be visual and based on the latest digital technology,
 Raising affordable housing thresholds  
 Strengthening planning enforcement powers 

3.4 Key issues and concerns include:

 Increased certainty but potentially less flexibility
 Loss of protection for some areas
 More streamlined processes but risks around community engagement and 

ability to influence at a local level. 
 Positive move towards use of technology but risk of moving towards 

automated decision making and loss of democratic control and flexibility. 
 Significant concerns around binding standard housing methodology due to 

inability to factor in local constraints 
 Scrapping the 5 year supply requirement is welcomed. 
 Removal of time extensions risks more refusals, appeals and resubmissions 

and may lengthen process.
 30 month deadline for local plans raises significant resource issues 

particularly for the Alliance which is responsible for 2 local plans. This again 
also raises local engagement issues. 

 Emphasis on design is to be welcomed but how is “beautiful” defined and 
how this fits with creating “certainty”. 

 Emphasis on climate change and sustainability to be welcomed but 
concerns about how this would work in practice, impact on protected assets 
and whether targets are ambitious enough. 

 Concerns about national levy and local viability issues as well as raising of 
threshold for contributions. Issues around flexibility and setting spending 
priorities

 Unclear whether “in-kind” delivery of affordable housing on site would be 
mandatory

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan identifies that our key priorities include “ High 
quality development and building control with an “open for business approach””

5. Analysis and Summary of Changes

Business and Planning Act 2020 

5.1 The Business and Planning Bill received Royal Assent on 22 July 2020. It 
introduces a series of changes to planning legislation intended to help 
businesses, particularly in the hard-hit hospitality and construction sectors, to 
get back to work safely and quickly.

5.2 Extending Planning Permissions 

Page 167



 The Act provides for an automatic extension to planning permissions and listed 
building consents which have lapsed or are due to lapse between 23 March and 
31 December 2020. 

 This extension will be to 1 May 2021. 
 The extension will apply automatically for permissions and consents which are 

extant in between the measures coming into force on 19 August 2020 and 31 
December 2020. 

 Any planning permissions which have lapsed since 23 March 2020 can be 
reinstated and extended subject to an Additional Environmental Approval. 

5.3 Construction Site Hours 

 A temporary, fast track deemed consent route for developers to apply to local 
planning authorities to vary existing conditions, or the details submitted under a 
condition, that limit construction site working hours. 

 Came into force on 28 July 2020. 
 Local authorities have 14 calendar days excluding public and bank holidays to 

consider such applications. If they are not determined in this period they will be 
given a deemed consent. 

 If an application is approved, this will temporarily amend planning restrictions 
on construction working hours until 1 April 2021, unless another earlier date has 
been requested by the applicant or decided upon by the local planning authority, 
with the agreement of the applicant.

 There is no requirement for publicity or consultation although we  have decided 
to notify

o Parish/Town Council
o Ward Members
o Environmental Health

And give them 10 days to respond.
 The guidance says local planning authorities should not refuse applications to 

extend working hours until 9pm, Monday to Saturday without very compelling 
reasons. In some cases, such as in areas without residential properties, 
extending working hours beyond this, including allowing 24-hour working where 
appropriate, may be justified.

 If the authority wish to propose minor changes to the proposed hours these will 
need to have been agreed in writing by the applicant

 In considering the application the LPA can take into account:
o need for proposed extended working hours as a result of social 

distancing;
o any mitigating measures to be put in place to avoid significant impacts 

on businesses and the health and quality of life of those people in the 
near vicinity;

o the original reasons for any existing limits on construction working hours, 
o the extent of additional working, compared to current permitted hours, 

and degree to which this variation is expected to result in local impacts 
that cannot be mitigated.

 The LPA will need to give careful consideration to applications which are 
o in proximity to businesses or community uses which are particularly sensitive 

to noise, dust and vibration e.g.  hospitals, or places of worship, 

Page 168



o made in relation to sites in close proximity to residential areas where the 
request for changing hours is likely to have a significant impact on health, 

o made in relation to EIA development 
o made in relation to development which was subject to a Habitats Regulations 

Assessment 
o for development adjacent to Sites of Special Scientific Interest, 
Where an adverse impact can be demonstrated with regard to the above a 
refusal of the application could be justified 

5.4 Use Classes & Changes Of Use

 The changes come into effect from 1 September 2020.
 In simple terms, the previous Class A1 (shops), A2 (financial and professional 

services), A3 (restaurants and cafés) and Class B1 (business), are to be 
grouped together into a new Use Class – Class E (commercial, business and 
service).

 In addition, uses such as gyms, nurseries and health centres (previously Class 
D1) and non-residential institutions, such as assembly and leisure (previously 
Class D2) are also now included within the new Class E.

 This means that with effect from 1 September, building or land currently within 
Classes A1-A3, B1, D1 and D2 use will no longer require planning permission 
to be changed for another use within the new Class E.

 However, there are some exceptions.
o Former Class D1 and D2 uses that are not included within the new Class E 

(and will therefore continue to require a change of use permission) include: 
o Small-scale shops (up to 280sqm, located 1000 metres or more from 

another retail unit), schools, libraries and art galleries, swimming pools, 
skating rinks and areas for outdoor sports. These are now included within 
two new Use Classes (F1 and F2). 

o Drinking establishments (formerly Class A4) and hot food takeaways 
(formerly Class A5), together with cinemas, concert, dance and bingo halls 
(formerly within Class D2) are removed from the defined use classes, 
and will therefore require permission for any material change of use. 

o Where relevant, any Article 4 Directions imposed by an LPA and controlling 
changes of use within specific areas will remain in force. 

o Restrictive conditions already in place through relevant permissions (and 
S106 agreements) will remain in force. 

o Where relevant, planning permission will still be required for external 
alteration

5.5 Building Up (Flats)

 New permitted development rights are being introduced to extend buildings 
upwards to create new homes and living space. 

 From 1 August 2020 purpose-built freestanding blocks of flats of three storeys 
or more can be extended upwards by up to 2 additional storeys to create new 
homes, up to a height of 30m. 

 However the applicant must apply for prior approval of the authority as to—
(a) transport and highways impacts of the development;
(b) air traffic and defence asset impacts of the development;
(c) contamination risks in relation to the building;

Page 169



(d) flooding risks in relation to the building;
(e) the external appearance of the building;
(f) the provision of adequate natural light in all habitable rooms of the new 
dwellinghouses;
(g) impact on the amenity of the existing building and neighbouring premises  
including overlooking, privacy and the loss of light; and

 Applications must be publicised by site notice, & neighbour letter for 21 days
 The development must not begin before the receipt by the applicant from the 

local
planning authority of a written notice giving their prior approval.

5.6 Building Up (Other Buildings inc. Houses)

 A second phase of new permitted development rights to build upwards allow up 
to 2 additional storeys on free standing blocks, up to a height of 30 metres, and 
on buildings in a terrace (of 2 or more buildings) in certain commercial uses 
come into force on 31 August 2020. 

 They also allow up to 2 additional storeys on existing houses, detached or in a 
terrace, to create new self-contained homes or additional living space up to a 
height of 18 metres (7m over existing). 

 Single storey homes will be able to add 1 additional storey (up to 3.5m in height 
over existing). 

 Semi-detached and terraces will not be able to exceed 3.5m above the height 
of the attached dwelling. 

 There are a number of other limitations on materials and roof pitch (which must 
match existing), no side windows etc. 

 Prior approvals of the Authority will be required as to—
(i) impact on the amenity of any adjoining premises including 

overlooking, privacy and the loss of light;
(ii) the external appearance of the dwellinghouse, including the design 

and architectural features of— (aa) the principal elevation of the 
dwellinghouse, and (bb) any side elevation of the dwellinghouse that 
fronts a highway;

(iii) air traffic and defence asset impacts of the development; and
 Applications must be publicised by site notice, & neighbour letter for 21 days
 The development must not begin before the receipt by the applicant from the 

local planning authority of a written notice giving their prior approval

5.7 Demolition and Rebuilding as Residential 

 From 31 August 2020 new PD Right allows vacant and redundant free-standing 
commercial and light industrial premises, and residential blocks of flats, to be 
demolished and replaced with new residential units. 

 At the same time the right will allow up to 2 storeys to be added to the height of 
the original building, up to a max of 18 metres. 

 The regulations in respect of this don’t appear to have been published yet but it 
will be subject again to prior approval and it is anticipated that the process and 
matters which the LPA can consider will be similar to those above.

5.8 Extended opening of holiday parks, caravan parks and campsites 

Page 170



 Government has issued a Written Ministerial Statement to emphasise that 
planning enforcement is a discretionary activity, and local planning authorities 
should not seek to undertake enforcement action which would unnecessarily 
restrict the ability of holiday parks, caravan parks and campsites to extend their 
open season.

 Local planning authorities should also prioritise decision making for applications 
to vary relevant planning conditions, and take account of the economic benefits 
resulting from extended opening. 

White Paper “Planning for the Future”

5.9 The White Paper, titled “Planning for the Future”, sets out a series of high-level 
reforms to streamline and modernise the planning process. It has a significant 
emphasis on design and sustainability, and seeks to improve the system of 
developer contributions to infrastructure, and ensure more land is available for 
development.

5.10 The White Paper contains 24 proposals set out under 3 “pillars” as follows:
Pillar 1: planning for development
Pillar 2: planning for beautiful and sustainable places
Pillar 3: planning for infrastructure and connected places

5.11 The main changes include:
 A fundamental change to a zonal planning system setting out whether 

planning permission for certain developments will be granted on a given site. 
Under the proposals, land will be designated into three categories:

o Growth areas: Proposals for new homes, hospitals, schools, shops 
and offices will be automatically allowed.

o Renewal areas: Proposals for development, largely on urban and 
brownfield sites, will be permitted through a prior approval system.

o Protected areas: Development on Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty and National Parks will continue to be restricted.

 Development management policies established at national scale and Local 
Plans to focus on identifying areas for development and protection. 
Development management policy contained in the plan would be restricted 
to site or area-specific requirements,. The National Planning Policy 
Framework would become the primary source of policies for development 
management.

 The Local Plan process would be streamlined and subject to a single 
statutory “Sustainable Development” test, replacing the existing test of 
soundness, updating requirements for assessments and abolishing the Duty 
to Cooperate.

 Changes to the standard methodology for assessing local housing need. At 
present, the system allows housing requirements to be constantly 
challenged through the Local Plan process and at Appeal by developers, 
leading to delays in plan preparation and determining applications.  The new 
methodology would create a standard requirement that is binding, with the 
intention of creating greater certainty.  The new standard method would set 
out development needs such as homes, businesses and community facilities 

Page 171

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future/planning-for-the-future#pillar-1-planning-for-development
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future/planning-for-the-future#pillar-2-planning-for-beautiful-and-sustainable-places


for a minimum period of 10 years, rather than the current 5 years for 
housing. 

 Local Plans should be visual and map-based, standardised, based on the 
latest digital technology, and supported by a new template.

 A pledge to create a system that will ensure local housing plans are 
developed and agreed within 30 months.  This deadline would be driven by 
legislation with sanctions for local authorities that fail to meet this timescale.  

 Increased emphasis on design and delivering “beautiful places”, including 
more design guidance and design codes to be prepared locally with 
community involvement with emphasis on local character.

 Promotion of all new homes to achieve a zero carbon ready status with 
without the need for costly retrofitting.

 A simpler national levy to replace the current system of CIL and S106 
providing more certainty around financial obligations.

 A review of affordable housing thresholds  increasing the threshold above 
which affordable housing is required.  The reasoning being that this would 
potentially make more sites viable and would speed up the pace of delivery 
by removing the need for negotiation.

 A rules-based system that makes it clearer to understand development 
requirements for a scheme and allocation, to reduce the number of planning 
cases that go to appeal instead of generalised policies

 Securing of First Homes for local people, key workers and first-time buyers 
at a 30% discount through developer contributions in the short-term until 
transition to a new system.

 Investing in people and skills to deliver the planning system
 Strengthening planning enforcement powers and sanctions available to local 

planning authorities to ensure they support the new planning system. 
Introduction of more powers to address intentional unauthorised 
development, consider higher fines, and look to ways of supporting more 
enforcement activity.

 Extending the current Permission in Principle to major developments.

5.12 Each of the proposals are detailed in full in the table at Appendix 2 of this report. 
The White Paper is inviting views on the proposed changes and poses a series 
of 26 questions. It is recommended that a response to these questions is drafted 
based on the comments, implications and observations within the table along 
with any further views which the Scrutiny Panel and Cabinet / ALT have 
following their discussion and consideration of this report. 

6. Implications

Business and Planning Act 2020 

Workload and Financial

6.1 Removal of the need for planning applications to renew lapsed consents, and 
for certain changes of use will reduce workloads slightly and along with them 
some reduction in Fee Income. No fee is changeable for the fast track 
applications to vary construction site hours. However, arguably, such 
applications do not represent lost income as such requests would probably not 

Page 172



have been made prior to COVID-19. Nevertheless they represent an additional 
workload burden. 

6.2 Although planning applications will not be required for “building up” or demolition 
and rebuilding as residential, “prior approval” applications will be needed and 
therefore no change is envisaged in terms of workload.  Furthermore fees will 
be payable for the new prior approval applications. For example, the fee for a 
prior approval application under Part 20 (construction of new dwellings) where 
the number of new dwellings proposed is 50 or fewer is £334 for each new 
dwelling; but where the number of new dwellings proposed by the development 
exceeds 50, the fee is £16,525, plus an additional £100 for each new dwelling 
in excess of 50, subject to a maximum in total of £300,000. By comparison 
standard planning application fees  for dwellings are £462 per dwelling up to 50 
dwellings. Where the development exceeds 50 dwellings £22,859 and an 
additional £138 per dwelling in excess of 50, subject to a maximum total of 
£300,000. Therefore some loss of revenue could be expected on this basis, but 
this is on the assumption that the same proposal would have been forthcoming 
under the previous regime and that the changes have not incentivised the 
development to come forward in the first instance which case it could be 
regarded as additional income. 

Workforce

6.3 Overall it is considered that any reduction in planning applications numbers and 
associated fees are likely to be cancelled out by an increase prior approval 
applications and fees therefore no significant workforce implications are 
identified at this time. However, as always staffing levels within the team will 
need to be kept under review to ensure that we are responding to the needs and 
demands of the service and budgets. 

Legal

6.4 The Council must ensure that it complies with and operates in accordance with 
the new legislation and regulations to ensure that it remains free from legal 
challenge and makes planning decisions in a lawful manner. Work has already 
been put in hand to amend processes and procedures such as planning 
validation and staff training to ensure that we are able to accept and process 
correctly new types of application. 

6.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that there are 3 aspects 
to sustainable development (social, economic and environmental). The 
automatic extension to planning consents is positive from a housing land supply 
perspective in that consents will remain extant and therefore in the Council’s 5 
year supply for longer. However, it may encourage developers to delay 
commencement and therefore slow delivery. It will also mean that the Council 
does not have the opportunity to reassess any changes in circumstances or 
policy prior to renewing lapsed consents. 

6.6 The fast-track applications to vary working hours are positive from an economic 
development point of view and restarting the construction industry. However, 

Page 173



there are potential implications for the amenity of neighbouring occupiers and 
less opportunity for potentially affected residents, Parishes and members to 
comment on changes. 

6.7 The changes to the use classes are positive from an economic development 
point of view in that it will allow new businesses to establish or existing ones to 
expand without going over the hurdle of planning applications with associated 
cost and time implications. It takes into account the changing shape of town 
centres and the movement away from retail. For example, it would allow a 
vacant shop in a high street to be converted to a café or gym without planning 
permission. However, it would also allow an office building or light industrial unit 
on an out of town business park to become a shop, for example, which could be 
detrimental to the vitality and viability of the town centre and could result in the 
loss of valuable employment space.  

6.8 The new permitted development rights to allow buildings to be extended 
upwards and rebuilt as to create additional dwellings would be beneficial from a 
housing land supply point of view. It would also help to bring back into use 
derelict and redundant brownfield sites. The Local Planning Authority would still 
retain control over some aspects of the scheme such as design and amenity 
considerations. However, they would not be able to call into question the 
principle of the development. For example, there would be no opportunity to 
challenge the sustainability of redeveloping a redundant building in the open 
countryside, remote from shops and services, as large residential development. 
Similarly, for example, under the policies in the NPPF, extensions to properties 
in the Green Belt are only currently granted planning permission if they are not 
disproportionate to the original dwelling and maintains the openness of the 
Green Belt. Adding 2 floors to a property under permitted development rights 
could result in a disproportionate extension and may be harmful to openness 
but if it were constructed under permitted development rights, the Council could 
not refuse it on these grounds. This has a significant implication for this Council’s 
area, as substantial amount of which lies within Green Belt. 

Planning White Paper

6.9 A full analysis of the implications of the changes is provided in the Table at 
Appendix 1. However, key issues and concerns include:

 Increased certainty but potentially less flexibility
 Loss of protection for some areas
 More streamlined processes but risks around community engagement and 

ability to influence at a local level. 
 Positive move towards use of technology but risk of moving towards 

automated decision making and loss of democratic control and flexibility. 
 Significant concerns around binding standard housing methodology due to 

inability to factor in local constraints 
 Scrapping the 5 year supply requirement is welcomed. 
 Removal of time extensions risks more refusals, appeals and resubmissions 

and may lengthen process.

Page 174



 30 month deadline for local plans raises significant resource issues 
particularly for the Alliance which is responsible for 2 local plans. This again 
also raises local engagement issues. 

 Emphasis on design is to be welcomed but how is “beautiful” defined and 
how this fits with creating “certainty”. 

Neil Rodgers – Executive Director (Place)

Contact Details
Mark James
Principal Planning 
Officer
Mark.james@highpe
ak.gov.uk

07976 753404

Ben Haywood
Head of Development 
Services
Ben.haywood@highpeak.gov.
uk

01538 394500 ext 4924

Page 175

mailto:Mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk
mailto:Ben.haywood@highpeak.gov.uk
mailto:Ben.haywood@highpeak.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX  

Planning White Paper – summary of proposal and possible implications

Summary of proposal Possible implications
Pillar One – Planning for Development 
Proposal 1 – Local Plans to identify three types of land:

Growth areas - suitable for substantial development such as urban 
extensions, new settlements or key re-development sites. Site would have 
outline consent (see proposal 5)

Renewal areas - suitable for development such as existing built up areas 
suitable for small developments and infill. A statutory presumption is 
favour of development would apply here.

Protected areas – where development would be limited and subject to 
planning permission such as green belt, conservation areas, national parks 
and open countryside 

 

The principle of classifying land is not new. 

The Local Plan already identifies; allocations for development where the 
principle of development for specified uses has been agreed, settlement 
boundaries for town and larger villages within which the principle of 
development is acceptable and areas of countryside/green belt/local green 
space etc. which are protected. 

What the White Paper seeks to achieve in this respect is to standardize and 
simplify the designations applied across England to enable better data 
analysis at a national level and improve transparency.

The inclusion of the open countryside within the “protected” areas is to be 
welcomed. 

It is not clear if the same degree of protection would be given across areas 
protected for different reasons. For example, green belt has historically 
had stronger protection than the open countryside. 

(See proposal 5 for related comments) 
Proposal 2 – Development management policies established at national
scale and an altered role for Local Plans.

Local Plan policies to focus on area or site specific requirements only 
supported by design codes and guidance. Neighbourhood plan would also 
provide design codes.

Are “machine readable policies” the first step towards computers 
determining simple applications?  

It is acknowledged that in some instances, Local Plan policies overlap with 
national policy. This would save time and simplify both plan preparation 
and consideration of applications.
However, scope for local discretion for some policies should be allowed in 
order for Councils to address matters which may be corporate priorities. 

P
age 177



Generic policies such as those relating to flood risk, heritage or retail would 
be provided at a national level. 

Policies will be “machine readable”

Alternative options are allowing Council to adopt local policies in 
exceptional circumstances or simply ensuring that local policies do not 
duplicate national policy.  

Whilst change to a zonal based system with clear cut “yes” or “no” policies 
would help to create certainty for developers and decision makers it would 
remove the subjectivity and judgement that developers as well as local 
authorities rely upon to “argue a case” for or against a particular 
development dependent upon the material considerations surrounding the 
circumstances of a particular case.

Proposal 3 - Local Plans should be subject to a single statutory 
“sustainable development” test, replacing the existing tests of soundness. 

An alternative option would be to make the tests for Local Plans to pass 
examination less onerous. 

More streamlined plan making - Sustainability Appraisals, Duty to 
Cooperate to be replaced. Less emphasis evidence to support deliverability 
of plan.

Consideration to be given to the appropriate scale at which to prepare 
Local Plan with strategic issues.

More focus on digital Local Plans  

Streamlined requirements for preparing and passing examination Local 
Plans are welcome in principle.

Little detail available at present to determine if replacement requirements 
are better. 

Risk that Local Plans are to be prepared at a higher level (future unitary or 
county level) in areas with cross boundary issues?

Improved access to Local Plans and availability of digital data is a positive 
move.

Proposal 4 – A standard method for establishing housing requirement
figures

This would release more land where affordability is worst and take account 
of development constraints with a view to achieving the Government’s 
aspiration of developing 300,000 homes a year. 

Builds on current standard methodology with consideration of 
affordability, size of existing settlements and constraints such as green 
belt, flood risk and national parks.  

This is a significant concern

Binding requirements based on a national formula are unlikely to 
accurately reflect local constraints.

Landscape, topography, infrastructure and the proximity to the national 
park are examples of constraints that warrant detailed consideration at a 
local level.

P
age 178



Differs from current system of identifying local housing need in that “it 
would be binding” to “drive greater land release”

Five year housing land supply requirement abolished.

Housing Delivery Test to be retained 

Consideration of the size of existing settlements would appear to be 
predicated on a assumption that towns can continue to grow at the same 
rate based on past trends

A binding housing requirement which does not reflect local constraints 
could lead to unsuitable sites being developed.

This approach runs counter to the ethos of the Localism Act which 
scrapped regionally set requirements. 

Scrapping the 5 year housing land supply requirement is welcome as the 
Housing Delivery Test already proves an incentive to LPAs to boost supply. 

Alternative option for establishing housing requirements is preferable – i.e. 
local decision on housing numbers based on a standard method. However, 
the 5 year land supply regime would be retained. 

Proposal 5 – outline approval granted within “growth” areas. Detailed 
permission then via either reformed reserved matters, Local 
Development Orders or Development Consent Order 

Renewal areas = “presumption in favour. Permission granted by; automatic 
consent for pre-specified forms of development (“fast-track to beauty”), 
full application (but faster process), or Local Development Order, 
Neighbourhood Development Order.

Protected – development requires full permission and judged against NPPF 
policies. 

Means of allowing interested parties to raise concerns where the principle 
of development is already agreed is to be determined.

The “growth” designations have more teeth than current allocations as 
they grant outline consent. Higher stakes earlier in the process and even 
more contentious. Much greater detail and expense required to justify 
growth designations by Councils and developers. This may make the 
shortened timeframe for the preparation of Local Plan even more 
ambitious.

Less opportunity for Councillors, residents and other consultees to engage 
with the process once areas have been designated for growth or renewal 
We know that historically is has been harder to encourage communities to 
engage in the plan making process than when an application has been 
submitted.

Providing growth areas with automatic outline permission could reduce 
planning fee income

Proposal 6 – faster decisions and greater use of technology Fewer applications determined by Councillors. Anti-democratic?  

P
age 179



Firm deadlines for the determination of applications (13 or 8 weeks) – no 
more time extensions

Machine readable data and new software which “will help automate 
routine processes, such as knowing whether new applications are within 
the rules, which will support faster and more certain decision-making” 

Standardisation of supporting data

Delegation of detailed planning decisions to officers where the principle of 
development has been established

Automatic refunds if applications are determined late

“The delegation of detailed planning decisions to planning officers where 
the principle of development has been established, as detailed matters for 
consideration should be principally a matter for professional planning 
judgment”

Aspiration to speed up decisions is welcome but it should not come at the 
expense of proper consideration of proposals. Removal of the option for 
time extensions will result in a return to applications which are found to be 
unacceptable on a point which can be easily rectified simply being refused 
in order to meet statutory timescales rather than agreeing an extension 
and achieving a positive outcome. This in turn means that the developer 
must either withdraw to avoid a refusal or resubmit an amended 
application or appeal following a refusal. This would result in  lengthening 
the process and increase the costs to the developer for gaining an approval  
and mean that the LPA has to deal with more resubmitted applications 
which do not attract a planning fee.

The beginning of automated planning decisions? Risk that decisions based 
solely on data may result in poor quality develop without the scope for 
human scrutiny?

Automatic planning fee refunds for late decisions may lead to rushed 
decisions and poor quality development or more refusals and increase in 
appeals and resubmissions (see above).

Proposal 7 – interactive web based map standard for planning 
documents.

Model templates for Local Plans

Will enable a digital register of planning policies – more transparent, 
accessible and efficient. 

The  aim of this proposal is welcome. Further detailed required to 
determine full implications. 

Proposal 8 – streamlined, more engaging plan making
 
30 month deadline for local plans

6 months – call for sites, public engagement of where development should 
go and what it should look like 

Resourcing the development of a Local Plan within 30 months is a major 
concern. This issue is particularly acute within the Alliance which is 
responsible for 2 separate local plans. 

Currently where a site is allocated in plan, a promoter/developer does a 
minimal amount of work to promote the site for allocation. The new 

P
age 180



12 months – prepare plan and produces evidence

6 weeks – submit plan to SoS with statement on why the plan is 
appropriate and simultaneously publish plan for public engagement

9 months – examination, inspector considers if 3 categories shown in the 
plan are “sustainable” and makes binding changes if necessary. People who 
submit comments have a right to be heard (face-face, video,phone or in 
writing)

6 Weeks – Local Plan map, key and text are finalized and come into force

Mandatory deadlines – 30 month from legislation being brought into force 
OR 42 months (if plan adopted with past 3 years or if it has been submitted 
to SoS)

Plan reviews at least every 5 years or face intervention (this would be 
based on housing need and local issues)

Alternative Options – no automatic right to be heard at examination OR no 
examinations (self assessment by LPAs with PINs auditing some each year 

planning system requires the promoter/developer and/or Council to 
undertake a considerable amount of work (akin to that required for an 
outline permission application) to promote the site, the issues being:
• High risk for developer/promoter as the outlay on project 
development provides no guarantee of a site’s allocation in the Local Plan. 
A promoter/developer would wish to see a site allocated before spending 
considerable sums in its planning.
• Councils are expected to deliver a Local Plan in 30 months, 
masterplanning and consultation being front loaded, with details for 
allocated growth areas are required to be included in line with an outline 
permission. This raises a resourcing issue.
• As the emphasis is on providing the detail required for each 
allocated site, additional engagement will be required from infrastructure 
providers. This is a significant pressure given that all LPAs are likely to be 
developing local plans on a similar timetable. 
• EIA (albeit in a simplified form) may identify the site 
constraints/issues and mitigation, but how does this get delivered in the 
timeframe proposed for the development of a local plan?
• Many LPAs do not have the resources/expertise to masterplan. In 
past instances, LPAs have been criticised by PINS for piggybacking on 
developers’ process/masterplans. Councils may also not have the expertise 
to counter developers’ proposals.

No opportunity for consultees to comment on a draft plan is likely to lead 
to a large increase in outstanding objections at the examination stage. 

The options presented to remove the right for objectors to appear at 
examination is a further erosion of public participation and likely to create 
a higher risk of challenge

Proposal 9 – retain neighbourhood plans with strong focus on digital data 
as with local plans.

This could undermine the aspirations for many neighbourhood plans if the 
classification of land into growth, renewal or protected areas is dealt with 
at the local plan level only.  Would this leave neighbourhood plans to focus 
solely on design? 

P
age 181



Explore scope for neighbourhood plans for smaller areas such as individual 
streets Neighbourhood plans for smaller areas would increase the number of plans 

that Councils would need to support and should be accompanied by 
additional financial support from Government. 

The potential for multiple small  scale neighbourhood plans across a 
settlement may also complicate the development plan which is the 
opposite of one of the aims of the White Paper – to simplify the planning 
system. 

Proposal 10 – stronger emphasis on build out of permissions.

Masterplans and design codes to support variety of building types (as 
recommended by the Letwin Review) to diversify supply and increase build 
out rates

Should the White Paper go further by introducing measures / incentives to 
encourage developers to implement permissions more quickly?

Pillar 2 - Planning for beautiful and sustainable places
Proposal 11 – Design expectations to be more visual and predictable. 
Binding design codes and guidance.

Local documents to take account of national design guide, national design 
code model and revised manual for streets

Weight only given to local codes when input from the community has been 
demonstrated

In the absence of local codes, the national guide will apply

Stronger emphasis on good design is a positive move provided LPAs are 
given the backing to insist on it. 

The extent to which members of the community will wish to engage in 
detailed design code for areas where the principle of development has 
already been established is unclear.

Proposal 12 – new national body established to support design codes. 
Each LPA to have a chief officer for design and place making

New body to assist LPA with design codes could operate on a similar basis 
to Homes England or be based on existing design networks

Support in developing design codes will be essential so a designated 
national body is encouraged. 

The identification of chief officers will help to increase the profile of 
planning and the importance of good design at a corporate level. 

P
age 182



Proposal 13 – embed design aspirations within Homes England

The design and environmental objectives of Homes England will be 
strengthened

Welcome news

Proposal 14- facst track for beauty to incentivise and accelerate
high quality development which reflects local character and preferences 
by :

- Updating NPPF to provide strong support for schemes which 
accord with codes

- In growth areas, require masterplans and site specific codes to be 
agreed as a condition of the permission in principle with is granted 
in the local plan – to be prepared by LPAs alongside or subsequent 
to preparing local plans

- In renewal areas, amend PD to allow popular and “replicable 
designs”

The Government wants less subjectivity in planning but the definition of 
“beauty” is highly subjective. How is beauty defined? By who? It is a matter 
of judgment and opinion.

Fast track development = no scope for making proposals even better

Standardisation does not equate to good design. LPAs will need to make 
sure local design codes incorporate local distinctiveness to counter 
developer standardisation of design process.

Difficult to resource design codes in parallel to preparation of local plans. 
However, if codes are left until after the adoption of local plans, this will 
delay development.

Re-skilling of planning officers required to provide more emphasis on 
design?

Proposal 15 – update NPPF to support adaptation and mitigation of 
climate change and environmental benefits. 

Update to clarify role that local, spatially-specific policies can continue to 
play, such as in identifying important views, opportunities to improve 
public access or places where renewable energy or woodland and forestry 
creation could be accommodated

Further detail required but the principle of proposal is good.

Proposal 16 – quicker assessments of environmental impacts

New regime for Sustainability Appraisal, Strategic Environmental 
Assessment and Environmental Impact Assessment 

Further detail required but the principle of proposal is good.

P
age 183



Separate consultation in the autumn with more detail.

Proposal 17 – protection of historic assets

Local Plans to identify heritage assets “as well as locally important features 
such as protected views”

Update to NPPF to be more supportive of sympathetic change to support 
climate change. 

Better way of securing routine consents. 

Greater national support for measures to address climate change in the 
historic environment is a positive move provided the correct safeguards to 
retain character / historic value.

The protection of views should be treated with caution. It should be 
clarified that this should only be an option in exceptional circumstances or 
it may risk restrictive designations across swathes of otherwise suitable 
development land being made in neighbourhood plans. 

Proposal 18 – improved energy efficiency standards to support net-zero 
by 2050

Follow on from Future Homes Standard paper. More detail to be provided 
by Government in the Autumn 

From 2025, new homes to produce 75-80% less CO2. Homes to be zero 
carbon ready with no need for retrofitting

More emphasis on monitoring and enforcement to ensure that high 
standards are met.

The Council should review further details of the proposed Future Homes 
Standard when Government releases further details in the Autumn. 

Is zero carbon by 2050 ambitious enough?

Will LPAs be able to set more ambitious requirements or will they be set 
nationally as previously proposed?

Should these be incorporated into the building regulations rather than 
planning and made mandatory?

Pillar Three - Planning for Infrastructure and Connected Places
Proposal 19 – Community Infrastructure Levy and S106 agreements to 
reformed

A new consolidated levy would replace CIL and S106.

This would be based on a fixed-proportion of development value above 
threshold – nationally set. National rate or area specific rates (still set 
nationally).

The current CIL is based on the lowest common denominator so how would 
a nationally set tariff work in lower value areas? 

Concern whether sufficient funding would be collected to provide the 
necessary infrastructure in areas of lower development value. The 
Government should set out alternative means of infrastructure funding in 
areas with a housing requirement but no / low levy income. (e.g. new HIF)

P
age 184



Levied at the point of occupation rather than on approval (as with CIL) 
A value-based minimum threshold will be set below which the levy is not 
charged, to prevent low viability development becoming unviable

Councils will be able to borrow against projected future income from the 
levy to enable infrastructure to be provided when needed. 

An alternative option is proposed to enable the levy to take taken up at the 
discretion of local authorities with rates set locally. However, “there would 
be a stronger incentive for local authorities to introduce the new Levy, as 
they would not be able to use Section 106 planning obligations to secure 
infrastructure or affordable housing”

Government propose that the infrastructure levy is levied at the point of 
occupation rather than CIL which is levied on commencement. Would this 
still create cashflow issues for the developer?

If S106s are removed, how do LPAs deal with other elements which S106 
agreements are also currently used to regulate i.e. transfer of land, 
management of land/SuDs etc?

More flexibility of spend once core infrastructure requirements are 
satisfied. Spending decisions may be politically contentious.

The ability to borrow against future income is good in principle but carries 
a risk that projected income is not realized (e.g. in the event of a housing 
market crash). 

In two tier local authority areas, it is not clear which authority would be 
able to borrow against future levy income. Currently, only district/borough 
councils can charge the levy but significant infrastructure provision is 
delivered by the county. Where would the risk of borrowing lie?

The alternative option proposed (discretionary levy uptake) is meaningless 
if S106 is still to be abolished. This would leave the Council with no means 
of supporting affordable housing or infrastructure. 

(For implications regarding affordable housing, please see Proposal 21)
Proposal 20 - The scope of the Infrastructure Levy could be extended
to capture changes of use through permitted development rights

This would capture changes of use which require planning permission, even 
where there is no additional floorspace, and for some permitted
development rights including office to residential conversions and new 
demolition and rebuild permitted development rights

This can be supported

P
age 185



Exemptions for self/custom build housing would remain
Proposal 21 - the reformed Infrastructure Levy should deliver affordable 
housing provision

No S106 for affordable housing. The levy would replace the current means 
of contributions.

Aspiration to continue to deliver on-site affordable housing at current 
levels (around 50% currently nationally). This would be secured through in-
kind delivery where required by an authority. The form and tenure of such 
housing could be set by the local authority working with a provider.

A provider of affordable housing could purchase the dwelling at a discount 
from market rate, as now. However, rather than the discount being 
secured through Section 106 planning obligations, it would instead
be considered as in-kind delivery of the Infrastructure Levy. This would 
provide an incentive for on site delivery as the difference between
the price at which the unit was sold to the provider and the market price 
would be offset from the final cash liability to the Levy.

First Homes, which are sold by the developer direct to the customer at a 
discount to market price, would offset the discount against the cash 
liability.

In the event of a market fall, there could be scope to allow local authorities
to ‘flip’ a proportion of units back to market units which the developer can 
sell, if Levy liabilities are insufficient to cover the value secured through in-
kind contributions.

Local authorities could have an option to revert back to cash contributions 
if no provider was willing to buy the homes due to their poor quality.

We would need to ensure that delivery on site remains at the same level if 
not higher through new system. Concern about loss of affordable housing 
on smaller sites by raising thresholds. Thresholds have already been raised 
in previous reforms. 

In kind delivery on site? This would need to be made mandatory as few 
developers would want affordable housing on site.

If financial contribution in form of levy was taken this would add additional 
pressure to local authorities/ registered providers to deliver on alternative 
sites. This might be challenging to implement, particularly with competition 
from developers to purchase sites in areas of high demand
 
Ring-fencing for affordable housing is not mandatory. Difficult decisions to 
be made by the Council in setting funding priorities? (E.g. Affordable 
housing vs education vs health care…). Conflicting priorities may also arise 
between district/borough council and county councils.

In -kind delivery would have to be agreed at planning stage to enable 
appropriate mix to be agreed. Proposal suggests that location on site 
would be at developers discretion which would inevitable lead to them 
being grouped together rather than mixed throughout the site.  

We generally require affordable housing to be built to the Nationally 
Described Space Standards and with a specific bedspace criteria. This is 
normally higher than what is built on the open market. The proposal could 
jeopardise the delivery of good quality affordable housing.

Positive that cascade to financial contribution is included but this won’t 
stop developers reducing the standard of affordable homes. Some national 
developers in high demand areas would rather have financial contributions 

P
age 186



An alternative option would be to create a ‘first refusal’ right for local 
authorities or any affordable housing provider acting on their behalf to buy 
up to a set proportion of on-site units at a discounted price, broadly 
equivalent to build costs. The proportion would be set nationally 

rather than on site provision. In Staffordshire Moorlands, on site seems to 
be a welcomed by developers given the uncertainly of the housing market. 

As with proposal 19, concern that the levy will not provide sufficient 
funding in low viability areas. 

Would local authorities have to agree FVA or agree development value? 
The Cost of having these independently assessed would be significant.

Proposal 22 - More freedom could be given to local authorities over
how they spend the Infrastructure Levy

As with CIL, up to 25% of income to be spent within neighbourhoods where 
it is raised.

In addition to infrastructure and affordable housing, income could be spent 
on “improving services or reducing council tax”

Local authorities to consider ring fencing for affordable housing.

Alternatively, the permitted uses of the Levy could remain focused on 
infrastructure and affordable housing

Flexibility is fine in principle but may lead to difficult decisions being made 
in terms of priorities and possible conflict with the county council (see 
proposal 19)

Proposal 23 - a comprehensive resources and skills strategy
for the planning sector will be rolled out to support the implementation 
of reforms

Training, including on digitization of planning system.

Planning fees continue to be set nationally but would support enforcement 
and the preparation of local plans/ design codes (currently funded by 
separate council budgets)

Reform of regulations to bring them up to date and reduce costs for local 
authorities

This will be essential given the shift in emphasis to the preparation of, and 
application of, design codes in particular.

Greater flexibility of the use of planning fees could be positive but local 
plans and design codes funded by developers may lead to public mistrust in 
the process.

Regulatory reform is long over due. Covid-19 has already brought about 
more cost effective means of working which could be carried forward into 
future reforms e.g. less emphasis on the availability of paper copies of 
documents. 

P
age 187



A new performance framework for improvements across all planning 
functions with early intervention if problems emerge with individual 
authorities.

Proposal 24 – strengthen enforcement powers and sanctions

More powers to address intentional unauthorised development, consider 
higher fines, and look to ways of supporting more enforcement activity.

Consideration of measures if the Environment Agency’s flood risk advice is 
not followed. 

It is noted that there are no consultation questions relating to this 
proposal.

Principle of stronger enforcement powers is to be welcomed. Concern 
regarding resourcing of this when emphasis within planning teams is 
always around meeting Government targets for applications. (See proposal 
6)

Proposal provides little detail.P
age 188



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

8 October 2020

TITLE: HIF programme Fairfield Roundabout: 
Project and Costs Review

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor  Damien Greenhalgh - Deputy 
Leader & Executive Councillor for 
Regeneration, Tourism and Leisure

CONTACT OFFICER: Joanne Brooks/Sarah Porru - Regeneration 
Officer & Head of Regeneration 

WARDS INVOLVED: Barns and Stone Bench 

Appendices Attached 

Appendix 1 – Map showing the location of the roundabout, link roads and 
housing sites. 
Appendix 2 – Project costs – Part 2
Appendix 3 – Risk Register
Appendix 4 – Planning Approval - roundabout position and link road 
alignments

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To provide members with an overview and project update on progress in 
delivering the Homes England funded Fairfield Roundabout and to seek 
approval for progressing the project as outlined in the following report.

2. Recommendation

2.1 The Executive is recommended to: 

2.1.1 Note the progress on delivering the Homes England funded 
Fairfield roundabout.

2.1.2 Note the revised construction costs for delivery of the 
roundabout as set out in Appendix 2 (Part 2 of this report).

2.1.3  Authorise the Executive Director ( Place) to proceed to  
producing detailed design drawings for the roundabout and 
related tender documentation and report back to the Executive 

Page 189

Agenda Item 10



with results of the procurement exercise and seek approval to 
draw down HIF funding for construction of the roundabout.

2.1.4

2.1.5 Accept the advanced payment offer from Homes England of up 
to £500,000 to allow the project to proceed and meet the grant 
funding deadline. 

2.1.6 Noting and accepting the updated project risks and mitigation as 
set out in the report and appendix 3.

3. Executive Summary

Background

3.1 Following the submission of a Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) bid by the 
council in Dec 2017, Homes England (HE) has made a grant award to the 
council of £2m towards the construction of the Fairfield roundabout and link 
roads. Delivery of this infrastructure will unlock housing sites allocated in the 
Local Plan at Hogshaw and Granby Road, bringing forward 346 homes 
(Hogshaw 263 and Granby Road B 83). In addition, it will release and 
accelerate the development of a privately owned site at Waterswallows, which 
has the potential to provide an additional 268 homes. Housing delivery on all 
sites is reliant upon the construction of the roundabout and link roads. The 
relationship of the roundabout, link roads and housing sites are shown in 
appendix 1. 

3.2 Members received an update on this project at the end of July 2020. It was 
agreed that a further update report would be prepared for the Executive for its 
8th October meeting. 

Role of Council owned land

3.3 The provision of the roundabout and link roads to the east and west provides 
access to the housing sites at Hogshaw, Waterswallows and Granby Road.  
With the exception of Granby Road B (which is council owned) the other sites 
are in a combination of private and council ownership. The acquisition of 
council land (B3 and B4 on appendix 1) is required to deliver a comprehensive 
residential scheme at Hogshaw of 263 homes. Disposal of this land is subject 
to a separate report for Member’s consideration at the October Executive. 

3.4 Development of the Waterswallows site requires the developer to purchase an 
area of council owned land (site D on appendix 1).   This will be subject to a 
separate report to the Executive later in the year. 

Design and construction of the roundabout

3.5 DCC have now completed the advance design works of for the roundabout 
and have identified the anticipated construction costs to the back of the splitter 
islands. A detailed breakdown of costs is shown and summarised in appendix 
2 (Part 2 of this report).

Page 190



3.6 Planning approval for the roundabout was secured in July 2020 and the next 
stage of the process is for DCC to undertake the detailed design drawings for 
tender purposes.  However, they cannot embark upon this next stage of works 
without advance funding from HE. 

3.7 A previous report (June 2020) obtained member approval to manage the 
procurement of a suitable contractor to construct the roundabout. It has been 
agreed to procure a contractor using the Midlands Highway Alliance MSF3 
route, which should streamline and shorten the procurement process. This 
option has been approved by the council’s procurement team and HE. 

Homes England grant funding and capacity support

3.8 The HE Grant Funding Agreement (GFA) has been subject to lengthy 
discussions between the council and HE and was signed by both parties in 
December 2019.  Despite signing the GFA, the council is unable to draw down 
the total commitment of funding (£2m) until a number of pre-draw down 
conditions are met. 

3.9 The council are currently working with HE, County, land promoters and 
developers to discharge the pre-draw down conditions swiftly to enable the 
project to progress. However, there are a number of conditions that are 
complex and requirefurther negotiation with HE to ensure the Council has a 
realistic prospect of being able to satisfy them. HE has agreed to assist the 
council  by providing an additional grant to fund the acquisition of capacity 
support from a development consultancy to deliver the conditions when they 
are settled. 

3.10 In order for the project to proceed to the next stages(s), HE has offered an 
advance payment of £500,000 from the £2m. This combined with the 
additional capacity support will allow the project to progress in a timely 
manner, in order to meet the grant funding deadline of March 2022.  An outline 
project programme is presented in 3.12. 

3.11 Planning permission has also been approved for the golf course mitigation 
works. As part of a revised lease between the council and the Golf Club, the 
Club will be required to surrender part of the course in order to construct the 
roundabout and link roads. The legal work in respect of the surrender and 
regrant of the Lease  is well advanced. 

Project timetable

3.12 The infrastructure works must be complete, and grant claimed by March 2022. 
The current timetable below sets out a programme that completes the 
works by March 2022

Milestone Timetable Progress
Accept HE grant award Dec 2019 Complete
Submission of planning application Jan 2020 Complete
Planning decision – roundabout July 2020 Complete
Planning decision Golf Club July 2020 Complete
Advance Design July 2020 Complete

Page 191



Project and cost review October 2020 Currently ongoing
Detailed drawings for tender Oct 2020 – Feb 2021
Procurement process Feb 2021 – May 2021
Start golf club mitigation works ASAP in discussion with GC 
Roundabout construction June 2021 – Dec 2021
Project Completion Date (Includes 
a 3 month buffer for final claim and 
any slippage)

31 March 2022

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 Accepting the award of grant, construction of the roundabout and accelerating 
housing delivery contributes towards the following aims of the Corporate Plan 
2019 – 2023 by:

 Aim 2: A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward thinking 
council.

 Aim 3: Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth, 
development and regeneration

5. Alternative Options

5.1 Option 1 – Recommended. This option is to note and support progress on 
the HE funded Fairfield roundabout. This option recommends (1) authorisation 
to note and accept the anticipated cost of delivering the roundabout (2) accept 
the advanced funding of up to £500,000 from HE to allow the project to 
continue and (3) note the project risks and mitigation measures in place. 

5.2 Under this option the council would continue to progress and deliver the HE 
funded Fairfield roundabout. The construction of the infrastructure will 
accelerate delivery and construction of homes on both Council and privately 
owned sites. The viability of building homes on these sites is marginal and 
cannot deliver the roundabout without the funding from HE.  Continuing the 
delivery of the AHDP will help ensure policies within the adopted Local Plan 
are met along with maintaining a 5 year housing land supply. Government is 
focussed on housing delivery and is encouraging councils to take a more 
proactive approach. Housing delivery on these sites will also result in 
economic benefits for the council as set out in section 7. Approving the project 
to continue and accepting the advanced funding will allow the project to 
progress and be delivered within the HE grant deadline of March 2022. 
Therefore, this option is recommended. 

5.3 Option 2 – Not Recommended. This option is to note but decline to support 
progress on the HE funded Fairfield roundabout. This option would fail to (1) 
note and accept the anticipated cost of delivering the roundabout (2) decline 
the advanced funding of up to £500,000 from HE and (3) decline to accept the 
project risks and mitigations measures in place. 

5.4 Under this option the council would not be able to proceed with the project to 
deliver the HE funded roundabout. This is not considered the preferred option 

Page 192



as without the roundabout and link roads in place the delivery of housing on 
allocated sites and sites within council ownership will be delayed for an 
unforeseen period. This will prevent the council delivering its 5 year housing 
supply and the approved Accelerated Housing Delivery Plan (AHDP) and  
likely lead to an early review of the local Plan and a period of uncertainty as 
developers look to seek permission for housing sites on unallocated sites, 
which will be more difficult for the Council to defend without a 5 year land 
supply. Therefore, this option is not recommended.       

  

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
The roundabout will be designed to meet all current highway and 
public safety regulations.

6.2 Workforce
This project requires a multi-disciplinary approach, co-ordinating 
expertise from various teams. The following teams will contribute 
staff to the delivery of this project:

• Regeneration
• Assets
• Development Services
• Finance
• Legal
• Communication

The Regeneration Team is able to provide project co-ordination 
support.  DCC as the highway’s authority has been procured to 
provide additional project management experience and expertise in 
relation to their role as the highway authority.  In order to drive the 
project forward the council has secured additional capacity support 
funded by HE. 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
No implications at this stage

6.4 Financial Considerations 

A sum of £35,000 has already been approved and allocated 
against the feasibility work (Executive April 2018). In addition, 
Derbyshire County Council provided up front costs of £52,000 to 
allow for the preparation of the planning application. All remaining 
fees relating to technical design, procurement, project 
management and construction costs will be met from the HE grant 
award of £2m, and any additional funding allocations. 

However, the council are unable to continue to progress the project 

Page 193



without the ability to draw down funds. The council cannot draw 
down any further funds until the GFA conditions are met. HE has 
agreed to make an advance payment of £500,000 from the £2m to 
allow the project to proceed. This combined with the additional 
capacity support will allow the project to progress in a timely 
manner, to meet the grant funding deadline of March 2022.  

The required additional capacity support is being funded by Homes 
England. 

The cost of the roundabout and options for additional funding to 
meet the project shortfall is outlined in appendix 2 (Part 2 of this 
report) and summarised below:-
 

Roundabout Financial Risk £ Comments
Roundabout Estimated Costs 2,346,112
Funded By:-
HE Grant (2,000,000) Subject to pre-drawdown

Conditions
Hogshaws Developer 
Contribution

(200,000) A £200,000 contribution from 
the developers of Hogshaws on 
completion of the purchase of 
council land

Total Funding (2,200,000)
Current Shortfall 146,112

There is the potential for the shortfall to be met from:-
 An additional windfall contribution (up to a maximum of 

£200,000) from the Hogshaw developers on any savings 
made on the cost of delivering their link road  

 A bid to D2N2 for pipeline funding to meet the funding 
shortfall. Bid submitted 11th September 2020. 

Otherwise there is a risk that the Council will have to fund any 
shortfall, assuming costs do not come in lower than forcasted 
through the procurement and construction process.

In terms of the financial risk associated with the estimated cost of 
the roundabout, a 10%, 20% and 30% uplift would result in 
additional costs of:-

Risk Analysis of 
further Project 

Overspend

Financial Risk 
to the Council          

(£)
10% increased costs 234,610
20% increased costs 469,220
30% increased costs 703,830

There is also a financial risk of professional fees being expended 
which cannot be recovered if the project is not delivered,However 
the likelihood of such overspend occurring is significantly reduced 
through adhering to the Council’s competitive procurement process 

Page 194



and through effective contract management, based on detailed 
design and construction costing works, that will be undertaken in 
advance by the County Council’s Highways service.

The roundabout will facilitate the disposal of Council land assets, 
including the sites at Hogshaw, Waterswallows and Granby Road 
site B. The exact capital receipt will be dependent on the nature of 
the agreement with the developers, but is currently estimated at 
£130,000 in the Medium Term Financial Plan – which is currently 
included to support funding of existing capital programme 
commitments. In the Land Disposal Strategy approved by 
Executive on 9th August 2018, the capital receipts identified for the 
Waterswallows site was originally £1,100,000 (with nothing 
assumed for Granby Road B and Hogshaws at that stage)

The land required for the roundabout and spur roads is partially 
located on Council owned land which is currently leased to the 
Buxton & High Peak Golf Club. Formal authority has been given to 
a surrender and re-grant of this lease to remove the land required 
for roundabout. This will lead to loss of rental income of £12,500 
per annum and will reduce the value of the Golf Club asset to 
effectively nil. Additionally, the golf Club will receive £125,000 for 
the assignment to the developer, of the Club’s  leasehold interest, 
in part of the land which the Council owns.

6.5 Legal

The Council’s Officers are currently working with Homes England 
to negotiate modifications to the grant funding conditions to ensure 
that the Council has a realistic prospect of being able to satisfy the 
conditions which must be met before the funding is drawn down.

The risks in the proposal will be mitigated by ensuring that legal 
agreements are entered into by the various land owners and 
developers, to ensure,  so far as is possible, that each of the 
different elements of the proposal come forward in a timely way 
that maximises public value.       

The contracts in the proposal must be procured in a way that is 
consistent with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the 
Council’s internal finaincial and procurement procudeure rules.   

6.6 Climate Change
The Local Plan and the Growth Strategy for High Peak are 
prepared with wider sustainability and climate change 
considerations. The construction of the roundabout will deliver 
Local Plan policies and key priorities of the Growth Strategy.

6.7 Consultation
There has been extensive public consultation and an Examination 
in Public into the roundabout and housing proposals through the 

Page 195



Local Plan process. Since then there has been further continued 
consultation with landowners, developers and stakeholders 
affected by the construction of the roundabout and link roads. 
Statutory public consultation has been carried out as part of the 
planning submission. 

6.8 Risk Assessment
The Grant Funding Agreement contains a number of pre-draw 
down conditions with varying levels of risk to the council. These 
were presented to Members in full at the Executive in Feb 2020. An 
overall project risk assessment is presented in appendix 3. 

Neil Rodgers
Executive Director (Place)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

July 2020 Economy and Growth – Project Update
June 2020 Economy and Growth - Accelerated Housing 
Delivery Programme update
Feb 2020 Executive - HIF project draw down and risks
Aug 2019 Executive - HIF update report and approval to 
accept HE grant
April 2018 Executive - AHDP update
Sept 2016 Executive - AHDP approval 

Joanne Brooks
Regeneration Officer
joanne.brooks@highpeak.gov.uk
Sarah Porru Head of Regeneration 
Sarah.porru@highpeak.gov.uk

7. PROJECT BACKGROUND 

7.1 The Homes England Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) is the government’s 
programme to fund new infrastructure works that will unlock sites for the 
delivery of housing. The fund is used to provide the final or missing piece of 
infrastructure to get homes delivered quickly. 

7.2 The council made a successful bid to this programme and a grant award of 
£2m has been offered and accepted by the council. The £2m grant will fund a 
new roundabout along the A6 at Fairfield, Buxton and will provide access to 
and unlock the allocated housing sites at Hogshaw and Granby Road. In 
addition, it will help release and accelerate the development of a site at 
Waterswallows, which already has outline consent for housing. The 
construction of the roundabout will enable the delivery of a significant amount 
of new homes as set out in the table below:

Site Local Plan allocation HE funded housing 
number

Anticipated housing 
number

Waterswallows 330 (outline approval) 268 268
Hogshaw 124 225 263
Granby Road B 83 83 83
Total 537 576 614

7.3 The position of the roundabout, alignment of the link roads and location and 

6.4

Page 196



relationship of the housing sites are all shown in appendix 1.

Strategic Overview 

7.4 Providing the roundabout and link roads is crucial in delivering policies within 
the Adopted Local Plan. This makes provision for the roundabout and link 
roads and recognises its requirement to access key development 
opportunities in Fairfield (Policies DS 17, DS 18 and DS 21).  Access is a key 
constraint to development of these sites. The provision of this infrastructure 
allows several development sites to come forward and deliver up to 614 
homes within the Local Plan period. Two of which, have been allocated in the 
Local Plan since 2005, but have failed to be delivered. Accelerated delivery, 
through provision of the infrastructure would contribute towards meeting the 
council’s 5-year housing supply and housing delivery. In addition, the new link 
road to the east also provides alternative access to Tongue Lane Industrial 
Estate. This would remove industrial traffic from the existing residential road 
network, provide an enhanced environmental quality and reduce traffic 
congestion.

7.5 Delivery of housing development on these council owned sites is a key priority 
as set out on the adopted High Peak Borough Council Accelerated Housing 
Delivery Plan (AHDP). This is an adopted and proactive mechanism for the 
accelerated delivery of housing on council owned land and a key priority for 
growth and housing delivery in the borough.

Economic Benefits

7.6 Based upon 614 new homes, this delivery produces a number of economic 
benefits to the council as follows.

 Council tax gain (Borough Council element) - £ 120,331 per year

 Annual spend - £5,650,298 per year

 Direct jobs created - 656 (construction and supply chain)

 Affordable units – 103 units 

 New Homes bonus - currently £1,670 pa for 4 years for each property 
(£2,020 pa for each affordable unit).

Project Management 

7.7 Derbyshire County Council has been appointed to act as client for the design, 
and construction of adoptable highway infrastructure.  In broad terms, DCC 
have/will undertake the following elements:

 Project Management – ongoing

 Determine location of the roundabout and alignment of link roads and 
prepare a preliminary design – complete

Page 197



 Seek planning consent - complete

 Undertake the advanced design of the roundabout and prepare 
detailed costs – complete

 Subject to the outcome of the costs and project review, undertake the 
detailed design of the highway infrastructure and prepare contract 
drawings and documentation ready for procurement by HPBC. – To 
do 

 Assist the council in the procurement of the contractor – To do. 

 Supervise and approve the completed works to be incorporated into 
the DCC asset inventory – To do 

7.8 A Project Board has been established comprising members of HPBC and 
DCC to oversee the design and implementation of the project.  A 
dedicated project manager has been appointed by DCC to coordinate all 
delivery activities of the new roundabout and link roads within the project 
scope. More recently, an internal HPBC Director’s Project Board has been 
established to drive the project forward. 

8. PROJECT UPDATE 

8.1 Members received an update on the project at the end of July 2020. It was 
agreed that a further update report would be prepared for The Executive for its 
8th October meeting. 

Land Disposal

8.2 The provision of the roundabout and link road to the west provides access to 
the development site at Hogshaw (Local Plan policy DS 17). This site is in a 
combination of private and council ownership. The acquisition of council land 
(B3 and B4 on appendix 1) is required to deliver a comprehensive residential 
scheme and will deliver approximately 263 homes. Disposal of the land is 
subject to a separate report for Members consideration at the October 
Executive. 

8.3 Development of the Waterswallow’s site requires the purchase of an area of 
council owned land (identified as D on appendix 1).   Detailed discussion over 
the land purchase value is currently ongoing and as such, the land disposal is 
not as far advanced as Hogshaw and will be subject to a separate report to the 
Executive later in the year. 

 Land Assembly

8.4 Both land promoters have made significant and positive steps in agreeing 
options agreements to purchase the land required to deliver the schemes. On 
the Waterswallows site, there is one small remaining parcel of land to resolve 
and discussions on agreeing this are in hand between the land promoter and 

Page 198



third-party owners.  In addition, both land promoters have taken proactive 
steps to progress the housing delivery and assist in the delivery of the 
roundabout, often working at risk and with significant financial out lay. The 
council has been working in conjunction with them to deliver the wider project 
and the land promoters have committed to the following:

 Regular progress and update meetings with council officers
 Completion of a number of investigative surveys to inform housing 

development 
 Working to secure developers to build and deliver the homes
 Financial contributions to the roundabout and commitment to fund and 

deliver their respective spur roads. 
 Signing of Memorandums of Understanding at the outset of the project 

to confirm commitment and intention of all parties to secure the 
roundabout and wider housing delivery 

Costs

8.5 DCC have now undertaken the advance design of the roundabout. This 
consists of a number of ground condition surveys and detailed discussion with 
utility companies.  The results of these have a direct influence over the 
anticipated construction costs of the roundabout. DCC has now revised the 
costs which allows for the construction of the roundabout to the back of the 
splitter islands. A detailed breakdown of costs is shown and summarised in 
appendix 2. 

Homes England Grant Funding Agreement (GFA)

8.6 The HE Grant Funding Agreement (GFA) has been subject to lengthy 
discussions between the council and HE and was signed by both parties in 
December 2019.  Approval to sign the GFA was approved by the Executive at 
its meeting on the 15th August 2019. 

8.7 Despite signing the GFA, the council is unable to draw down the total 
commitment of funding (£2m) until a number of pre-draw down conditions are 
met. There are a number of these to be satisfied with varying levels of risk.  
The pre-draw down conditions were presented to Members in full, with risk 
level and mitigation at the Executive in February this year.  A summary of 
project wide risks is attached in appendix 3).

8.8 The council are currently working with HE, County, land promoters and 
developers to discharge the pre-draw down conditions swiftly to enable the 
project to progress. However, there are a number of conditions that are 
complex and require further negotiation with HE to ensure the Council has a 
realistic prospect of being able to satisfy them. HE has agreed to assist the 
council  by providing an additional grant to fund the acquisition of capacity 
support from a development consultancy to deliver the conditions when they 
are settled. 

Capacity Support

Page 199



8.9 To assist with the discharge of GFA pre draw down conditions HE has offered 
the council additional capacity support.  This will be used to assist with legal 
agreements, land disposal and drafting suitable Developer Agreements. On 
the request of HE the council obtained a quote for the work of £31,936.34. 
This includes legal and land agent fees.  Subject to final confirmation from HE, 
the capacity support will be instructed to commence shortly. 

Advanced payment of HE grant

8.10 Whilst issues with the draw dawn conditions continue to be addressed by both 
parties, HE is keen to allow the project to progress swiftly.  In particular, 
immediate grant funding is required to support golf course mitigation works 
and  to allow the detailed design works to be implemented by DCC.  To allow 
the project to proceed, HE has agreed to make an advance payment of 
£500,000 from the £2m grant offer.  It should be noted that acceptance of this 
advance payment would be at risk.  Risks are considered at paragraphs 8.18 – 
8.21 of this report.

8.11 Acceptance of a grant advance combined with the additional capacity support 
will allow the project to progress in a timely manner, to meet the grant funding 
deadline of March 2022.  An outline project programme is presented in Section 
9 of this report, the timetable may be amended depending on the outcome of 
the negotations with HE described at paragraph 8.8 above. 

Planning permission

8.12 Planning permission for both the roundabout and link roads has now been 
approved. The approved layout is shown in appendix 4. In addition, the 
planning permission for the Golf course mitigation works has also been 
approved. 

Golf Club lease and mitigation works. 

8.13 In order to assemble the land required to construct the roundabout and link 
roads the Buxton and High Peak Golf Club are required to surrender part of 
their course. The golf course is on land owned by the council and leased to the 
Golf Club. A previous report to Corporate Select obtained members approval 
to revise the lease with the Golf Club to enable them to surrender the required 
land. For the club to surrender the land and also retain a championship course 
mitigation works to both the 14th and 15th holes are required. Planning 
permission for the mitigation works is now approved. 

8.14 The Lease surrender and regrant is at an advanced stage.  

8.15 Subject to securing advanced funding from HE, it is intended to undertake the 
mitigation works to the Golf course as soon as possible and at a time suitable 
and in discussion with the Golf Club. 

Roundabout design and procurement  

Page 200



8.16 Derbyshire County Council have completed the advanced design and secured 
planning approval for the roundabout. The next stage of the process is for 
DCC to undertake the detailed design drawings for tender purposes.  
However, they cannot embark upon this next stage of works without advance 
funding from HE. 

8.17 A previous report (June 2020) obtained member approval to manage the 
procurement of a suitable contractor to construct the roundabout. It has been 
agreed to procure a contractor using the Midlands Highway Alliance MSF3 
route. The Midlands Highway Alliance (MHA) is a collaboration, currently 
between 25 Highway Authorities led by Leicestershire County Council and 
which is OJEU compliant. Using this approach should streamline and shorten 
the procurement process. This option has been approved by the council’s 
procurement team and HE.  

Risks and mitigation measures

8.18 The cost of construction of the roundabout may exceed the grant offer from 
HE resulting in a funding gap that cannot be bridged.  To mitigate this risk, 
DCC has undertaken advance design work to provide a moreaccurate outline 
cost estimate of the works which has seen the outline cost estimates reduce 
sharply. Further mitigation to reduce the impact and likelihood of this risk is the 
detailed design and construction costing work the County Council’s Highway 
service will undertake to inform the Council’s tendering process.  This is 
provided in Appendix 2 to this report. 

8.19 The Golf course mitigation works need to commence as soon as possible and 
in advance of the roundabout construction to limit the impact and disruption to 
the club. However, works need to avoid the playing season and will require 
sometime to bed in. The timing of the mitigation works are sensitive and will be 
planned in discussion with the Golf Club to agree the most suitable time. An 
advanced draw down of funds from HE will allow the mitigation works to 
commence in advance of the roundabout construction works. 

8.20 An advance grant draw down is being offered by HE in order to keep the 
project programme on track.  This grant advance is required to meet the costs 
of further detailed design work and the golf course mitigation works.  There is 
a risk to the council of accepting the grant payment before all the pre draw 
down conditions have been met. To mitigate this risk, officers have sought 
reassurances from Homes England that if the council has spent grant money 
on the project in good faith with their agreement, it would not be subject to 
recovery by HE at some future point.  

8.21 An overall project risk assessment is presented in appendix 3. 

9. PROJECT TIMETABLE 

9.1 The infrastructure works must be complete and grant claimed by March 2022. 
The current timetable below sets out a programme that completes the 

Page 201



works by March 2022

Milestone Timetable Progress
Accept HE grant award Dec 2019 Complete
Submission of planning application Jan 2020 Complete
Planning decision – roundabout July 2020 Complete
Planning decision Golf Club July 2020 Complete
Advance Design July 2020 Complete
Project and costs review October 2020 Currently ongoing
Detailed drawings for tender Oct 2020 – Feb 2021
Procurement process Feb 2021 – May 2021
Start golf club mitigation works ASAP in discussion with Golf 

club 
Roundabout construction June 2021 – Dec 2021
Project Completion Date (Includes 
a 3 month buffer for final claim and 
any slippage)

31 March 2022

Page 202



Appendix 1 

Site B3 and B4 – Hogshaws 
Site M and D – Waterswallows 
Site B – Granby Road  

 

FAIRFIELD  
LINK ROAD  

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 - HIF Project Risks 

Overall Project Risks Nature of Risk Mitigation Additional support Progress

Cost exceeds approved budget High - HE funding is limited to 
£2m. 

DCC completed advanced design to firm 
up costs prior to tender process. 

Legal agreements will be negotiated to 
ensure developer contributions -  Capital 
receipt from sale of site D at 
Waterswallows and Hogshaw contribution 
as set out in Appendix 2)

Bid to D2N2 for pipeline funding.

Capacity and 
legal support 
required

Sept – Dec 2020

Grant Funding Agreement – 
Draw Down Conditions 

High – Draw down conditions 
are complex and must be met 
prior to drawing down funding 
and advancing project. 

Capacity support and external legal 
support appointed to meet GFA 
conditions.

HE has offered advance funding to allow 
project to proceed. 

Capacity 
support/legal 

Sept – Dec 2020

Land disposal and assembly High – land assembly required 
to deliver project. 

Options agreed on all but one parcel of 
land in private ownership.

Disposal of council owned land subject of 
separate reports. Policy of council 
disposals approved in principle through 
AHDP. 
 

Capacity support Sept – Dec 2020

Golf Club mitigation works and  
revised lease and Heads of 
Terms 

Medium risk – Land required to 
facilitate roundabout. 

Advanced payment of grant from HE will 
allow mitigation works to proceed as soon 
as possible and at a time in discussion 
with the Golf Club. 

Draft Heads of Terms and lease surrender 
being prepared in consultation with Golf 
Club   

legal support Sept – Dec 2020

Project Grant Timescales High risk  - Grant must be 
claimed by 31 March 2022.. 

Timescale will be monitored through the 
project board and agreed milestone with 
HE. Currently the scheme is due for 
completion by Dec 2021.. 

Capacity and 
legal support. 

Sept – On going 

P
age 205



P
age 206



EXTENT OF WORKS

E
X

TE
N

T O
F W

O
R

KS

EXTENT OF WORKS

N

WATERSWALLOWS ROAD

BUXTON  AND HIGH PEAK
GOLF COURSE

EXISTING BOAT - HP 4/10/1 TO
BE STOPPED UP

EXTENT OF WORKS

EXISTING FOOTPATH - HP 4/77/1
TO BE STOPPED UP

TEE 15

GREEN 14

TEE 10

CEMETERY

BUXTON  AND HIGH PEAK
GOLF COURSE

NEW TURNING HEAD

A6
 D

OV
E 

HO
LE

S

A6 F
AIRFIE

LD
 ROAD

AR
M 

3

ARM 4

AR
M 

1
ARM 2

NEW ROUNDABOUT

NEW TOUCAN AND EQUESTRIAN CROSSING
FACILITY. FOR CROSSING DETAILS REFER TO
DRAWING: HOG-AEC-XX-XX-DR-CE-13001

ARM 2 - TOWARDS WATERSWALLOWS DEVELOPMENT

ARM 4 - TOWARDS HOGSHAW DEVELOPMENT

FAIRFIELD COMMON

NO
RT

H 
RO

AD

WATERSWALLOWS ROAD

CHERRY TREE DRIVE

WATERSWALLOWS ROAD
TO BE STOPPED UP

PELL'S DAM

EXISTING BOAT - HP 4/10/1 TO
REMAIN

ASHW
OOD ROAD

TOWN END

MONTPELIER PLACE

EXISTING FOOTPATH - HP 4/77/1
TO JOIN NEW FOOTWAY ON ARM 4

Drawing Number Rev

DateApprovedCheckedDrawn

AECOM Internal Project No.

Drawing Title

Suffix
By

Revision Details Date
Check

Project Title

Client

Suitability

Scale @ A1

Purpose of issue

Designed

Pl
ot

 D
ate

 :
Fi

le 
Na

me
 :

HO
G-

AE
C-

XX
-X

X-
DR

-P
N-

00
00

2
8/

8/
20

19
 3:

50
 P

M

Zone

NOTES

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN PREPARED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF AECOM'S
APPOINTMENT BY ITS CLIENT. AECOM ACCEPTS NO LIABILITY FOR ANY USE OF THIS DOCUMENT
OTHER THAN BY ITS ORIGINAL CLIENT OR FOLLOWING AECOM'S EXPRESS AGREEMENT TO SUCH

USE, AND ONLY FOR THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH IT WAS PREPARED AND PROVIDED.

SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION BOX

IT IS ASSUMED THAT ALL WORKS ON THIS DRAWING WILL BE CARRIED OUT BY A
COMPETENT CONTRACTOR WORKING, WHERE APPROPRIATE, TO AN APPROPRIATE

METHOD STATEMENT.

THIS DRAWING IS TO BE USED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE OF ISSUE
THAT IT WAS INTENDED FOR AND IS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT.

www.aecom.com

Tel:
Fax:

PLANNING

25/07/2019

1:500

60580883

HOGSHAW
FAIRFIELD ROUNDABOUT

BUXTON

GENERAL ARRANGEMENT

Royal Court, Basil Close
Chesterfield
S41 7SL

+44 (0)1246 209 221
+44 (0)1246 209 229

AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited

UPDATED AS A RESULT OF
ARBORICULTURAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

P131/07/19

1. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL
OTHER RELEVANT DOCUMENTATION.

2. DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING, USE ONLY PRINTED
DIMENSIONS.

3. ALL DIMENSIONS IN METRES, ALL CHAINAGES, LEVELS AND
COORDINATES ARE IN METRES UNLESS DEFINED OTHERWISE.

4. THIS DRAWING IS BASED ON ORDNANCE SURVEY DATA AND
TOPOGRAPHICAL DATA PROVIDED BY DERBYSHIRE COUNTY
COUNCIL.

5. ALL WORKS TO THE GOLF COURSE TO BE DESIGNED AND
COMPLETED BY OTHERS.

6. FOR DETAILS OF TREE PROTECTION AND TREE FELLING
REFER TO THE ARBORICULTURAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
(REPORT REFERENCE HFRBAIA) AND THE PRELIMINARY TREE
PROTECTION PLAN (DRAWING HFRB-AIA-TPP-01).

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019.
Ordnance Survey 100023251. You are not

permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell
any of this data to third parties in any form.

KEY

VERGE/GRASSED AREAS

EQUESTRIAN ROUTE

SHARED FOOTWAY / CYCLEWAY

ROAD CONSTRUCTION

FOOTWAY / PAVED AREAS CONSTRUCTION

FOOTWAY CONTINUES THROUGH EQUESTRIAN
CROSSING

EARTHWORKS

AREA TO BE LANDSCAPED

BLISTERED TACTILE PAVING

TRAMLINE / LADDER TACTILE PAVING

UPDATED WATERSWALLOWS JUNCTION P208/08/19

P
age 207



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 209

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 211

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 213

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 229

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 231

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 235

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 237

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 239

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 241

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 243

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 271

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 275

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting
	4 First Quarter Performance, Procurement and Financial Review 2020/21
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	5 Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2023/24 - Update
	6 Revised Performance Framework 2020/21 due to the impact of COVID-19
	Appendix 1

	7 Air Quality Management Update on the AQAP Woodhead Road (A628) Tintwistle
	Appendix 1

	8 Buxton Neighbourhood Plan
	Buxton Neighbourhood Plan App A 1
	Buxton Neighbourhood Plan App A 2
	Buxton Neighbourhood Plan App A 3
	Buxton Neighbourhood Plan App A 4
	Buxton Neighbourhood Plan App A 5
	Sheet1


	9 Recent changes to the Planning System and  the Planning White Paper 2020
	Appendix

	10 HIF programme Fairfield Roundabout: Project and Costs Review
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	12 To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting
	13 HIF Programme Fairfield Roundabout: Project and Costs Review - Appendix 2
	14 Disposal of Land at Hogshaw, Buxton
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	Appendix 6
	Appendix 7
	Appendix 8
	Appendix 9




